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CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

All references in this Annual Reporton FormKO ( A Annu a l Reportodo) to AMicroStrategy,
to MicroStrategy Incorporateshd its consolidated subsidiaries (unless the context otherwise indicates).

FORWARD -LOOKING INFORMATION AND RISK FACTOR SUMMARY

This Annual Report contains forwaildoking statements within the meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchangel88tpas
amended (the AExchange Act o). For this purpose, anwycludingat en
without | imitation, certain statements under Alttéesm Oi.s cBuusssi
Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operlahkeliefs,ns o
business strategies, future events, business conditions, results of operations, financial lpositiess outlook, business trends and
other information, may beforwaldo o ki ng st atements. Without | imiting the for
festimates, 0 Aexpects, 0 Acontinuexansd, dc dmptoe remlt atad s 00 fifpa retdii
Aiforecasts, o0 Afuture, 0o fAtargeted, 06 figoal 6 and var i dlbokiogns ¢
statements. The forwatdoking statements are not historical fa@sd are based upon our current expectations, beliefs, estimates and
projections, and various assumptions, many of which, by their nature, are inherently uncertain and beyond our conpett&liamesy
beliefs, estimates and projections are expressgdod faith and we believe there is a reasonable basis for them. However, there can b
nNo assurance that managementdés expectations, bel i efmateriallg st i
from what is expressed in orditated by the forwartboking statements.

There are a number of risks, uncertainties and other important factors, many of which are beyond our control, thatecoufchctued
results to differ materially from the forwatdoking statements containéérein and presented elsewhere by management from time to
time. Thesepr i nci pal risks, uncertainties and other important f a
but are not limited to, the following

Risks Related to OWBusiness in General

1 Our quarterly operating results, revenues, and expenses may fluctuate significantly, which could have an adverseesffect on
market price of our stock

Risks Related t@ur Bitcoin Acquisition Strategy and Holdings
9 Our bitcoin acquigion strategy exposes us to various risks associated with bitcoin;

9 The price of bitcoin may be influenced by legal, commercial, techaiwdlindustryfactors that are highly uncertain, and
fluctuations in the price of bitcoin are likely to influence démancial results and the market price of our class A common
stock

1 Our historical financial statements do not reflect the potential variability in earnings that we may experience in the futu
relating toour bitcoin holdings;

1 Changes in securities regtitams, or the adoption of new laws or regulations, relating to bitcoin could adversely affect the price
of bitcoin or our ability to transact in or own bitcoin, which may adversely impact the market price of our class A commol
stock

1 Ourbitcoin acquisition strategy subjects us to enhanced regulatory oversight
1 Theconcentratiorof our bitcoin holdings enhances the risks inherent in our bitcoin acquisition strategy;

1 Our bitcoin holdings are less liquid than our existing cash and cash equivaldntgag not be able to serve as a source of
liquidity for us to the same extent as cash and cash equivalents;

1 If we or our thirdparty service providers experience a security breach or cyberattack and unauthorized parties obtain acces:
our bitcoin, or ifour private keys are lost or destroyed, or other similar circumstances or events occur, we may lose some
all of our bitcoin and our financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely ;affected

1 Our bitcoin acquisition strategykposes us to risk of ngmerformance by counterparties;



Risks Related to Our Enterprise Analytics Software Business Strategy

1 We depend on revenue from a single software platform and related services as well as revenue from our installed custo
base

9 As our customers increasingly shift from a product license model to a cloud subscription model, we could face higher futu
rates of attrition, and such a shift could continue to affect the timing of revenue recognition or reduce product lidenses a
productsupport revenues, which could materially adversely affect our operating results;

1 We use channel partners and if we are unable to maintain successful relationships with them, our business, operating res
and financial condition could be materially acsedy affected

1 Our recognition of deferred revenue and advance payments is subject to future performance obligations and may not
representative of revenues for succeeding periods

9 Our results in any particular period may depend on the numbevauhe of large transactions in that period and these
transactions may involve lengthier, more complex, and more unpredictable sales cycles than other transactions

Risks Related t@ur Technology and Intellectual Property

1 If we are unable to develop anelease new offerings and software enhancements to respond to rapid technological chang
new customer requirements, or evolving industry standards in a timely aneffeative manner, our business, operating
results, and financial condition could be ety adversely affected

9 The nature of our software makes it particularly susceptible to undetected errors, bugs, or security vulnerabilitiemjld/hich ¢
cause problems with how the software performs and, in turn, reduce demanddoftware, reduce our revenue, and lead to
litigation claims against ys

Risks Related to Our Operations

1 Business disruptions, including interruptions, delays, or failures of our systemsdhiyadiata center hosting facility, or other
third-party servies,as a result of geopolitical tensiorasgts of terrorismpatural disasters, pandemics (like thevel
C 0or on a@aVviDdl® péndemiy, and similar eventgould materially adversely affect our operating results or result in
a material weakness irupinternal controls that could adversely affect the market price of our, stock

9 Our international operations are complex and expose us to risks that could have a material adverse effect on our busin
operating results, and financial conditjon

9 We facea variety of risks in doing business with U.S. and foreign federal, state, and local governments and governme
agencies, including risks related to the procurement process, budget constraints and cycles, termination of contracts,
compliance with gov&mment contracting requirements

1 Changes in laws or regulations relating to privacy or the collection, processing, disclosure, storage, localizationissidrans
of personal data, or any actual or perceived failure by us or ourphityd service proders to comply with such laws and
regulations, contractual obligations, or applicable privacy policies, could materially adversely affect our;business

1 If we or our thirdparty service providers experience a disruption due to a cybersecurity attack rity de@ach and
unaut horized parties obtain access to our customerw@d, |
other systems, or the cloud environments we manage, our offerings may be perceived as not being secutatioummeay
be harmed, demand for our offerings may be reduced, our operations may be disrupted, we may incur significant legal
financial liabilities, and our business could be materially adversely affected

Risks Related t@ur Class A Common Stock
1 The market price of our class A common stock has been and may continue to be volatile;

1 Because of the rights of our two classes of common stock and because we are controlled by Michael J. Saylor, who benefici
owns the majority of our class B common stobk. Saylor could transfer control of MicroStrategy to a third party without
the approval of our Board of Directors or our other stockholders, prevent a third party from acquiring us, or limitytred abili
our other stockholders to influence corporataters

1 Future sales, or the perception of future sales, of our class A common stock, convertible debt instruments or othde convert
securities could depress the price of our class A common;stock



Risks Related to Our Outstanding and Potential Futandebtedness

1 Our level and terms of indebtedness could adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital to further exechtteoimour
acquisition strategy, fund our enterprise analytics software operations, and take advantage of new busingstespp

1 We may be unable to service our indebtedness, which could cause us to default on our debt obligations and could force us
bankruptcy or liquidation

1 We may be required to repay the 2028 Secured Notes prior to their stated maturitytdatepifnging maturity feature is
triggered;

1 We may not have the ability to raise the funds necessary to gatibl@ashconversions of the Convertible Notes (as defined
below), and

1 The conditional conversion feature of the Convertible Notesjdhered, may adversely affect our financial condition and
operating results

We caution you that the foregoing list of important factors may not contain all of the material factors that are impgotaninto
addition, in light of these risks and umt@énties, the matters referred to in the forwhroking statements contained herein may not in
fact occur. The forwartboking statements made herein relate only to events as of the date on which the statements were made. EXxc
as may be required by lawve undertake no obligation to update our forwlamking statements to reflect events and circumstances
after the date on which the statements were made or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events.



PART I

Item 1. Business
Overview

MicroStrategy pursues two corporate strategies in the operation of its business. One ssriategyjuire and hold bitcoand the other
strategyis to grow our enterprise analytics software busind&sbelievahat undertaking these twinterdependent corporate strategies
serves as a key differentiator for our business, as our bitcoin acquisition strategy has raised our profile with pdtesutiatssfomers
while our enterprise analytics software business has provided stable cashh@#dwllow us to acquire and hold bitcoin for the long
term.

Our bitcoin acquisition strategy generally involves acquiring bitcoin with our liquid assets that exceed working capital eetgjirem
and from time to time, subject to market conditions,irgpaebt or equity securities or engaging in other capital raising transactions
with the objective of using the proceeds to purchase bitcoin. We have not set any specific target for the amount of lsitedirtion
hold, and we will continue to monitor mkat conditions in determining whether to engage in additional financings to purchase additional
bitcoin.

We believe that bitcoin is attractive because it can serve as a store of value, supported by a robust and mdlicepechitecture,
that is unethered to sovereign monetary policy. We also believe that, due to its limited supply, bitcoirnthefgpportunity for
appreciation in value if its adoption increasesl has the potential to serve as a hedge against inflation in thiefondn additon, we
believe that our bitcoin acquisition strategy is complementary to our enterprise analytics software business, as \wathmligviécoin
and related activities in support of the bitcoin network enhance awareness of our brand. We are ailsg egptotunities to apply
bitcoin and lightning networkelatedtechnologies into our software offerings

MicroStrategy isalsoa global leader in enterprise analytics software and services. Since our founding iwé 388 efocused on
empowering orgamations to leverage the immense value of data. Our vision is to enable Intelligence Evenhwimme/idingworld-
class software and services tpatvideenterprise users with actionalesights

The MicroStrategy Platforris an enterprise analyticeftware platform that incorporates a comprehensive suite of software offerings
that are packaged and configured to meet customer requirements. The MicroStrategy fagiowars organizations to leverage the
immense value of their datdhe platformenalesusers to connect tgort and cleanse a wide variety of dediting at the top of a
technology stack, itanblenda myriad ofsourcedo provideorganizationsvith acomprehensiveiew of their business.

Bitcoin Acquisition Strateqy

InSeptembeR 020, our Board of Directors adopted a Treasury Reser
updated our treasury management and capital allocation strategies, under which our treasury reserve assets will consist of:
A cash and cash equivalentsandsiog r m i nvest ments (fiCash Assetso) held b
and

A bitcoin heldby us, with bitcoin serving as the primary treasury reserve asset on an ongoing basis, subject to market conditic
andanticipated needs of the business for Cash Assets.

In the first quarter of 2021, we adopted, in addition to and in conjunction with our Treasury Reserve Policy, a coiqtegteostr
acquiring and holding bitcoin, and from time to time, subject to maxkaditions, issuing debt or equity securite®engaging in other
capital raising transactions with the objective of using the proceeds to purchase Baqgoémt of our bitcoin acquisition strategy, we
also periodically engage in activitiesaéducate the market regarding bitcoin

Our bitcoin acquisition strategy generally involves acquiring bitcoin with our liquid assets that exceed working capitaheatg)

and from time to time, subject to market conditions, issuing debt or equitytigecor engaging in other capital raising transactions
with the objective of using the proceeds to purchase bitcoin. We view our bitcoin holdings-eshomgldings and expect to continue

to accumulate bitcoin. We have not set any specific target éoarount of bitcoin we seek to hold, and we will continue to monitor
market conditions in determining whether to engage in additional financings to purchase additional bitcoin. This otezralhitoa
contemplates that we mé&y periodically sell bitcan for general corporate purposes, including to generate cash for treasury managemen
or in connection with strategies that generate tax benefits in accordance with applicakii¢ &avier into additional capital raising
transactions that are collatazald by our bitcoin holdings, ar(di) consider pursuing additional strategies to create income streams or
otherwise generate funds using our bitcoin holdings



Our Bitcoin Holdings

During 2022, ve purchased a total of approximat8l$13bitcoins at an agregate purchase price of approximate?g®.9million for

an average purchase price of approxima$dg,670per bitcoin, inclusive of fees and expensasd sold a total of approximatelp4
bitcoinsfor cash proceeds approximately $1.8million atanaveragesaleprice of approximatel$16,786per bitcoin netof fees and
expensesDuring 2021, ve purchased a total of approximatB,922bitcoins at an aggregate purchase price of approximal§g2y
billion for an average purchase price of approxima$dlg,710per bitcoin, inclusive of fees and expend#'& did not sell any bitcoin
during 2021 We did notpurchase osell any bitcois during the period between January2023andFebruary 15, 2023Refer tothe
AiOur Bitcoin Acquisition Strategyo section under Al teulis 7.
of Op e rfoaftirthes infermation regarding our bitcoin purchases, including the source of capital usedhase bitcoin.

At December 312022 we carried $.840billion of digital assets on our balance sheet, consisting of approxini&2|$00bitcoins

and reflecting 2.153billion in cumulative impairment lossesdtributable to bitcoin trading pridkictuations, and held4.8million in
cash and cash equivalenfs December 312021, we carried 3.850 billion of digital assets on our balance sheet, consisting of
approximately124,391bitcoins and reflecting 1.3 million in cumulative impairmentdsses attributable to bitcoin trading price
fluctuations, and held@éi3.4million in cash and cash equivalents

As of February 15, 2023ve held approximatel§32,500bitcoins that were acquired at an aggregate purchase priG983dillion
and an averagpurchase price of approximatéi$0,137per bitcoin, inclusive of fees and expenses of February 15, 2023t 4:00
p.m. EasternTime, the market price of one bitcoraported on the Coinbase exchaljgar principal marketyvas$24,163.86

Overviewof the Bitcoin Industry and Market

Bitcoin is a digital asset that is issued by and transmitted through arsopese protocol, known as tBtcoin protocol, collectively
maintained by a pedo-peer network of decentralized user nodes. This network gstiblic transaction ledger, known asBiiteoin
blockchain, on which bitcoin holdings and all validated transactions that have ever taken plac8itsoitheetwork are recorded.

Bal ances of bitcoin are st or eadsociate networld public addresses Vit arlmlorgitpd i fvian
keygs0 t hat contr ol t h Bitcainrblackchdinecan be dpdated vriticoat iamy .singlE lergity owning or operating the
network. The Bitcoin blockchain can also support smart comtiaplementations, such as the lightning network, which is a
decentralized secordyer payment protocol built atop of the Bitcoin blockchain and that is intended to enable fast and less costl
transactions.

Creation of New Bitcoin and Limits on Supply

New bitcoin is created and allocated by Bigcoin protocolt hr ough a #fAmi ni ng o prvalidaegansadtidnain r €

theBi t coin bl ockchain. Val i dated transactions are adedvesdo i n
validate transactions and secure Bitcoin network. Mining is a competitive and costly operation that requires a large amount of
computational power to solve complex mathematical ol gbr wbh

To incentivize miners to incur the costs of mining bitcoin, Biteoin protocolrewards minershat successfully validata block of
transactionsvith newly generateditcoin.

TheBitcoin protocollimits the totalnumberof bitcointhat can be generatedver time to 21 million. The current reward for mingrat
successfully validate lalock oftransactiosis 6.25 bitcoin per mined block. The reward is expected to decrease by half to 3.125 bitcoin
per mined block in earlyo-mid-2024. Ths decrease in mining reward is referred to as a bitcoin halving, and it occurs after every
210,000 blocks are minedhich currently occurapproximately every four years.

Modifications to the Bitcoin Protocol

Bitcoin is an opersource network that has no central authority, so no one person can unilaterally make changes to the software that |
the network. However, there is a core group of developers that maintain the codé@ftadingorotoco) and they an propose changes

to the source code amdlease periodic updatasdother changes. Unlike most software that has a central entity that can push updates
to users, bitcoin is a pe&r-peer network in whicindividual network participants, called nodeggitle whether to upgrade the software

and accept the new changes. As a practical matter, a modification becomes pdttobtherotocolonly if the proposed changes are
accepted by participants collectively having the most processing pkmarn as hsh ratepn the network. If a certain percentage of
the nodes reject the changes, then a fAforko takes gl ace an

Forms of Attack Against the Bitcoin Netwarkd Wallets

Blockchain technology has many buiitt security features that make it difficult for hackers and other malicious actors to corrupt the
protocol or blockchain. However, as with any computer networkBiteein network may be subject to certain atc®one forms of
attack includeunauthorized access teellets that hold bitcoimnd directattackslike i 5 1 % s0t ftikeraakof-service attack @n

the Bitcoin protocol

Bitcoin is controllable only by the possessor of both the unique public key amatepkys) relating to the local or online digital wallet
in which the bitcoin is held. Private keys used to access bitcoin balances are not widely distributedyaichlyéneld on hardware



(which can be physically controlled by the holder or by @tharty such as a custodian) or via software programs orpaity servers.

One form of obtaining unauthorized access to a wallet occurs folloayigshing attackvherethe attacker deceives the victim and
manipulates them into sharing their private keys for their digital wallet or other sensitive information. Other sirokamadta also
result in the loss of private keys and the inability to access, and effec$vefldhe corresponding bitcois. e #temfilA. Risk Factors

T Risks Related to Our Bitcoin Acquisition Strategy ataldingsi The loss or destruction of a private key required to access our
bitcoin may be irreversible. If we are unable to access ouatprkeys or if we experience a cyberattack or other data loss relating to
our bitcoin, our financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affécted

A A51% attacko may occur when a Bitcanmgt ovfor kidrse ms nadnapbnigptivemma o r,
to control theBitcoin networkand protocol andnanipulate the blockchairA fi d ®ffsiea lv i ¢ eccaswhen leditimate users

are unable to access information systems, devices, or other netwoukaes due to the actions of a malicious actor flooding the network
with traffic until the network is unable to respond or crasfiie.Bitcoin network has been, and can be in the future, subject to denial
of-service attacks, which can result in temppméelays in block creation and in the transfebitdoin. fi S elem BA. Risk Factor$

Risks Related to Our Bitcoin Acquisition Strategy and Holdingke price of bitcoin may be influenced by legal, commercial, technical
andindustry factors thaare highly uncertain, and fluctuations in the price of bitcoin are likely to influence our financial results and the
market price of our class A common stack

Bitcoin IndustryParticipants

The primaryBitcoin industry participants are miners, investorsdamadersdigital asset exchangesd service providers, including
custodiansbrokers payment processorgallet providersand financial institutions.

Miners. Miners range fronbitcoin enthusiasts to professional mining operations that design anlddediicateanmining machines and
data centers, including mining pools, which are groups of miners that act cohesively and combine their processing pelé&ctami
blocks.Seefid Creation of New Bitcoin andimits on Supply above

Investors andiraders Bitcoin investors and traders include individuals and institutional investors who purchase and sell bitcoin o
bitcoin-based derivatives.

Digital Asset ExchangeBitcoin can be converted to fiat currencies, such as the U.S. dollar, at rakehafge determined by market
forces on bitcoin trading platforms, which operate 24 hours a day, 7 days andeatenot regulated in as comprehensive a manner as
traditional securities exchanges. In addition to these platformstloreounter marketand derivatives markets for bitcoin also exist
For a discussion of risks associated with digital asset exchaegéiesm 1A. Risk Factofs Risks Related to Our Bitcoin Acquisition
Strategy and Holdings Due to the unregulated nature and lack of transpcy surrounding the operations of many bitcoin trading
venues, bitcoin trading venues may experience greater fraud, security failures or operational problems than trading vemaes fo
established asset classes, which may result in a loss of comfiddnitcoin trading venues and adversely affect the value of our hit@oin

Service providers Service provider®ffer a multitude of services to other participants inBiteoin industry, including custodial and
trade executioservices, commercial diretail payment processing, loaecuredy bitcoin collateral, and financial advisory services.
While certain of these services are provided by recently formed entities that do not have significant operational explezisnaes
provided by traditinal financial institutions. In recent years, there has been an expangiennofmber and type strvicesoffered to

the Bitcoin industnby traditional financial institutions, and we believe that this trend will continue if bitcoin becomes more widely
adopted.

Other Digital Assets

As of the date of this Annual Report, bitcoin was the largest digital asset by market capitalization. However, thereravs nume
alternative digital assets and many entities, including coasaort financial institutions, are researching and investing resources into
private or permissioned blockchain platforms or digital assets that do not useopvemk mining like theBitcoin network.For
example, in late 2022, the Ethereum network tramsite d t o-oféa¢t Ageoofmechani sm for wvalidat
significantly less computing power than pragfwork mining. Other alternative digital assets that compete with bitcoin in certain ways
include fAstablecdi nh®, mnawhit ah namecoastamé pr i c e -qbabtcliquidsssetso f
(such as U.S. dollar deposits and stterm U.S. treasury securities) equal to the total value of stablecoins in circulation. Stablecoins
have grown rapigl as an alternative to bitcoin and other digital assets as a medium of exchange and store of value, particularly
cryptocurrency trading platforms. As of the date of this Annual Report, three of the seven largest digital assets bgpitaikation

are U.S. dollathacked stablecoingdditionally, central banks in some countries have started to introduce digital forms of legal tender.
For exampl e, C h digitah éusencg(emG@ B G0 )b apnrkoj ec t was made avaihdabl e
governments including the United States and the European Union have been discussing the potential creatioB@Endvor a
discussion of risks relating to the emergence of other digital as=sefis) t e m 1 A. 1 Risks Relatedit@ QuoBiti® Acquisition
Strategy and Holdings The emergence or growth of other digital assets, including those with significant private or public sectol
backing, could have a negative impact on the price of Bitcoin and adversely affect our business



Custody of ouBitcoin

We hold substantially all of our bitcoin in custody accounts at-baSed, institutionafjrade custodians that have demonstrated records
of regulatory compliance and information security. As a reshdt,grimary counterparty risk we aggposed to with respect to our
bitcoin is performance obligations under the various custody arrangements into which we haveWstetesdody our bitcoin across
multiple custodians to diversify our potential risk exposure to any one custoligaof Deember 31, 2022, approximately half of our
bitcoin was held with a single custodian; however, our custodial services contracts do not restrict our ability to r@adlbdaten
among our custodians and, light of the significant amount of bitcoin welld, wecontinuallyseek to engage additional digital asset
custodians to further diversify the custody of our bitcoin.

We carefully select the custodians that custody our bitcoinwaftggrtakinga due diligence procesés part of our custodian setém
process, we evaluate for and select custodians that can demonstrate that they operate with strict security protocgls)uitfaotor
authentication procedures designed to safekeep our bitcoin. In addition, our custodial services agreemalytspecié/ that the
private keys that control our bi t cisdesigneditohitigatdrigks thata systern may bd f |
susceptible to when connected to the internet, incluttiagisksassociated witlunauthorizechetworkaccessandcyberattacks We
alsonegotiatdiability provisions in our custodial contracts, pursuant to whisghcustodianare held liable for their failur safekeep

our bitcoin In addition to our custodial arrangements, we atfize sone of theentities that provide custodial services to us to process
trade transactions on our behalf. We use the due diligence we conduct in connection with our custodial arrangemehtuasipart o
diligence process for such parties that execute tctingsa for us.

We also condudauediligence reviews during the custodial relationship to monitor the safekeeping of our bitcoin. As part of our proces:
we obtain and perform a comprehensive reviewlbévailableSer vi ces Or gani z atandSOC Zreporthatave s (
receive from custodian®Ve are als@ontractuallye nt i t 1 ed t o per f or nmelewnt éhierhad cordrélrdughea c u
variety of methods. We have in the pashductedand may condudi the future, additionatiue diligencewhen we believe it is
warranted by market circumstances or otherwise. For example, we have obtgipedtiing documentation to verify certdactual
information, includingdocumentation and analysis regardifigancial solvency, exposure tootibled exchanges, regulatory
compliance, security protocols andr ownership of our bitcoin.

We negotiate specific contractual terms and conditiaitis our custodianghat we believe will help establish, under existing law, that
our property interest in the bitcoin held by our cevesttthedi a
custodian enters bankruptcy, receivership or similar vesmy proceedingsAdditionally, dl of our custodians ar&lew York
Department of Financi al Ser vanc elsa n(ufiaN YWD RB0,) 2r0e2qB8u, | a theed NcYWsFtSo
Structures for Customer Protection in the Event of Insa@lver®o wi t h t he stated purpose othathel
a custodia enterdankruptcy, receivership or similar insolvency proceediAgsong other things, the guidance provides that NYDFS
regul ated custodi alo)e nmuisstpgaraéhladcaunt OreandGegregate duistamersassets from proprietary assets
(2) avoid comingling customer virtual currency wit hcuscomer o f
virtual currency, 8) take possessi of customer assets only for the limited purpose of carrying out custody and safekeeping service:
(4) treatcustomer virtual currencin its possession and control as belonging solely to customers and not employ customer virtua
currency forthe VCE Cutodiatd s ownh use, (5) be prepared at all ti mes to
books and records and -chain activity upon request from the NYDFS, gl provide cleardisclosure to customerggarding its
custodial terms and sgces We believe that existing law and the terms and conditions of our contractual arrangements with ou
custodians would not result in the bitcoin held bypteyestatec us
were oneor moreof our custodians to file for bankruptciFor a discussion of risks relating to the custody of our bitceies Al t e m
Risk Factors Risks Related to Our Bitcoin Acquisition Strategy and Holdin@sir bitcoin acquisition strategy exposes usdgous

risks associated with bitcqind @& @ur bitGoin acquisition strategy exposes us to risk ofmanr f or mance by couni

Potential Advantages and Disadvantages of Holding Bitcoin

We believe that bitcoin is attractive because it can serve as a store of value, supported by a robust and psialicce@thitecture,
that is untethered to sovereign monetary polidde also believe that, due to its limited supply, bitcoin ofteesopportunity for
appreciation in value if its adoption increasesl has the potential to serve as a hedge against inflation in thiefong

Bitcoin exists entirely in electronic form, as virtually irreversible public transaction ledger entries on thehhiocknd transactions

in bitcoin are recorded and authenticated not by a central repository, but by a decentraliregp@eenetwork. This decentralization
mitigates the risks of certain threats common to centralized computer networks, such lasfdemiace attacks, and reduces the
dependency of the bitcoin network on any single systEne decentralization of user nodes and miners also mitigates the risk of a 51%
attack, which would be very costly and difficult to exeowtth respect ta digital asset such as bitcoin, with such an expansive and
robust networkHowever, while theBitcoin network as a whole is decentralized, the private keys used to access bitcoin balances at
not widely distributed and are susceptible to phishing and otheksittiesigned to obtain sensitive information or gain access to
passworeprotected systems. Loss of such private keys can result in an inability to access, and effective loss of, the corresponc
bitcoin. Consequently, bitcoin holdings are susceptibéd! tof the risks inherent in holding any electronic data, such as power failure,
data corruption, security breach, communication failure and user error, among Oiieses risks, in turn, make bitcadubstantially



more susceptibléo theft, destructionor loss of value from hackers, corruptiasiruses and othetechnologyspecific factorsas
compared taonventional fiat currencgr other conventional financial assetSeefi | t e m 1 A. iRRiskskReldtea ¢cotOurr s
Bitcoin Acquisition Strategy and HoldingsThe loss or destruction of a private key required to access our bitcoin may be irreversible.
If we are unable to access our private keys or if we experience a ¢gblerat other data loss relating to our bitcoin, our financial
condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affeéted

In addition, theBitcoin network relies on opesource developers to maintain and improveBheoin protocol Accordingly, bitcoin
may be subject to protocol design changes, governanmseurcgi sp!
specific risks that do not affect conventional proprietary software.

We believe that in the context of the economic uncertainty precipitated by the persistence of-T3OMfBctions, escalating
geopolitical tensions and central bahleving adoptethflationary measureat various times in recent histogs well as the lsakdown
of trust in and between political institutions and political parties in the United States and globally, bitcoin represémistiaa store
of value, and that opportunity for appreciation in the value of bitcoin exists in the event that soch léadl to more widespread
adoption of the use and acceptance of bitcoin and the adoption of bitcoin as a treasury reserve dtebuaiivesses

Government Regulation

Activities involving bitcoin and other digital assets may fall within the jurisalicof more than one financial regulator and are subject

to U.S. federal, state and local laws, as well as laws of foreign jurisdictions where applicable. Businesses that arim ¢hgaged
transmission and custody of bitcoin and other digital assetkiding brokers and custodians, can be subject to U.S. Treasury
Department regulations as money services businesses as well as state money transmitter licensing requirements. Biécaligaald ot
assets are subject to afriud regulations under feddrand state commodity laws, and digital asset derivative instruments are
substantively regulated by the U.S. Commaodity Futures Trading Commission. Certain jurisdictions, including, among otlvenk New
and a number of countries outside the United Sthsase developed regulatory requirements that specifically address digital assets anc
companies that transact in them. To the extent that we enter into bittatied transactions beyond simply acquiring and holding
bitcoin, such transactions may subjestto additional regulatory compliance requirements.

In addition, since transactions in bitcoin provide a degree of anonymity, they are susceptible to misuse for crimieal aotititas
money laundering. This misuse, or the perception of such ejisasild lead to greater regulatory oversight of bitcoin Bitcbin
platforms, and there is the possibility that law enforcement agencies coul®ittmse platforms or other bitcoirelated infrastructure

with little or no notice and prevent users fragctessing or retrieving bitcoin held via such platforms or infrastructure. For example, in
her January 2021 nomination hearing before the Senate Finance Committee, Treasury Secretary Janet Yellen noted thertadggptocur
have the potential to improwbe efficiency of the financial system but that they can be used to finance terrorism, facilitate money
laundering, and support malign activities that threaten U.S. national security interests and the integrity of the UeSnatichi
financial systens. Accordingly, Secretary Yellen expressed her view that federal regulators needed to look closely at how to encoure
the use of cryptocurrencies for legitimate activities while curtailing their use for malign and illegal activities.

As notedabove, activities involving bitcoin and other digital assets may fall within the jurisdiction of more than one finantagbregu
and various courtand such laws and regulations are rapidly evolving and increasing in sGopdarch 9, 2022, Presidentid®n

signed an executive order relating to cryptocurrencies. While the executive order did not mandate the adoption of any spec
regulations, it instructed various federal agencies to consider potential regulatory measures, including the evaheaticgatidh of

a U.S.CBDC. On September 16, 2022, the White House released a framework for digital asset development, based on reports f
various government agencies, including the U.S. Department of Treasury, the Department of Justice, and thetxdg2otmaerce.
Among other things, the framework encourages regulators to pursue enforcement actions, issue guidance and rules twesdidress ¢
and emergent risks, support the development and use of innovative technologies by payment provideasd¢canuass to instant
payments, consider creating a federal framework to regulate nonbank payment providers, and evaluate whether to caltegsn Cong
to amend the Bank Secrecy Act and laws against unlicensed money transmission to apply explicithl essigiservice providers

Enterprise Analytics Software Strategy

The MicroStrategy Platform

MicroStrategy is a global leader in enterprise analytics software and services. Since our founding in 1989, we havenfocused
empowering organizations to levgeathe immense value of data. Our vision is to enalkddligence Everywhefeby providing world
class software and services that empower enterprise users with actionable insights.

The MicroStrategy Platforris an enterprise analytics software platforrattincorporates a comprehensive suite of software offerings
that are packaged and configured to meet customer requirements. The MicroStrategy eMagpfowers organizations to leverage the
immense value of their datdhe platformenablesusers to connédo, sort and cleanse a wide variety of dediting at the top of a
technology stack, itanblenda myriad ofsourcego provideorganizationsvith acomprehensiveiew of their business.

In addition, he platform elevatean organizatiods relationship with data so they can build higérformance, governed, and secure
applicationsat scale.The platform enables usescreate visualizations, customize apps, and embed analytics directly into workflows
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to unlockinsights andgromotea cultue of data. Users can access insights via aavahobile client, desktop applications, and cards
that instantly surface contextual information on top of a web browser or web application.

Our austomers benefit from a variety of powerfultform services These includeaccess to imemory cubes of dadaincreasing
application performance and expanding analytical capabilities. Users canladsoibe to and receive reports, dossmmalerts directly

to screens or devices based on customized thresholsiseoified parameters. And to enhance collaboration, users can exchange
messages, tag individuals, and sharefittered views via a chat function in a dossier.

With 200+ connectors to popular drivers and gateways to enterprise data sources on premibe atalid, the platform provides the
open architecture and flexibilityecessaryo stay agile in a rapidly changing business landscape. In addition, organizations can utilize
a library of comprehensive APIs that streamline embedding the platforpeickaged and custom applications, workflows, and devices.

MicroStrategy Cloud

The MicroStrategy Cloud Envi r on me n tasaSdivMd€ deliveryomodefidésiyjired 1 allow i ¢
businesses to leverage the MicroStrategy platform inghestenant architecture. MCE offers a distributed computing architecture using
various components provided by the cloud infrastructure vendors of either Microsoft Azure or AWS.

At its core are components that provide organizations with a semalable, and resilient business intelligence enterprise application
platform. It also includes elements required to operate, access, and manage the intelligence architecture. Usersnae \withvikiir

own dedicated intelligence architecture based@redefined configuration. Once provisioned, users can develop, tailor, and manage
the application components to meet their respective needs.

Based on this operating model, customers control their analytics application stack, while MicroStrateginsmsiporting
infrastructure.

FedRAMP Authorization

On November 29, 2022, the MicroStrategy Cloud for Governseemtv i ¢ e ( i M@Eivesl autherizatian ¢o operate unther
Feder al Ri sk and Authorization Management Program (AFedRA
footprint and commitment to the public sector with this designation, which certifies compliance with essential cloudasetdedy
protection standards set by the U.S. federal government. MicroStrategy achieved this milestone through ongoing colléhdtzgion
U.S. Department of Health and Human Services.

MCG Servicds a managed softwaasa-service solution built on a higherformance cloughative architecture. It is designed to deliver

on sophisticated security and data privacy requirements across the public and private sectors. The solution offers taksat/s
monitoring across expemanaged environments and enabdgsd analytics development and deployment. Designed to take data to all
edges of the organization, we believe the capabilitieBGf5 Serviceare not only fit for federal agencies in the U.S., but also
governments and financial institutions worldwide wittmplex requirements and regulations.

Core Competencies

The confluence of MicroStrategy clients, servers, drivers and gateways, and options for platform deployment {plemises, or
hybrid) is designed to achiewetelligence Everywhefefor cusbmers by delivering on key core competencies. These can be divided
into two groups: data creativity and data horsepower. The former describes the array of options to distribute and calligameejnt

the latter consists of proprietary technology builehsure performance, security, and integrity. Bringing together the best of both, the
MicroStrategy platform addresses each.

Data Creativity: personalized experiences for everyone.

1. Compelling stories that impact the business. We provide teaytidcaccelerate analytics adoption and increase data literacy.
MicroStrategy Dossi&®, our dashboarding and datssualization tool, enables users with the formatting, layout, and input
controls needed to quickly build leaode/necode solutions, from imigraphiestyle reports to higimpact productivity apps.

2. Dynamic workspaces to enable collaboration and iteration withouMiagoStrategy Librarf e mpower s user s
deploy personalized experiences witlv-codeho-code development. Our platm enables highly customized web and mobile
apps that leverage the full breadth of the platform for teams, departments, and organizations.

3. Embed intelligence with toolkits for data infusion. Inject and extend insights across existing ecosystexnsedaletésion
making,across applicationdJsers may select lightweight embedding options sudtiypsrintelligenc® or use Embedding
SDK to integrate an analytics portal into existing products.
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4, Del i ver insights to any u soacatve answerddyperimtellenceincorporaie® aciiosables d g
analytics based on keywords. MicroStrategy empowers developers to quickly build and deploy cards that are viewed on w

apps.

5. Anticipate future operations and workflows with augmented analytitgded machine learning, and artificial intelligence. In
an evolving business landscape, organizations can find new ways to adopt and transform. Working in the backgrou
Mi croStrategy I nsightsE provides aut duosartpaternsdolpmactivay détects e
trends, outliers, and anomalies.

Data Horsepower: the foundation for governance and performance at scale.

6. Maintain a single version of the truth and commit to comprehensive data integrity. Using our proprietanyséremantic
GraphE, organi zations can toduldappiogtons an afaundationfolisecursmant weldldet a
building blocks.

7. Enforce governance and privacy protections with a platform designed for security. Our platformsimdogeehensive
administrative, security, and architecture features.

8. Stay flexible with cloud agility and avoid getting locked into a specific technology stack. Customers can choose how to depl
our fully featured platform: on premisgbeir own cloud evironment, or the MicroStrategy Cloud Environment.

9. Support high performance with analytics at scale. Our platform powers some of the largest analytics and business intellige
deployments in the world. The platform is architected to scale efficientlyrtdrbds of thousands of users, with millions of
personalized queries, across hundreds of applications, built on top of large datasets.

10. Accelerate workflows through automation. We embrace an agile approach to development and innovation. Our platfor
integraes with common applications including Excel, Power BIl, Tableau, RStudio, and Jupyter. Developers can leverag
scripts, APIs, and 200+ connectors (local and cloud) to embed the platform or build predictive, machinedeaaricgd
data models on top ofseecure and trusted foundation.

MicroStrategy Servicés

Through our MicroStrategy Support, MicroStrategy Consulting, and MicroStrategy Education services, we help customers bet
leverage our platform by offering a comprehensive set of innovative services to deploy, optimize, and maintain theintelbgersse
platformand applications

MicroStrategy Support

Our global network of MicroStrateggertified support experts brings a wealth of experience and knowledge to help customers achiev
their system availability and uptime goals and to improve the dvarsiomer experience through highly responsive troubleshooting
and proactive technical product support. StandGr¢p port i s i ncluded i n e dorladditonat sewices, r 0 <
customers can choose one of our three premium suppornhspixtendedSupport, Premier Support, orElite Support. With these
premium support options, customers can receive extended coverage and enhanced service at each touchpoint

MicroStrategy Consulting

Ourconsulting services materially complement our sofeA@r increasingnalyticsadoption and helping our customers achieve returns
on investment derived from better understanding their data. Many companies lack the internal expertise to define reguidements
deliver solutionsin a timely and highlquality mawner MicroStrategy Consulting provides customers with architecture and
implementation services to help them quickly realize results. Our consultants serve as critical resources for opaiatEmence

and eneto-endlifecycle projects that develgpdd e pl oy cust omer sd business intelligenc
projects delivered to customers worldwide spanning all major industries, our consultants apply industry best practde®to gui
customers in defining, developing, adélivering business analytics solutions. MicroStrategy Consulting operates across North
America, Latin America, South America, Europe, the Middle East, Africa, and the Asia Pacific region, with consultants local ou
offices and our Global Delivery @& in Warsaw, Poland

MicroStrategy Education

We believe the path to the Intelligent Enterptisevolves skiltspecific paths of learning. To help organizations maximize the utility,
adoption, and performance of their MicroStrategy deployments, Miaiegly Education offers free and paid learning options.
MicroStrategy Education is available worldwide in multiple languages and a variety of férbwtts live and ordemand
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Sales and Marketing
Sales and Services

MicroStrategysells its platform in two waydS.he first is to sell product licenses to customers for them to deploy the platform on their
infrastructure either on premises or throngh MGEandMCG whicmarefullys c |
managedind hosted cloud subscription sergitieat allow customers to access our software in a cloud environment designed to deliver
a myriad of business benefislthoughcloud subscriptiosales have increased as a percentage of our overallthael@sajoriy of our

sales ar@roduct licensesoldt o customers for them to deploy the platform o
cloud environment. Revenues from product license sales comprise product licenses revenues, and mweriaed Bubscriptions
comprise subscription services revenues.

MicroStrategy sells through our dedicated enterprise sales force and channel partners to increase market coverageestib@hdlom
international markets. We provide financial incentivasdur channel partners to market and distribute our offerings. In addition, we
offer a wide range of services that provide support in the discovery, planning, development, and deployment stagesStfadeigjcro
offering.

Dedicated Sales Force

We markebur offerings chiefly through our direct sales force. We have sales offices in locations throughout the world and dse chan
partners in several countries where we do not have sales offices.

Channel Partners

We have established strategic alliances whild-p ar ty vendors to help ensure the succ
initiatives. Our channel partners are system integrators, consulting firms, resellers, solution providers, managedoséeltgise pr
original equipment manufacturefsi OEMs 6 ) , and technology companies. These fi
of commercial purposes, and our agreements with them generally providgclasive rights to market our offerings and allow access

to our marketing materiglproduct training, and direct sales force for filddel assistance.

We make significant commitments to our channel partners, including technical training, certificaticseeprand sales enablement,
and marketing programs. Through our joint effowte, believe customers are able to minimize their risk and maximize the return on
their business intelligence projects. Our channel partners allow us to leverage sales and service resources and marétesitrg and
specific expertise to expand our usesdand increase our market coverage.

Marketing
Our marketing programs target the following principal constituencies:

i our historical base of enterprisgde operational and technology executives and departmental buyers across large globa
enterprises;

corporate and departmental technology buyers insizield enterprises;
government technology buyers and the vendors to the government community;

independent software vendors that want to embed our technology tools in their solutions; and

= =2 =4 =

systen integrators that have technology relationships with large enterprises, governments, and infonteatore
businesses.

As MicroStrategy continues to gain visibility due to our corporate strategy of acquiring and holding bitcoontineally seek to
increaseébrand markeawarenesby focusing messaging on the possibilities for value creation, the benefits of using our platform, anc
competitive differentiators. The channels we use to communicatepnopectiveconstituencies include digital and social media,
advertising, free and evaluation software, events, media coverage, channel partners, -afidneott and peer references

Customers

Our customers include leading companies from a wide range of industrébsding retail, banking, technology, consulting,
manufacturing, insurance, healthcare, telecommunications, as well as the public sector.
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Competition

The analytics market is highly competitive and subject to rapidly changing technology. Within the analytics space, veewdttmpet
many differentsoftware vendors, including IBM, Microsoft, Oracle, Qlik, Salesforce, and SB&. future success depends aur
ability to differentiate our offerings and successfully compete across analytics implementation projects of varyifusiabdgity to
compete successfullyepends on a number of factors, both within and outside of our coiBorhe of these famts includesoftware
deployment options; analytical, mobility, data discoverigualization, artificial intelligence, and machine learning capabilities
performance and scalability; the quality and reliability of our customer service and support; @ahcebogmition. Failure to compete
successfully in any one of these or other areas may reduce the demand for our cifetimgserially adversely affect our revenue
from both existing and prospective customers.

Key Differentiators

i A comprehensive, moderrand open enterprise analytics platform uniquely featuring Hyperintelligesmabedded
analytics transformational mobility, and federated analytics.

i Ourexclusive and patentddyperintelligence capabilities that inject contextual analytics into existiolg, websites, and
online workflows.

1 Our proprietary Enterprise Semantic Graph.
Over 200 connectors to popular drivers and gateways to entedptassources on premise and in the cloud

1 A comprehensive set of REST APIs that makes it easy to embeplatierm in packaged and custom applications,
workflows, and devices.

i Flexible deployment methods that allow our customers to deploy our platform efficiently and securely using their owi
hardware or in a cloud environment they manage or vidutlyrmanaged and hostedloud subscription service.

i Comprehensive platform administration, security, and architecture, includingasésl access to both row and column
data.

A platform that is designed to scale with large datasets and deliver rapid response times.

The MCG Servic®perates under FedRAMP guidelidegublic sector agencies canw access the platform

Government Regulation

Aspects of our business involve collecting, processing, disclosing, storing, and transmitting personal data, whichtaoecgautgec
privacy policies, contractual obligations, and U.S. and foreign laws, regulations, and directives relating tapdwiata protection.

We store a substantial amount of customer and employee data, including personal data, on our networks and other $ystdoaland t
environments we manage. In addition, the types of data subject to protection as personal dataapéiae Union, the United States,

and elsewhere have been expanding. In recent years, the collection and use of personal data by companies have cosssedder inc
regulatory and public scrutiny, especially in relation to the collection and processieggitive data, such as healthcare, biometric,

geneti c, financi al services, and childrenés data, ,poltcali se
opinions, or religious beliefs. For example, in the United Stateseqtea health information is subject to the Health Insurance
Portability and Accountability Act of 1996 (AHI PAAO)nNttiesvhi c

(such as us) that engage in creating, receiving, maintaioirntgansmitting protected health information provided by covered entities
and other business associates are subject to enforcement under HIPAA. Our access to protected health informatioligatiggess ob
to comply with certain privacy rules and daéegrity requirements under HIPAA.

There are a broad variety of other data protection laws in the United States that are applicable to our activities earahgevati
enforcement agencies at both the state and federal levels that can review compamieacip and data security concerns based on
general consumer protection laws. The Federal Trade Commission and state Attorneys General all are aggressive in reaogwing pr
and data security protections for consumers. New laws also are being conatdestidthe state and federal levels. A broad range of
legislative measures also have been introduced at the federal level. Accordingly, failure to comply with federal and gtaithla
those currently in effect and future legislation) regarding pyivend security of personal information could expose us to fines and
penalties under such laws. In the event of a security breach, we also may have obligations to notify our customerartiestber p
individuals about this breach, and this can leadgwificant costs and the risk of potential enforcement and/or litigation. There is also
a threat of consumer class actions related to these laws and the overall protection of personal data. Even if weransmadttddtave
violated these laws, govermmt investigations into these issues typically require the expenditure of significant resources and genera
negative publicity, which could harm our reputation and our business.
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I'n the European Union, the Gener abkreddieements Rrgaaingthe handing ark seguuity af t
personal data, requires disclosure of data breaches to individuals, customers, and data protection authorities inurestainceis,
requires companies to honor heidgetsanal databpereitstregdlatons eograpese fines of @plta t

620,000,000 or 4% of global annual revenue, whi cheewehRrivacys h
Regulation, regulating electronic communications, wagp@sed in 2017 and is under consideration by the European Commission, the
European Parliament, and the European Counci l. Mor e rthecent

U.S-EU Privacy Shield in July 2020. The U-BU Privacy Shield provided a mechanism to lawfully transfer personal data from the
European Union to the United States and certain other countries. In the wake of the invalidation ofEté Rri8acy Shield, we

have transitioned to reliance on the EU Seamdd Contr act ual Clauses (ASCCso) to | a
European Union to the United States. The rules involving this alternative data transfer option are also undergoingncetiggon a
transfer mechanism may also be dedaresalid (or require us to change our business practices) in the future, requiring us to provide
an alternative means of data transfer.

I n June 2021, the European Data Protection Board ( fiENNBO)
t he EU data protection reqguirements when transferring p €

Recommendati onso) . I n summary, if Aproblematic | egi sideadrt i on
the effectiveness of the appropriate safeguards of the transfer tool(s), the EDPB now recommends the data exportemtbatbeside
the | aws/ practices wil/ be applied in practice ftctor. the rele

In addition, the EDPB issued a new set of SCCs in June 2021, which were required to be adopted for new transfers dafsersonal
from September 2021 and replace those used for existing transfers of personal data by December 2022. The newdbligzgiplece

on us as a data importer in relation to governmenttheaSCEshor i
The EDPB Recommendations are designed to be read in tandem with the new SCCs and set out requiregentafanmrto assess
third countries and identify appropriate data protection supplementary measures to be implemented -by-casaseasis where
needed.

The rules involving this alternative SCC data transfer option are continually undergoing ramgititis transfer mechanism may also
be declared invalid (or require us to change our business practices) in the future, requiring us to provide an altemsatdfedata
transfer or implement significant changes in our data security and protectibicgsa

As with other issues related to the withdrawal of the, dni
there are open questions about how personal data will be protected in the UK and whether personal informatiorecéonrahsf

EU to the UK Following the withdrawal of the UK from the EU, the UK Data Protection Act of 2018 applies to the processing of
personal data that takes place in the UK and includes parallel obligations to those set forth by GDPR. WhildPtio¢teDida Act of
2018 in the United Kingdom that @Ai mplementsd and compl emen
in the United Kingdom, it is still unclear whether transfer of data from the European Economic Area, or EieA nidted Kingdom

will remain lawful under GDPR. The United Kingdom government has already determined that it considers all EuropeardUnion a
EEA member states to be adequate for the purposes of data protection, ensuring that data flows from iKtieddoitetb the European
Union/EEA remain unaffected. In addition, a recent decision from the European Commission appears to deem the UK as be
fessentially adequatedo for purposes of dat a vauaedsthefuturd. r om

Brazil also enacted the Lei Geral de Protecdo de Dados (the Brazilian General Data Protection Law), which became Affgove in
2020 and imposes requirements largely similar to GDPR on products and services offered tBuaeits We may also be subject in
China to the Cybersecurity Law that went into effect in June 2017 and a revision of the Personal Information SecurigtiSpeldt

went into effect in October 2020, which have uncertain but broad application aageirapmumber of new privacy and data security
obligationsl n t he summer of 2021, China passed the Data Security
1, 2021. China also passed the Personal Information Protection Law of the P/REI PL 0 ) , whi ch came int
2021. The PIPL resembles GDPR in many aspects but will create new and challenging obligations for companies doing busines
China. Under these new regulations, if an entity operating in China violatesatheefulators may order it to take corrective actions,
issue warnings, confiscate illegal income, suspend services, revoke operating permits or business licenses, or ifhediadinan

be up to O50 million or 5 repeaue foetmetprioofinancahyeao. A graad raage of iothen dsntries n
continue to explore either new privacy and data security laws or changes to existing laws.

In addition to these specific laws, we also are subject to other privacy, securitigtamtotection laws around the world. In addition

to the laws in place alreadgthercountries aralsoconsidering new or expanded laws governing privacy and data security that may
impact our business practiceBhese laws may impact our ongoing business activities and our relationships with our business partner
customers and service providers.

In theUnited States there also are specific state laws that may impact our business activities. For thesstgtke pf California adopted

a comprehensive privacy | aw, the California Consumer Priw
enforceable in July 2020. Weave been and will continue be required to devote substantial resources to implement and maintain
compliance with the CCPA, and noncompliance could result in regulatory investigations and fines or private litigatioreriMiareov
November 2020, California voters approved a privacy | aw, t
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create privacy rights and obligations in Califortiaaddition, other states, including Virgini@dolorado,Connecticut ad Utah already
have passedimilar state privacy laws. Additional states will be considering these laws in the future which may impact our busines
activities and our relationships with business partners, customers and service providers.

Furthermore, tB U.S. Congress is considering comprehensive privacy legislation. At this time, it is unclear whether Congress will pa
such a law and if so, when and what it will require and prohibit. Moreover, it is not clear whether any such legislédigivestie
Federal Trade Commission (AFTCO0) any new authority totin mpo
the first instance, whether Congress will grant the FTC rulemaking authority over privacy and information securitheoQangress

will vest some or all privacy and data security regulatory authority and enforcement power in a new agency, akin tor&ldalia p
authorities.

Employees

As of DecembeB31l, 2022 we had a total o2,152employees, of whon719 were based ithe United States antl433were based
internationally. None of our employees in the United States is represented by a labor union; lemamogees ofertainof ourforeign
subsidiaries are members of trade or local uniéias.example,n France, our employees are represented by a works council as required
by local law. We have not experienced any work stoppagegemetallyconsider our relations with our employees to be good.

The following table summarizes employee headcount as afates indicated:

December31, December31, December31,

2022 2021 2020

Subscription services 110 72 49
Product support 183 174 154
Consulting 447 413 393
Education 16 36 37
Sales and marketing 434 470 479
Research and development 688 699 642
General and administrative 274 257 243
Total headcount 2,152 2,121 1,997

We recognize and value the contribution of all our employees. Due to their dedication, hard work, loyalty, and commitnaeet, we
had continued success as a company. Our philosophy is to create an agile, evolving envitatrakbonvs all of our employees to
grow and thrive, with initiatives and platforms that reward and recognize employees for their hard work and commitniesting del
personal excellence and creativity at MicroStrategy.

Our human capital management objees$ are to attract, retain, and develop leading talent to deliver on our business strategies. T
accomplish these objectives, we constantly strive to understand the drivalentéttraction, retention, and sustainable engagement
with our employees ieach of the geographies in whiale operate. As part of this process, we regularly benchtharkenefits we

offer our employees against those offevdthin our industrygenerallyandthe local marketdn which we operateDuring 202, we
continued to expand our equity compensation programs worldwide to provide our employees with greater opporsingitis &oy
appreciation of our class A common stobtkaddition, we pride ourselves on preparing a highly skilled workforce thragimital

boot camps, regular training workshops, andhaety of other learning experiences. Our initiatdréven teams work with a modern
technology stack, and they meet and learn from some of the most experienced innovators in their field. Tlse@efortlseve seek

to create an environment in which our employees can flourish, respond quickly to client demand and enhance their catthections
colleagues and towards the communities they are a part of globally.

Available Information

Our website is loated atvww.microstrategy.comWe make available free of charge, on or through the Investor Relations section of our
website fittp://ir.microstrategy.coimour annual reports on Form-K) quarterly reports on Form 49, current reports on Formkg and
allamendments to those repditisd or furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchangagsbon as reasonably practicable
after electronically filingor furnishings uch r eports with the Secur i tinfoenationafount orEcurc h a
website is not part of this Annual Report or any other report filed with the SEC. The SEC maintains an Internet siteitisatsports,

proxy and information statements, and other information regarding issuers, including utg, dnditifnishelectronically with the SEC at

WWW.SeC.gov
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ltem 1A. Risk Factors

You should carefully consider the risks described below before making an investment decision. The risks and uncestaib&ds de
below are not the only ones we fadedditional risks and uncertainties not presently known to us or that we currently deem immaterial
may also impair our business operations.

If any of the following risks occur, our business, financial condition, or results of operations could be materiallyyedffectet. In
such case, the market price of our class A common stock could decline, and you may lose all or part of yoaninvestm

Risks Related to Our Businesin General

Our quarterly operating results, revenues, and expenses may fluctuate significantly, which could have an adverse effegt on th
market price of our stock

For many reasons, including those described below, amatpg results, revenues, and expenses have varied in the past and may vary
significantly in the future from quarter to quarter. These fluctuations could have an adverse effect on the marketysradassf &
common stock.

Fluctuations in Quarterly Opating ResultsOur quarterly operating results may fluctuate, in part, as a result of:

1 fluctuations in the price of bitcoin, of which we have significant holdings and with respect to which we expect to continu
to make significantuture purchases, and pmtial material impairment charges that may be associated therewith;

1 any sales by us of our bitcoin at prices above their-thuerent carrying costs, which would result in our recording gains
upon sale of our digital assets;

regulatory, commercial, anddhnical developments related to bitcoin orlilieoin blockchain;
the size, timing, volume, and execution of significant ordersdafideries

the mix of our offerings ordered by customers, including product licenses andstibsictiptions, which can affect the
extent to which revenue is recognized immediately or over future quarterly periods;

the timing of the release or delivery of new or enhanced offerings and market acceptance of new and enhanced offering
the timing of amouncements of new offerings by us or our competitors;

changes in our pricing policies or those of our competitors;

the length of our sales cycles;

seasonal or other buying patterns of our customers;

changes in our operating expenses;

=A =4 =4 4 A4 -4 =4

the impacbf COVID-19 and its variants, or other future infectious diseases, on the global economy and on our customer
suppliers, employees, and business

the timing of research and development projects;

i utilization of our consulting and education sees, which can be affected by delays or deferrals of customer implementation
of our software;

i fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;
bilateral or multilateral trade tensions, which could affect our offerings in particular foreign markets;

our prditability and expectations for future profitability and their effect on our deferred tax assets and net income for the
period in which any adjustment to our net deferred tax asset valuation allowance may be made;

increases or decreases in our liability imrecognized tax benefits; and

changes in customer decistareking processes or customer budgets.

17



Limited Ability to Adjust Expensééle base our operating expense budgets on expected revenue trends and strategic objectives. Me
of our expenses, such imerest expense on our lotgrm debtpoffice leases and certain personnel costs, are relatively fixed. We may
be unable to adjust spending quickly enough to offset any unexpected revenue shamfadirment losses related to our digital assets.
Accordingly, any shortfall in revenuigom our enterprise analytics software busin@ssnpairment losses related to our digital assets
may cause significant variation in operating results in any quarter

Based on the above factors, we believe quaokguater comparisons of our operating results are not a good indication of our future
performance. It is possible that in one or more future quarters, our operating results may be below the expectatianmafkmibli
analysts and investors. In that eveng tharket price of our class A common stock may fall.

We may not be able teegain profitability in the future

We generated netlossfor the fiscal year endddecembeBl, 2022 primarily due to digital asset impairment lossasdwe may not

be able taregainprofitability on a quarterly or annual basis in the futuieour revenues are not sufficient to offset our operating
expenses, we are unable to adjust our operating sgpén a timely mannén response to any shortfall in anticipated revemueaye

incur additional significant impairment losses related to our digital assetsnay incur operating losses in future periods, our
profitability may decrease, or we may ce&sde profitable. As a result, our business, results of operations, and financial condition
may be materially adversely affected.

As of DecembeB1, 2022 we had $88.2million of deferred tax assetshich reflectsa $11.4million valuation allowanceThe largest
deferred tax asset relates to the impairnmgrur bitcoin holdingsChanges to the valuation allowance against the deferred tax asset
are largely dependent on the change in the market value of bitcoin from the previous reportindhdateatket value of bitcoin at a
future reporting date is less than the market value of bitcoin at the previous reporting date, we may be required farithenetiee
valuation allowance against the deferred tax agsiditionally, if we are unable toegainprofitability in the future, we maglsobe
required to increase the valuation allowance agéiestemainingleferred tax asseta significant increase in the valuation allowance
could result in a charge that would materially adversely afféadhneme in the period in which the charge is incurred.

We may have exposure to greater than anticipated tax liabilities

We are subject to income taxes and fiocome taxes in a variety of domestic and foreign jurisdictions. Our future income tax liability
could be materially adversely affected by earnings that are lower than anticipated in jurisdictions where we have loweragesyu
earnings that are higher than anticipated in jurisdictions where we have higher statutory rates, changes inahefvalradeferred

tax assets and liabilities, changes in the amourduofunrecognized tax benefits, or changes in tax laws, regulations, accounting
principles, or interpretations theredh addition, if we sold any of our bitcoin at prices greatantthe cost basis of the bitcoin sold,
we would incur a tax liability with respect to any gain recognized, and such tax liability could be material.

Changes in the tax laws of foreign jurisdictions could arise, including as a result of the project endeytétke Organisation for
EconomicCeoper ati on and Devel opment (AOECDO) to combat base erc
a coalition of member countries, has issued recommendations that, in some cases, make subsgedi&d chemerous lorgtanding

tax positions and principles. These changes, many of which have been adopted or are under active consideration by OECD men
and/or other countries, could increase tax uncertainty and may adversely affect our provisiconfier texes.

After enactment of the U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobs Act, most of our income is taxable in the U.S. with a significant portgonntdsab

the Global Intangible Lol ax ed | ncome (AGI LTI O) regi me. Begibleunderdhe GITI f i s
regime will decrease from 50% to 37.5%, which will increase the effective tax rate imposed on our income. The U.S.adsthenact

I nflation Reduction Act of 2022 (Al RAO) i n emheg3t, 2022 addirr@ducesT h e
a 15% corporate alternative minimum tax for corporations whose average annual adjusted financial statement incomestardivwecon
threetax-year period preceding the tax year exceeds $1 billion and a 1% excise tax iorstectarepurchases made by publicly traded

US corporations after December 31, 2022. If we are subject to these new taxes under the IRA, it could materiallyfaféeutialur
results, including our earnings and cash flow

Our determination of our tax liability is subject to review by applicable domestic and foreign tax authorities. Any@deerse of
such reviews could have an adverse effect on our operating results and financial condition. The determinationrisfwode wo
provision for income taxes and other tax liabilities requires significant judgment and there are many transactions atiohsalcul
including in respect of transactions involving bitcoin, where the ultimate tax determination is uncertain. Mazaveultinational
business, we have subsidiaries that engage in many intercompany transactions in a variety of tax jurisdictions whaegethaxulti
determination is uncertain
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We also have contingent tax liabilities thathmtae nage ment 6 s j udgment , l&Asueh umagssdértedpcontngeatb | ¢
liabilities were to be asserted, or become probable of assertion, we may be required to record significant expendé®arial frebi
period in which these liabiliteare asserted or become probable of assertion.

As a result of these and other factors, the ultimate amount of tax obligations owed may differ from the amounts recoffiehitial
statements and any such difference may materially affect our finaesidis in future periods in which we change our estimates of our
tax obligations or in which the ultimate tax outcome is determined

Risks Related to Our Bitcoin Acquisition Strategy and Holdings

Our bitcoin acquisition strategy exposes us to varioisks associated with bitcoin
Our bitcoin acquisition strategy exposes us to various risks associated with bitcoin, including the following:

Bitcoin is a highly volatile assetBitcoin is a highly volatile asset that has traded be$@®,000per bitcoin ad above$45,000per
bitcoin on the Coinbase exchange (our principal mdudebitcoin) in the 12 months preceding the date of this Annual Reparing
the year endeBecembeB31, 2022 the significant decrease in the trading price of bitcoin signifigaatiuced the value of the bitcoin
we hold.

Bitcoin does not pay interest or dividendBitcoin does not pay interest or other returns and so our ability to generate cash from our
bitcoin holdings depends on sales or implementing strategies that weonsgter to create income streams or otherwise geresite

by using our bitcoin holdingsEven if we pursue any such strategies,may be unable to create income streams or otherwise generate
cashfrom our bitcoin holdingsand any such strategies may subject us to additional risks.

Our bitcoin holdingssignificantly impact our financial resultdf we continue to increase our aedl holdings of bitcoin in the future,

our bitcoin holdings will have a greater impact on our financial results and the market price of our class A commoresto¢k.RSe s k
Related to Our Bitcoin Acquisition Strategy and Holdiing3ur historical financiestatements do not reflect the potential variability in
earnings that we may experience in the future relating to

Our bitcoin acquisition strategy has not been tested over an extended period of time oditfedamt market conditons. We are
continually examining the risks and rewards of our bitcoin acquisition strategy. This strategy has not been testeckteveledn e
period of time or undatifferentmarket conditions. For example, although we believe bitchia to its lintted supply has the potential

to serve as a hedge against inflation in the long term, the-&hartprice of bitcoin has declined in recent periods even as the inflation
rate increased. Some investors and other market participants may disagree hitttoouacquisition strategy or actions we undertake
to implement it. If bitcoin prices continue to fall or our bitcoin acquisition strategy otherwise proves unsuccessiogneial f
condition, results of operations, and the market price of our classmnon stock would bmaterially adversely impacted.

We are subject to counterparty risks, including in particular risks relating to our custodidtimugh we have implemented various
measures that are designed to mitigate our counterparty risksjilgchoy storingsubstantially all of the bitcoin we own in custody
accounts atl.S-based, institutionagjrade custodians and negotiating contractual arrangements intended to establish that our propel
interest in custodialhheld bitcoin is not subjecbt ¢ | ai ms of t h e applicable insdlveacn lawsis notifubydievelopeds
with respect to the holding of digital assets in custodial accoldirsr custodiallyheld bitcoin were nevertheless considered to be the
property ofo u r ¢ u sestaienh tha evéntthat the custodian enters bankruptcy, receivership or similar insolvency proceedings,
could be treated as a general unsecured creditor of the custodian, inhibiting our ability to exercise ownership rigépeetitb such
bitcoin andthis may ultimately result in the loss of the value related to some or all of such bEvein if we are able to prevent our
bitcoin from being considered the property of the s t o lhhkeupt@estateas part of an insolvency proceediritgis possible that

we would still be delayed or may otherwise experience difficulty in accessing our bitcoin held by the affected custogjaheduri
pendency of thénsolvencyproceedings. Any such outcome could have a material adverse effect on our financial condition and th
market price of our class A common stock.

The broader digital assets industry is subject to counterparty risks, which could adversely impact tton adtgptnd use of bitcoin.

A seriesof recent highprofile bankruptcies relating to companies operating in the digital asset industry and certain of their affiliates
including Three Arrows Capital, Celsius Network, Voyager Digital, FTX Trading and Ge@ézbal Capital, have highlighted the
counterparty risk applicable to digital asset ownership and trading. Such developments have, in thershdikely negatively
impacted the adoptiorateof bitcoin and additional bankruptcies in the future rhagher negatively impact the adopticateand use

of bitcoin.

Changes in our ownership of bitcoin could have accountggulatoryand other impactsWhile our bitcoin is currently owned directly

by us or our wholly owned subsidiaries, we may inveséigother potential approaches to owning bitcoin, including indirect ownership
(for example, through ownership interests in a fund that owns bitcoin). If we were to own all or a portion of our biremitlyinthe
accounting treatment for our bitcoiryrcability to use our bitcoin as collateral for additional borrowiagsl the regulatory requirements

to which we are subjeatay correspondingly change.
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Changes in the accounting treatment of our bitcoin holdings could have significant accountingsjnmpaading increasing the
volatility of our results. A change in the accounting treatment of our bitcoin holdings could have a material impact on our results c
operations in future periods and could increase the volatility of our reported resperatians as well as affect the carrying value of
our bitcoin on our balance sheet, which in turn could have a material adverse effect on our financial results and firecenafiaitr

class A common stock. For example, at its October 12, 2022 metbgnginancial Accounting Standards Board announced it intends
to issue an exposure draft for comment that would causeope crypto assets (such as bitcoin) to be measured at fair value, with fair
value changes recorded in current period earnings. Ihéhe standards are adopted, the change in presentation could increase the
volatility of our reported results of operations as well as affect the carrying value of our bitcoin on our balance sheet.

The broader digital assets industry, including the tedyyoassociated with digital assets, the rate of adoption and development of, and
use cases for, digital assets, market perception of digital assets, and the legal, regulatory, and accounting tregitalessitdiare
constantly developing and changjrand there may be additional risks in the future that are not possible to predict.

The price of bitcoin may be influenced blggal, commercial, technical and industry factors that are highly uncertaiand
fluctuations in the price of bitcoin are likely to influence our financial results and the market price of our class A conmstamrk

Fluctuations in the price of bitcoin have in the past and are likely to continue to influence our financial reshisnaaudket price of

our class A common stock. Our financial results and the market price of our class A common stock would be adverselgraffected,
our business and financial condition would be negatively impacted, if the price of bitcoin decreatmdialfpgas it has in the past,
including during 2022)including as a result of:

1 decreased user and investor confidence in bitcoin;

1 investment and trading activities of highly active retail and institutional users, speculators, miripresiols;

1 negative publicity or events relating to bitcoin, including potential public backlash against bitcoin to the extentdhaepugli
bitcoin as a vehicle that may be used to circumvent sanctions, including the recent sanctions imposed refakRusgiathe
ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine;

1 negative or unpredictable media or social media coverage of bicdie digital asset industrincluding in connection with
bankruptcy proceedings of industry participants;

1 negative public seiment related to the actual or perceived environmental impact of bitcoin and related activities, including

environmental concerns raised by private individuals, governmentafjox@arnmental organizations, and other actors related

to the energy resourcesnsumed in the bitcoin mining process;

changes in consumer preferences and the perceived value or prospects of bitcoin;

competition from other digital assets that exhibit better speed, security, scalability, or energy efficiency, thatieatme et

favored characteristics, that are backed by governments, including the U.S. government, or reserves of fiat curreatcies, or

represent ownership or security interests in physical assets;

1 a decrease in the price of other digital assets, including stéfdeor the crash or unavailability of stablecoins that are used
as a medium of exchange for bitcoin purchase and sale transactions, such as the crash of the stablecoin Terra USD in 202
the extent the decrease in the price of such other digitabasstbie unavailability of such stablecoins may cause a decrease in
the price of bitcoin or adversely affect investor confidence in digital assets generally

1 the identification of Satoshi Nakamoto, the pseudonymous person or persons who developedobitbeirtransfer of
substantial amounts of bitcoin from bitcoin wallets attributed to Mr. Nakamoto;

9 interruptions in service or failures of the principal markets for bitcoin, for example the announcement by the digital ass
exchange FTX Trading that it wlilifreeze withdrawals and transfers from its accounts and subsequent filing for bankruptcy
protection;

1 thefiling for bankruptcyprotection byliquidationof, or market concerns about the financial viability of digital asset custodians,
trading venues, feding platforms, investment funds, or other digital asset industry participants, sucfilasgtfer bankruptcy
protection bydigital asset trading venues FTX Trading and BlockFi and digital asset lending platforms Celsius Network an
Voyager Digital Hédingsin 2022 and the ordered liquidation of the digital asset investment fund Three Arrows Capital in
2022;

1 regulatory, legislative, enforcement and judicial actions that adversely affect the price, ownership, transflegdilitijyor
public perception of bitcoin, or that adversely affect the operations of digital asset custodians or trading venues;

1 furtherreductions in mining rewards of bitcoin, including block reward halving events, which are events that occur after |

specific period of time that reduce the block reward e:

transaction congestion and feas@ciated with processing transactions on the bitcoin network;

macroeconomic changes, such as changes in the level of interest rates and ifisaabrand monetary policies of

governments, trade restrictions, and fiat currency devaluations;
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1 developmerg in mathematics or technology, including in digital computing, algebraic geometry and quantum computing, the
could result in the cryptography being used by bitcoin becoming insecure or ineffective; and

1 changes in national and international economic awldiqgal conditions, including, without limitation, the adverse impact
attributable to the economic and political instability caused by the current conflict between Russia and Ukraine and tl
economic sanctions adopted in response to the conflict

In addifon, bitcoin and other digital assets are relatively novel and are subject to various risks and uncertainties that ralgy adver:
impact their price. The application of securities laws and other laws and regulations to such assets is unclear ispeettaiana it

is possible that regulators in the United States or foreign countries may interpret or apply existing laws and regalatiamsenthat
adversely affects the price of bitcoin.

The U.S. federal government, states, regulatory agenciespaeigh countries may also enact new laws and regulations that could
materially impact the price of bitcoin or the ability of individuals or institutions such as us toravemsfetbitcoin. For example:

1 On March 9, 2022, President Biden signed an exeewirder relating to cryptocurrencies. While the executive order did not
mandate the adoption of any specific regulations, it insduicarious federal agencies to consider potential regulatory
measures, including the evaluation of the creation of a OBRC. On September 16, 2022, the White House released a
framework for digital asset development, based on reports from various government agencies, including the U.S. Departm
of Treasury, the Department of Justice, and the Department of Commerce.g Athen things, the framework encourages
regulators to pursue enforcement actions, issue guidance and rules to address current and emergent risks, suppor
development and use of innovative technologies by payment providers to increase accesspaynstgts, consider creating
a federal framework to regulate nonbank payment providers, and evaluate whether to call upon Congress to amend the E
Secrecy Act and laws against unlicensed money transmission to apply explicitly to digital asset sesideespro

1 OnSeptember 8, 2022, the White House Office of Science and Technology Policy issued a report in coordination with oth
federal agencies relating to the climate and energy implications of digital assets, inbitediimgin the United States. Among
its finding are that digital assets are energy intensive and drive significant environmental impacts, and the report recomme
further study of the environmental impact of digital assets and the developneenirohmentaperformanceegulationsor
digital asset minerswhich may include limiting or eliminating digital assets that use high energy intensity consensus
mechanisms, including the preof-work consensus mechanisms on whichBfteoin blockchain is based

1 On April 4, 2022, SEC Chair Gary Genslemaunced that he has asked SEC staff to work (i) to register and regulate digital
asset platforms like securities exchanges; (ii) with the Commodities Futures Trading Comoniskimm to jointly address
digital asset platforms that trade both securiteb@ons ecur i ti es; (iii) on segregatin
customer assets, if appropriate; and (iv) on segregating out the market making functions of digital asset platforms,
appropriate. Similarly, foreign government authoritiase recently expanded their efforts to restrict certain activities related
to bitcoin and other digital assets.

1 Inthe European Union, i@ctober2022, the Council of the EU agreedhe full legal text of legislation known as thkarkets
in CryptoAssetsRe gu | at i o nwhi¢hfcdiaitsAyisions whickill regulate the use of digital assets, like bitcoin.
While MiCA still requires approval from the European Parliament, the legislation approved@yuheilof the EU included
provisions that Wi require the European Commission (i) to provide a report on the environmental impact ofasgets and
(ii) based upon such report, introduce mandatory minimum sustainability standards for consensus mechanisms, including
proofof-work consensus ethanisms on which ttgitcoin blockchain is based.

T I'n the United Kingdom, in February 2023, Hi s Majestybéd
regulate digital asset®f note, (i) digital assets firms, including exchanges andtodians, operating in or providing services
to the United Kingdom would need a license to operate and would be required to comply with minimum capital and liquidit
requirements, and (ii) the proposed rules would impose issuer liability on exchartgesrhi the trading of decentralized
digital assets, including bitcoin. The current proposed rules are subject to a comment and review period that is gpén until A
30, 2023, after which the government will consider the feedback and prepare its response

T I'n China, the Peoplebés Bank of China and the National
mining and declared all cryptocurrency transactions illegal within the country.

Moreover, the risks of engaging in a bitcoin acquisitstrategy are relatively novel and have created, and may diedter,
complications due to the lack of experience that third parties have with companies engaging in such a strategy, snahads tiléy
on acceptable terms, or increased costjreictbr and officer liability insurance.

The growth of the digital assets industry in general, and the use and acceptance of bitcoin in particular, may alse pnipacbfth
bitcoin and is subject to a high degree of uncertainty. The pace of worldreidthgn the adoption and use of bitcoin may depend, for
instance, on public familiarity with digital assets, ease of buying and accessing bitcoin, institutional demand foslgitcimesstment
assetthe participation ofraditionalfinancial institutons in the digital assets industigonsumer demand for bitcoin as a means of
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payment, and the availability and popularity of alternatives to bitcoin. Even if growth in bitcoin adoption occurs in thernssium
term, there is no assurance that bitagage will continue to grow over the leterm.

Because bitcoin has no physical existence beyond the record of transactions on the Bitcoin blockchain, a variety ofaigtongical
related to the Bitcoin blockchain could also impact the price of bitéan example, malicious attacks by miners, inadequate mining
fees to incentivize validating of bitcoin transactadvaeesin h a
digital computing, algebraic geometry, and quantum cdimguwould undercut the integrity of the Bitcoin blockchain and negatively
affect the price of bitcoin. The liquidity of bitcoin may also be reduced and damage to the public perception of bitamoumafy
financial institutions were to deny or limiahking services to businesses that hold bitcoin, provide bitetated services or accept
bitcoin as payment, which could also decrease the price of bitcoin.

Our historical financial statementslo not reflect the potential variability in earnings that weay experience in the future relating
to our bitcoin holdings

Our historical financial statements do not fully reflect the potential variability in earnings that we may experiendatireteom
holding or selling significant amounts of bitcoin.

The pice of bitcoin has historically been subject to dramatic price fluctuations and is highly vélatégplained more fully in Note
2(g) to our consolidated financial statements for the year ebdedmbeBl, 2022included in thisAnnualReport, we determine the

fair value of our bitcoin based on quoted (unadjusted) prices dddimbasesxchangdour principal marketfor bitcoin). We perform

an analysis each quarter to identify whether events or changes in circumstances, principally decreapastedtfunadjusted) prices
on the active exchange, indicate that it is more likely than not that any of our bitcoin assets are impaired. In detenmimipgirment

has occurred, we consider the lowest price of one bitcoin quoted on the activegexabany time since acquiring the specific bitcoin
held. If the carrying value of a bitcoin exceeds that lowest price at any time during the quarter, an impairment lossl ifodeera
occurred with respect to that bitcoin in the amount equal to tlieretice between its carrying value and such lowest price, and
subsequent increases in the price of bitcoin will not affect the carrying value of our bitcoin. Gains (if any) are reat vetibréalized
upon sale, at which point they would be presenttdhany impairment losses. In determining the gain to be recognized upon sale, we
calculate the difference between the sale price and carrying value of the specific bitcoin sold immediately prior to sale.

As a result, any decrease in the fair value tafdin below our carrying value for such assets at any time since their acquisition requires
us to incur an impairment charge, and such charge could be material to our financial results for the applicable rejpaitingigler

may create significant voldity in our reported earnings and decrease the carrying value of our digital assets, which in turn could hav
a material adverse effect on the market price of our class A commonGutlersely, any sale of bitcoins at prices above our carrying
value fa such assets creates a gain for financial reporting purposes even if we would otherwise incur an economic or tax loss v
respect to such transaction, which also may result in significant volatility in our reported earnings.

At DecembeB31, 2022 we caried $L.840billion of digital assets on our balance sheet, consisting of approxima2|$00bitcoins
and reflecting 8.153billion in cumulative impairment lossedtributable to bitcoin trading price fluctuations, and held@.8million in

cashand cah equivalents, compared to a carrying value28%0billion of digital assets, consisting of approximat&R4,391bitcoins,
and $3.4million in cash and cash equivalents at Decen3deP021 Digital asset impairment losse®et ofgains on salepf $1.286
billion incurred during the year end&@kcembeBl, 2022represented6.9% of our operating expensesmpared to $30.6million in

digital asset impairment losses represen®i@g? of our operating expenses in the year ended Dece3ib2021, contibuting to our
net loss of $.470billion for the year endeecembeB1, 2022compared to net loss 0635.5million for the year ended Decembit,
2021

Because we intend to purchase additional bitcoin in future periods and increase our overals lodlitcpin, we expect that the
proportion of our total assets represented by our bitcoin holdings will increase in the future. As a result, volatiligamiogs in
future periods may be significantly more than what we experienced in prior periods.

Changes in securitiesegulations,or the adoption of new laws or regulations, relating to bitcoin could adversely affect the price of
bitcoin or our ability to transact in or own bitcoin, whichhay adversely impact the market price of our class A common stock

Although bitcoin and other digital assets have experienced a surge of investor attention since bitcoin was inventéohvies20G8in

the United States currently have limited meangadim direct exposure to bitcoin through traditional investment channels, and instead
generally must hold bitcoin through fihostedo wall et sthatr ov
expose the investor to risks assodatgth loss or hacking of their private keys. Given the relative novelty of digital assets, general lack
of familiarity with the processes needed to hold bitcoin directly, as well as the potential reluctance of financial anadvisers to
recommendlirect bitcoin holdings to their retail customers because of the manner in which such holdings are custodied, some invest
have sought exposure to bitcoin through investment vehicles that hold bitcoin and issue shares representing fractitmuhirterdists
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in their underlying bitcoin holdings. Although a number of investment vehicles currently offer this exposure to bitcoaf,these
investment vehicles currently offers its shares directly to the public in the United States, and such shdrelsare e d onl y t c
investorsod on a private placement basi s. I nvestors heless ar
purchase shares of these investment vehicles in thelmreounter market, where such sharaséin the past traded at a premium to
the net asset value (ANAVO) of the wunderlying bitcoilave Th
recently traded at a discount to NAV.

One reasothat such vehicles have in thast traded aubstantial premium to NAV may be because of the relative scarcity of traditional
investment vehicles providing investment exposure to bitcoin. To the extent investors view the value of our class A amk@sn st
providing such exposure, i possible that the value of our class A common sinakalsoincludea premium over the value of our
bitcoin. Any such premium may increase or decrease in different market conditions and the value of our class A comemridstock
alsotrade at discaintrelative tothe value of our bitcoin.

Another reason for the substantial premium to Néxhibitedin the pasby the trading prices of shares of some bitcoin investment
vehicles is that such vehicles operate in a manner similar to eboseihvestmet funds as opposed to exchasige aded f unds
and therefore do not continuously offer to create and redeem their shares at NAV in exchange for bitcoin. Althoughtseweral bi
investment vehicles have attempted to list their shares on a U.Salageurities exchange to permit them to function in the manner
of an ETF with continuous share creation and redemption at NAV, the SEC has generally declined to approve any suitimgjsting, ¢
concerns over the surveillance of trading in markets foutigerlying bitcoin as well as concerns about fraud and manipulation in
bitcoin trading marketaMost recently, in June 2022 the SEC denied proposals from NYSE Arca, Inc. to convert Grayscale Bitcoir
Trust into a spot bitcoin ETF and to list and trade shaff the Bitwise Bitcoin ETFHowever, in October 2021, the SEC permitted the
listing of ETFs that invest primarily in bitcoin futures contraditsis unclear as to whether or to what extent the existence of ETFs that
invest in bitcoin futures contractdll have on any premium over the value of our bitcoin holdings that may be included in the value of
our class A common stock.

If the SEC were to further resolve its concerns regarding surveillance of and the existence of fraud and manipulatiioaim the
trading markets, it is possible that the SEC would permit the listing of ETFs specializing in the direct acquisitionimgndfraitdoin,
allowing these funds to offer their shares directly to the public. In addition to greatly simplifyingklué ¢mining investment exposure

to bitcoin, the listing of a bitcoin ETF with continuous share creation and redemption at NAV would be expected to iienihate
premiums currently exhibited by shares of investment vehicles that trade in thth@ueunter market. To the extent that our class A
common stock is viewed as an alternatigbitcoin investment vehicle and trades at a premium to the value of our bitcoin holdings,
that premium may also be eliminated, causing the price of our class A costoe@rio decline.

In addition, the introduction of thbitcoin futures focused ETFand anyfuture bitcoin focusedETFs on U.S. national securities
exchanges may be viewed by investors as offering Afpalincenepl! a
tax at the entity level as we are.

As a result of the foregoing factors, to the extenestors view our class A common stock as linked to the value of our bitcoin holdings,
the introduction of bitcoin ETFs on U.S. national securities exchanges could have a material adverse effect on thecenafkairpri
class A common stock.

Our bitcoin acquisition strategy subjects us to enhanaegulatory oversight

As noted above, several bitcoin investment vehicles have attempted to list their shares on a U.S. national securitee®epeiming

them to function in the manner of an ETF wittntinuous share creation and redemption at NAV. To date the SEC has declined to
approve any such listing, citing concerns over the surveillance of trading in markets for the underlying bitcoin asmegtas about

fraud and manipulation in bitcoin teag markets. Even though we do not function in the manner of an ETF and do not offer continuous
share creation and redemption at NAV, it is possible that we nevertheless could face regulatory scrutiny frordulkea&&E bitcoin
holdings

In additian, there has been increasing focus on the extent to which digital assets can be used to launder the proceeds dtitiggal activ
fund criminal or terrorist activitiegr circumventsanctions regimesncluding those sanctions imposed in response t@tig®ing
conflict between Russia and Ukraivghile we have implemented and maintain policies and procedures reasonably designed to promo
compliance with applicable antoney laundering and sanctions laws and regulations and take care to only aachit@muthrough
entities subject to anthoney laundering regulation and related compliance rules in the United States, if we are found to have purchas
any of our bitcoin from bad actors that have used bitcoin to launder money or persons subjetticiossave may be subject to
regulatory proceedings and any further transactions or dealings in bitcoin by us may be restricted or prohibited.
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We have entered into a bitcedwllateralized loan and may consider issuing additional debt or other finarstiaiments that may be
collateralized by our bitcoin holdingé/e may also considgrursuing strategies to create income streams or otherwise generate funds
using our bitcoin holdingsThese types of bitcoirelated transactions are the subject of enharnagaatory oversight. These and any
other bitcoinrelated transactions we may enter into, beyond simply acquiring and holding bitcoin, may subject us to addition
regulatory compliance requirements and scrutiny, including under federal and state mei®g segulations, money transmitter
licensing requirements and various commaodity and securities laws and regulations

In addition, private actors that are wary of bitcoin or the regulatory concerns associated withhbiteoin the pasakenandmay in

the futuretakefurther actions that may have an adverse effecbenbusiness athe market price of our class A common stock. For
example, an affiliate of HSBC Holdings has prohibited customers of its HSBC InvestDirect retail investment platiotooyfing
shares of our class A common stock after determining that the value of our stock is related to the performance oflluatvig, thrat

it did not want to facilitate exposure to virtual currencies.

Due to theunregulated nature and lack afransparency surroundinghe operations of many bitcoin trading venudstcoin trading
venuesmay experiencegreater fraud, security failures or operational problemthan trading venues for more established asset
classes, which may result in a loss of dmence in bitcoin trading venues anddversely affect the value of our bitcoin

Bitcoin trading venues are relatively new andianycases, unregulated. Furthermore, there are many bitcoin trading venues which
do not provide the public with significaimformation regarding their ownership structure, management teams, corporate practices an
regulatory compliance. As a result, the marketplace may lose confidence in bitcoin trading venues, including promingesdkehan
handle a significant volume bftcoin tradingandor are subject to regulatory oversight, in the event one or more bitcoin trading venues
experience fraud, security failures or operational problems

For example, in 2019 there were reports claiming theB®® of bitcoin trading volme on trading venues was false or ysmonomic

in nature, with specific focus on unregulated exchanges located outside of the United States. Such reports may itlcéchite tfirat
market is significantly smaller than expected and that the United &tatess up a significantly larger percentage of the bitcoin market
than is commonly understoofiny actual or perceived false trading in the bitcoin market, and any other fraudulent or manipulative act
and practices, could adversely affect the value obdaoin.

Negativeperception, a lack of stability in the broader bitcoin markets and the closure, temporary shutdown or operational dfsruption
bitcoin trading venues, lending institutions, institutional investors, institutional mices®dians, or other major participants in the
bitcoin ecosystem, due to fraud, business failure, hackers or malware, govermamelatted regulation, bankruptcy, or for any other
reason, may reduce confidence in bitcoin and the broader bitcoin ecosystemayanesult in greater volatility in the price of bitcoin.

For example, in 2022, each of Celsius Networks, Voyager Digital Holdings, Three Arrows Capital, FTX, and Bledkfer
bankruptcy, following which the market prices of bitcoin and other digital assets significantly declined. To the exttorsimiew

our class A common stock as linked to the value of our bitcoin holdings, the failure of a major participant inithedmsystem could

have a material adverse effect on the market price of our class A common stock

The concentration of our bitcoin holdings enhances the risks inherent in our bitcoin acquisition strategy

As of February 15, 2023ve held approximatel§32,500bitcoins that were acquired at an aggregate purchase priG983billion

and we intend to purchase additional bitcoin and increase our overall holdings of bitcoin in thélidwr@ncentration of our bitcoin
holdings limits the risk mitigatio that we could take advantage of by purchasing a more diversified portfolio of treasury assets, and tr
absence of diversification enhances the risks inherent in our bitcoin acquisition stf&egyice of bitcoin has recently experienced

a significantdedine, and this has had, and any further significant deciimtree price of bitcoivould havea more pronounced impact

on our financial condition than if we used our cash to purchase a more diverse portfolio of assets.

The emergence or growth of oth digital assets, including those with significant private or public sector backing, could have a
negative impact on the price of Bitcoin and adversely affect our business

As aresult of our bitcoin acquisition strategy, the majority of our assets arewrwated in our bitcoin holdings. Accordingly, the
emergence or growth of digital assetler than bitcoirmay have a material adverse effect on our financial condition. As of the date
of this Annual Report, bitcoin was the largest digital asset by ehadpitalization. However, there are numerous alternative digital
assets and many entities, including consortiums and financial institutions, are researching and investing resourceseirdo priv
permissioned blockchain platforms or digital assetsdbatot use proebf-work mining like the bitcoin networkor example, in late
2022, the Ethereum netoftotrdaked amschaoinenh ftor avdlprdatfi ng tr e
computing power than proaff-work mining. F the mechanisms for validating transactions in Ethereum and other alternative digital
assets are perceived as superior to pofafiork mining, those digital assets could gain market share relative to bitcoin. Other alternative
digital assets thatcompetei t h bi tcoin in certain ways include fAstabl ecoi
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of their i ssuer gualitydiquid assess ésuch as Uls.adolldr ddpasits land-srontU.S. treasury securities) equal to

the tdal value of stablecoins in circulation. Stablecoins have grown rapidly as an alternative to bitcoin and other digitd assets
medium of exchange and store of value, particularly on cryptocurrency trading platforms. As of the date of this AnnyéhiRRepafrt

the seven largest digital assets by market capitalization are U.S:luidlkeed stablecoinddditionally, central banks in some countries
have started to introduce di gi tGBDCpfometwas mand avdilablg @ tonsureersihdanuary F
2022, and governments including the United States and the European Union have been discussing the potential cre€iRID@E new
Whether or not they incorporate blockchain or similar technology, CB&%1sgal tender in the issuing jurisdiction, coalkb compete

with, or replae, bitcoin and other digital assets as a medium of exchange or store of value. As a result, the emergence or growth of tf
or other digital assets could cause the market pfidgtcoin to decrease, which could have a material adverse effect on our business,
prospects, financial condition, and operating results

Our bitcoin holdings are less liquid than our existing cash and cash equivalents and may not be able to senauaseaos liquidity
for us to the same extent as cash and cash equivalents

In September 2020, we adopted bitcoin as our primary treasury reserve asset. Historically, the bitcoin markets have @edharact
by more price volatility, less liquidity, an@wer trading volumes compared to sovereign currencies markets, as well as relative
anonymity, a developing regulatory landscape, susceptibility to market abuse and manipulation, and various other nsls itshere
entirely electronic, virtual form andecentralized network. During times of market instability, we may not be able to sell our bitcoin at
reasonable prices or at all. For example, although the Coinbase exchange (our principal market for bitcoin) has, tdekte, not
impacted, a number oftbbin trading venues recently have temporarily halted deposits and withdrawals. As a result, our bitcoin holding
may not be able to serve as a source of liquidity for us to the same extent as cash and cash equivalents. Furthéansuiirozlattidg
Coinbase) are not banking institutions or otherwise miember
Il nvestor Protection Cor pdigita dssetweposi(s med WtiC thgse castodigns arehnetrsebfedhdaoe |,
protections enjoyed by depositors with FDIC or SIPC member institutions. Additionally, during times of market instabiliyndn

in particular at times when the price of bitcoin has materially declined, we may be unable to enter into ternotbhansapital raising
transactions collateralized by our unencumbered bitcoin or otherwise generate funds using our bitcoin holdings. |able &vesath

our bitcoin, enter into additional capital raising transactions using bitcoin as collatestiieorise generate funds using our bitcoin
holdings, or if we are forced to sell our bitcoin at a significant loss, in order to meet our working capital requirembotsness and
financial condition could be negatively impacted

If we or our third-party service providers experience a security breach or cyberattack and unauthorized parties obtain access to our
bitcoin, or if our private keys are lost or destroyed, or other similar circumstances or events ogeumay lose some or all of our
bitcoin and our financial condition and results of operations could be materially adversely affected

Substantially all of the bitcoin we own is held in custody accounts at institujoadé digital asset custodiarSecuritybreaches and
cyberattacks are of patilar concern with respect to our bitcoin. Bitcoin and other blockebased cryptocurrencies and the entities
that provide services to participants in the bitcoin ecosystem have been, and may in the future be, subject to sebesty breac
cyberattacksor other malicious activities. For example, in October 2021 it was reported that hackers exploited a flaw in the accou
recovery process and stole from the accounts of at least 6,000 customers of the Coinbase exchange (our principal icarkikt for b
although the flaw was subsequently fixed and Coinbase reimbursed affected customers. Similarly, in November 2022, fatdabrs exp
weaknesses in the security architecture of the FTX Trading digital asset exchangoatedilystole over $80 million in digital assets

from customers. A successful security breach or cyberattack could result in

91 a partial or total loss of our bitcoin in a manner that may not be covered by insurdimediaivility provisions of the custody
agreemergwith the custodias who hold our bitcoin

1 harm to our reputation and brand;

1 improper disclosure of data and violations of applicable data privacy and other laws; or

1 significant regulatory scrutiny, investigations, n@enalties, and other legal, regulatory, contractual and financial exposure.

Further, any actual or perceived data security breach or cybersecurity attack directed at other companies with digitebaysatses
that operate digital asseetworks, whether or not we are directly impacted, could lead to a general loss of confidence in the broad
bitcoin blockchain ecosystem or in the use of bitcoin networks to conduct financial transactions, which could negatstalgimpa

Attacks upon gstems across a variety of industries, including industries related to bitcoin, are increasing in frequency, persistence, :
sophistication, and, in many cases, are being conducted by sophisticatédndedl and organized groups and individuals, iriclgd

state actors. The techniques used to obtain unauthorized, improper or illegal access to systems and information (nscloitigize

and digital assets), disable or degrade services, or sabotage systems are constantly evolving, may bedétificudfutickly, and often

are not recognized or detected until after they have been launched against a target. These attacks may occur on ouhsgstems o
our third-party service providers or partners. We may experience breaches of our securnitsemdas to human error, malfeasance,
insider threats, system errors or vulnerabilities or other irregularities. In particular, unauthorized parties have ,atenpeedxpect
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that they will continue to attempt, to gain access to our systems anddacds well as those of our partners and tpady service
providers, through various means, such as hacking, social engineering, phishing and fraud. In the past, hackers hallg succes:
employed a social engineering attack against one of our s@naeiglers and misappropriated our digital assets, although, to date, such
events have not been material to our financial condition or operating results. Threats can come from a variety of clodliogs, in
criminal hackers, hacktivists, statponsored itmusions, industrial espionage, and insiders. In addition, certain types of attacks could
harm us even if our systems are left undisturbed. For example, certain threats are designed to remain dormant or usdetetitabte

for extended periods of timer until launched against a target and we may not be able to implement adequate preventative measur
Further, there has been an increase in such actigities the beginningf the COVID-19 pandemicThe risk of cyberattacks could

also be increased bgyberwarfare in connection with the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraine or other future conflicts.
including potential proliferation of malware into systems unrelated to such conflicts. Any future breach of our opertitinses afr
others in théitcoin industry, including thirgbarty services on which we rely, could materially and adversely affect our business

The loss or destruction of a private key required to access our bitcoin may be irreversible. If we are unable to accesamtrikeys
or if we experience a cyberattack or other data loss relating to our bitcoin, our financial condition and results of opesatinld
be materially adversely affected

Bitcoin is controllable only by the possessor of both the unique public key and peyérelating to the local or online digital wallet

in which the bitcoin is held. While thgitcoin blockchain ledger requires a public key relating to a digital wallet to be published when
used in a transaction, private keysst be safeguarded and kppt/ate in order to prevent a third party from accessing the bitcoin held
in such walletTo the extenthe private keys) for a digital walletarelost, destroyed, or otherwise compromised and no backup of the
private keys)is accessible, neither we nauir custodians will be able to access the bitcoin held in the related digital wallet. Furthermore,
we cannot provide assurance that our digital walleisthe digital wallets of our custodians held on our beWwélfnot be compromised

as a result of ayberattack. The bitcoin and blockchain ledger, as well as other digital assets and blockchain technologies, have be
and may in the future be, subject to security breaches, cyberattacks, or other malicious activities

We hold our bitcoin with severaégulated custodians that have duties to safeguard our privateAsegEDecembeB1, 2022 one
custodian bld approximately halbf our bitcoin, although our custodial agreements do not restrict us from reallocating our bitcoin
holdings among our custodiaris. light of the significant amount of bitcoin we hold, we are continuing to seek a greater degree of
diversification in the se of custodial services as the extent of potential risk of loss is dependent, in part, on the degree of diversificatic
As of DecembeB1, 2022the insurance that covers losses of our bitcoin holdings covers only a small fraction of the value néthe ent

of our bitcoin holdings, and there can be no guarantee that such insurance will be maintained as part of the custesliaktseavie

or that such coverage will cover losses with respect to our bitcoin. Moreover, the use of custodians to hotdnoexposes us to the

risk that the bitcoin custodiaHliield on our behalf could be subject to insolvency proceedings and we could be treated as a genel
unsecured creditor of the custodian, inhibiting our ability to exercise ownership rights wéhbtrespuch bitcoin. Any loss associated
with such insolvency proceedings is unlikely to be covered by any insurance coverage we maintain related to our bitcoin.

Regulatory change reclassifying bitcoin as a security could lead to our classificationras @i nvest ment compeé
Investment Company Act of 1940 and could adversely affect the market price of bitcoin and the market price of our classiéncom
stock

While senior SEC officials have stpaposatofthafederal securitesvaws,tha SECHhas t
so far refused to permit the listing of any bitctiased ETFs, citing, among other things, concerns regarding bitcoin market integrity
and custodial protectiondt is possible that the SEC could take&ontrary position to the one taken by its senior officials or a federal
court could conclude that bitcoinisasecuri&uch a deter mination could | ead to our
the Investment Company Act of 1940, whichulebsubject us to significant additional regulatory controls that could have a material
adverse effect on our business and operations and also may require us to substantially change the manner in whichaue conduc
business.

In addition, if bitcoin isdetermined to constitute a security for purposes of the federal securities laws, the additional regulator
restrictions imposed by such a determination could adversely affect the market price of bitcoin and in turn adverskty mtfidott
price of ourclass A common stock.

A significant decrease in the market value of our bitcoin holdings could adversely affect our ability to service our indessed

As a result of our bitcoin acquisition strategy and our Treasury Reserve Policy, the majoritpsdedarare concentrated in our bitcoin
holdings. The concentration of our assets in bitcoin limits our ability to mitigate risk that could otherwise be achewretddsing a
more diversified portfolio of treasury assets. Accordingly, a significantrdeati the market value of bitcoin could have a material
adverse effect on our financial condition. Any material adverse effect on our financial condition caused by a signifivarm dee
market value of our bitcoin holdings may create liquidity argdlit risks for our business operations, as we would have limited means
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to obtain cash beyond the revenues generated by our enterprise analytics software business. To the extent that tldechish gener
enterprise analytics software business is fifigeht to satisfy our debt service obligations, and to the extent that the liquidation of our
bitcoin holdings would be insufficient to satisfy our debt service obligations, we may be unable to make scheduled payaents o
current or future indebtednesshich could cause us to default on our debt obligations. Any default on our current or future indebtednes
may have a material adverse effect on our financi alebd@®ddietsi
for additional details about the risks which may impact us if we are unable to service our indebtedness.

Our bitcoin acquisition strategy exposes us to risk of Aperformance by counterparties

Our bitcoin acquisition strategy exposes us to the risk ofpssformane by counterparties, whether contractual or otherwise. Risk of
nonper formance includes inability or refusal of a courialer p:e
condition and liquidity or for any other reason. For examplr execution partners, custodians, or other counterparties might fail to
perform in accordance with the terms of our agreement with them, which could result in a loss of bitcoin, a loss oftthétyppor
generate funds, or other losses.

Our primay counterparty risk with respect to our bitcoirtisstodian performance obligations under the various custody arrangements
we have entered intoA seriesof recent highprofile bankruptcies relating to companies operating in the digital asset industry and
certain of their affiliates, including Three Arrows Capital, Celsius Network, Voyager Digital, FTX Trading and Genesi<Cgjotad|
hashighlighted tle perceived and actual counterparty risk applicable to digital asset ownership and ttagiaigprecedent created in
these bankruptcy proceedings may increase the risk of future rulings adveusénterestsn the event one or more of our custodians
becomes a debtor in a bankruptcy case tivdsubject of other liquidation, insolvency or similar proceedings.

On January 23, 2023, ttNYDFSr el eased fAGui dance on Custodi al Structures f
the statd purpose of helping to protect customers in the effatta custodian enters bankruptcy, receivership or similar insolvency
proceedings While all of ourcustodiansare NYDFSregulated custodiansp assurance can be providbdt the stated guidanémm

the NYDFSwill be followed orwill not be changear thatcustodiallyheldbitcoinw i | | not become msolvency o f
estatein the evenbne or more of our custodiarsters bankruptcy, receivership or similar insolvency proceedigiditionally, if

we pursue any strategies to create income streams or otherwise generate funds using our bitcoin holdings, we wouldjégtcmme sub
additional counterparty risks. Any significant aparformance by counterparties, including in partictharcustodians with which we
custody substantially all of our bitcoin, could have a material adverse effect on our business, prospects, financiglaothdperating
results.

Risks Related to Our Enterprise Analytics Software Business Strategy
Wedepend on revenue from a single software platform and related services as well as revenue from our installed customer base

Our revenue is derived from sales of our analytics software platform and related services. Although demand fosaftalgtehas
continued to grow, the market for analytics offerings continues to evolve. Resistance from consumer and privacy grnoogsdi@to
collection, use, and sharing of personal data has grown in recent years and our customers, potential, cugtengameral public may
perceive that use of our analytics software could violate individual privacy rights. In addition, increasing governrigtionsesn

the collection, use, and transfer of personal data could impair the further growthmoérket for analytics software, especially in
foreign markets. Because we depend on revenue from a single software platform and related services, our businessrmeditype har
a decline in demand for, or in the adoption or prices of, our platform anddakrvices as a result of, among other factors, any change
in our pricing or packaging model, increased competition, maturation in the markets for our platform, or other risksl dieghrtbe
Annual Reportln addition, the adoption of our bitcoin agsjtion strategy and the recent increase in our indebtedness has caused anc
may in the future cause certain of our existing or prospective customers to form negative perceptions regarding oursiopgroféée

or our financial viability as a commertieounterparty, and such negative perceptions could negatively impact sales of our analytics
software platform and related services to current or prospective customehsrisks caralsobe exacerbatei the price of bitcoin
declinesor by adverse devepments in the digital assets industry including, for exantple high-profile bankruptg filings by
companies operating thatindustry,such as the recent bankruptcy filingsTyee Arrows Capital, Voyager DigitaBlockFiand FTX
Trading We also dpend on our installed customer base for a substantial portion of our revenue. If our existing customers cancel or f
to renew their service contracts or fail to make additional purchases fréon arsy reason, including due to the risks inherent in our
bitcoin acquisition strategyur revenue could decrease and our operating results could be materially adversely affected.

As our customers increasingly shift from a product license model to a cloud subscription model, we could face higher aiage r
of attrition, and such a shift could continue to affect the timing of revenue recognition or reduce product licenses and product
support revenues, which could materially adversely affect our operating results

We offer our analytics platform in the form of agoluct license or a cloud subscription. Given that it is relatively easy for customers to
migrate on and off our cloud subscription platform, as we continue to shift our customers toward our cloud platform, faeecould
higher future rates of attritiomaong our customers. In addition, the payment streams and revenue recognition timing for our produc
licenses are different from those for our cloud subscriptions. For product licenses, customers typically pay us a loop &ften s
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entering into a licese agreement, and we typically recognize product licenses revenue when control of the license is transferred to
customer. For cloud subscriptions, customers typically make periodic payments over the subscription period and we recogr
subscription srvices revenues ratably over the subscription period. As a result, as our custoraasingly shifto, or new customers
purchase, cloud subscriptions instead of product licenses, the resulting change in payment terms and revenue recagsitibim may
our recognizing less revenue in the reporting period in which the sale transactions are consummated than has beemth® case in
periods, with more revenue being recognized in future periods. This change in the timing of revenue recognitinateaalty
adversely affect our operating results and cash flows for the periods during which such a shift or change in purchasing occ
Accordingly, in any particular reporting period, cloud subscription sales could negatively impact product licente cal existing

and prospective customers, which could reduce product licenses and product support revenues. Additionally, our a@kikisate ac
our cloud strategy could be negatively impacted by any inability to provide necessary sales angisalesre support, including the
support of channel partners, our internal sales team, and digital marketing. Finally, if we are not able to successsallysgobwur

cloud subscription platform, we may not be able to achieve the scale necesshigie acreaskoperating margins

We use channel partners and if we are unable to maintain successful relationships with them, our business, operating aasults,
financial condition could be materially adversely affected

In addition to our direct sales force, we use channel partners, such as system integrators, consulting firms, retietepsogilers,
managed service providers, OEMs, and technology companies, to license and support our offerings. For the {eareemoel1,
2022 transactions by channel partners for which we recognized revenue accour#édfoof our total product licenses revenues,
and our ability to achieve revenue growth in the future will depend in part on our ability to maintairetagseships. Our channel
partners may offer customers the products and services of several different companies, including competing offeringanant we
be certain that they will prioritize or devote adequate resources to selling our offeringsaré wnable to maintain our relationships
with our channel partners, or if we experience a reduction in sales by our channel partners, our business, operating fiesuitsal
condition could be materially adversely affected.

In addition, we rely orour channel partners to operate in accordance with applicable laws and regulatory requirements. If they fail
do so, we may need to incur significant costs in responding to investigations or enforcement actions or paying pessdticbyase
applicable authorities. We also rely on our channel partners to operate in accordance with the terms of their contractuasagreem
with us. For example, some of our agreements with our channel partners prescribe the terms and conditions pursudnétawehich
authorized to resell or distribute our software and offer technical support and related services. If our channel padneosngdy

with their contractual obligations to us, our business, operating results, and financial condition may biéyradteriaely affected

Our recognition of deferred revenue and advance payments is subject to future performance obligations and may not be
representative of revenues for succeeding periods

Our deferred revenue and advance payments tot2fg@ &million as ofDecembeBl1, 2022 The timing and ultimate recognition of
our deferred revenue and advance payments depend on various factors, including our performance of various service obligations

Because of the possibility of customer changes or delays inncastdevelopment or implementation schedules or budgets, and the
need for us to satisfactorily perform product support and other services, deferred revenue and advance payments albamateartic
may not be representative of actual revenue for anyesdatg period.

In addition, we had $4.6 million of other remaining performance obligations aPetembeB1, 2022 consisting of the portions of
multi-year contracts that will be invoiced in the future that are not reflected on our balance sheeh dégamied revenue and advance
payments, these other remaining performance obligations at any particular date may not be representative of actuat eewenue fo
succeeding period.

We may lose sales, or sales may be delayed, due to the long sales aneh@énfalgon cycles of certain of our offerings, which could
materially adversely affect our revenues and operating results

The decision to purchase our offerings typically requires our customers to invest substantial time, money, personeelesudimh,

which can result in long sales cycles that can exceed nine months. These long sales cycles increase the risk thaeveetseairay

as the introduction of new offerings and changes in customer budgets and purchasing priorities, will affeet timairgy, and
completion of an ordeEven if an order is completed, the time and resources required to implement and integrate our offerings va
widely depending on customer needs and the complexity of deployment. If we lose sales or sales aduddiayieelse long sales and
implementation cycles, our revenues and operating results for that period may be materially adversely affected.
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Our results in any particular period may depend on the number and volume of large transactions in that periotieselttansactions
may involve lengthier, more complex, and more unpredictable sales cycles than other transactions

Larger, enterpriséevel transactions often require considerably more resources, are often more complex to implement, and typica
require aditional management approval, which may result in a lengthier, more complex, and less predictable sales cycle and n
increase the risk that an order is delayed or not brought to completion. We may also encounter greater competitiog anesprioin

on these larger transactions, and our sales and delivery efforts may be more costly. The presence or absence of onger more
transactions in a particular period may have a material effect on our revenues and operating results for that periogantdimay
lower estimated revenues and earnings in future perfealsthe year ende®ecembeBl, 2022 our top three product licenses
transactions with recognized revenue total&éd Bmillion, or 15.1% of total product licenses revenues, comparekilth6 million, or
12.4%of total product licenses revenues, for the year ended Decemi29231,

Our offerings face intense competition, which may lead to lower prices for our offerings, reduced gross margins, loss @t mark
share, and reduced revenue

The analytics market is highly competitive and subject to rapidly changing technology. Withiralyicarspace, we compete with
many different software vendors, including IBM, Microsoft, Oracle, Qlik, Salesforce, and SAP. Our future success depands on ¢
ability to differentiate our offerings and successfully compete across analytics implementajgotspof varying sizes. Our ability to
compete successfully depends on a number of factors, both within and outside of our control. Some of these factoo$tivertade s
deployment options; analytical, mobility, data discovery, visualizatatificial intelligence, and machine learnimgpabilities;
performance and scalability; the quality and reliability of our customer service and support; and brand recognitiorio Eaihpete
successfully in any one of these or other areas may reduce thedl&maur offerings and materially adversely affect our revenue
from both existing and prospective customers.

Some of our competitors have longer operating histomese focused business strategiad significantly greater financial, technical,

and maketing resources than we do. As a result, they may be able to respond more quickly to new or emerging technologies
changes in customer requirements or devote greater resources to the development, promotion, sale, and marketingioftthianffe

we can, such as offering certain analytics products free of charge when bundled with other products. In addition, ntamypdtdors

have strong relationships with current and potential customers, extensive industry and specialized business kaowledge
corresponding proprietary technologies that they can leverage. As a result, they may be able to prevent us from pewedraiingts

or expanding existing accounts.

Increased competition may lead to price cuts, reduced gross margins, andasketfshare. The failure to compete successfully and
meet the competitive pressures we face may have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, andditiancial ¢

Current and future competitors may also make strategic acquisiticestablish cooperative relationships among themselves or with
others. By doing so, these competitors may increase their ability to meet the needs of our potential customers hydedioBzpags

and rapidly gain significant market share, whichilddimit our ability to obtain revenues from new customers and to sustain software
maintenance revenues from our installed customer base. In addition, basic office productivity software suites, sucofOfficeo
could evolve to offer advanced dysis and reporting capabilities that may reduce the demand for our analytics offerings.

Risks Related to Our Technology and Intellectual Property

If we are unable to develop and release new offerings and software enhancements to respond ttecypidlogical change, new
customer requirements, or evolving industry standards in a timely and-effsctive manner, our business, operating results, and
financial condition could be materially adversely affected

The market for our offerings is charadted by frequent new offerings and software enhancements in response to rapid technologice
change, new customer requirements, and evolving industry standards. The introduction of new or enhanced offeringg nsakquickl
existing ones obsolete. We lmle our future success depends largely on our ability to continue to support popular operating systen
and databases, maintain and improve our current offerings, rapidly develop new offerings and software enhancementgethat act
market acceptance, maiimtdechnological competitiveness, and meet an expanding range of customer requirements.

Analytics applications are inherently complex, and research and development can be costly and time consuming. In sitaitérs, cu
may delay their purchasing decistopecause they anticipate that new or enhanced versions of our offerings will soon become availab
or because of concerns regarding the complexity of migration or performance issues related to new offerings. We centiwtbe su
we will succeed in deveping, marketing, and delivering, on a timely and eftctive basis, new or enhanced offerings that will
achieve market acceptance. Moreover, even if our new offerings achieve market acceptance, we may experience a daulieg in rev
ofourexistngpf f eri ngs that is not fully matched by the new offer
shortfall and materially adversely affect our business, operating results, and financial condition.
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We depend on technology licensed ts by third parties, and changes in or discontinuances of such licenses could impair our
software, delay implementation of our offerings, or force us to pay higher licefess

We license thireparty technologies that are incorporated into or utilizedunyexisting offeringsThesdicensesnaybe terminategor

we maybeunable to license thirgharty technologies for future offerings. In addition, we may be unable to renegotiate acceptable third
party license terms, or we may be subject to infringertiablility if third-party technologies that we licenaee found to infringe
intellectual property rights of others. Changes inliscontinuancef third-party licenses could lead to a material increase in our costs
or to our offerings becoming inoperalde their performance being materially reduced. As a result, we may need to incur additional
development costs to help ensure continued performance of our offerings, and we may experience a decreased demaarihigs.our off

Changes in thirdparty softwae or systems or the emergence of new industry standards could materially adversely affect the
operation of and demand for our existing software

Thefunctionalities of our software depend in part on the ability of our software to interface with our cgstomer n f or mat i on
(Al To) infrastructure and cloud environments, incl whicharg so
supplied to our customers by various other vendors. When new or updated versions of thgmetyhsdftware or systems are
introduced, or new industry standards in related fields emerge, we may be required to develop updated versions of cerdattancem
our software to help ensure that it continues to effectively interoperate with our cugtomer§ i nfrastructur e an
new or modified operating systems are introduced or new web standards and technologies or new standards in the fiesd of data
access technology emerge that are incompatible with our software, developimest@imaintain the interoperability of our software

with our customersé6 I T infrastructure and c¢l oud envicesolinmen
we are unable to update our software in a timely mannergtiestively, or at all, the ability of our software to perform key functions
could be impaired, which may i mpact our customersoO sdheri sf ¢

claims, and materially adversely affect demand forsmftware

The nature of our software makes it particularly susceptible to undetected errors, bugs, or security vulnerabilities, whidltause
problems with how the software performs and, in turn, reduce demand for our software, reduce our reverlbsaal to litigation
claims against us

Despite extensive testing by us and our current and potential customers, we have in the past discovered software errses,usitgs
vulnerabilities(including the log4pnd SpringSheltulnerabiliieswhich surfaced in December 202td March 2022, respectivebnd
affected companies worldwidi) our offerings after commercial shipments began and they may be found in future offerings or release:
This could result in lost revenue, damage to our agmn, or delays in market acceptance, which could have a material adverse effect
on our business, operating results, and financial condition. We may also need to expend resources and capital teecdefectshié

they occur.

Our customer agreemergically contain provisions designed to limit our exposure to product liability, warranty, and other claims. It
is possible these provisions are unenforceable in certain domestic or international jurisdictions, and we may be exglostaintss
A successful claim against us could have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition

Our intellectual property is valuable, and any inability to protect it could reduce the value of our offerings and brand

Unauthorized third parties may try to copy or reverse engineer portions of our software or otherwise obtain and udectwalintel
property. Copyrights, patents, trademarks, trade secrets, confidentiality procedures, and contractual commitmentproaid@®nly
limited protection. Any intellectual property owned by us may be invalidated, circumvented, or challenged. Any of ourpduilire
intellectual property applications, whether or not currently being challenged, may not be issued with theessepk, if at all.
Moreover, amendments to and developing jurisprudence regarding U.S. and international law may affect our ability tauprotect «
intellectual property and defend against claims of infringement. In addition, although we generallytetarfidentiality agreements

with our employees and contractors, the confidential nature of our intellectual property may not be maintained. Furtihelaose,

of some countries do not provide the same level of protection of our intellectual prapeyttze laws of the United States. If we
cannot protect our intellectual property against unauthorized copying or use, we may not remain competitive

Third parties may claim we infringe their intellectual property rights

We periodically receive noticesaim third parties claiming we are infringing their intellectual property righte number of such
claimsmayincrease as we expand our offerings and branding, the number of offerings and level of competition in our industry gro
the functionality of offeings overlaps, and the volume of issued patents, patent applications, and copyright and trademark registratic
continues to increase. Responding to any infringement claim, regardless of its validity, could:

i be timeconsuming, costly, and/or result indiation;

i di vert managementés time and attention from developin
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i require us to pay monetary damages or enter into rogdlitsensing agreements that we would normally fimdcceptable;
require us to stop selling certain of our offerings;

i require us to redesign certain of our offerings using alternativeinfanging technology or practices, which could require
significant effort and expense;

i require us to rename certain of our offerings or entities; or

i require us to satisfy indemnificatiabligations to our customeos channel partners.

Additionally, while we monitor our use of thirgarty software, including opesource software, our processes for controlling such use

in our offerings may not be effective. If we fail to comply with t#ents or conditions associated with thpdrty software that we use,

if we inadvertently embed certain types of thjrarty software into one or more of our offerings, or if thpeatty software that we
license is found to infringe the intellectual progaights of others, we could subject ourselves to infringement liability and be required
to reengineer our offerings, discontinue the sale of our offerings, or make available to certain third parties or generbll;, availa
source code form, our proptary code, any of which could materially adversely affect our business, operating results, and financie
condition

If a successful infringement claim is made against us and we fail to develop or license a substitute technology or hrasd name
applicabe, our business, results of operations, financial condition, or cash flows could be materially adversely affected.

Risks Related to Our Operations

Business disruptions, including interruptions, delays, or failures of our systems, tpady data center hosting facility, or other
third-party servicesas a result of geopolitical tensions, acts of terrorism, natural disasters, pandemics (like the TQ¥I
pandemic), and similar eventspuld materially adversely affect our operating results or result in a material weakness in our internal
controls that could adversely affect the market price of our stock

A significant portion of our research and deysfent activities or certain other critical business operations are concentrated in facilities
in Northern Virginia, ChinaArgentina,and Poland. In addition, we serve our customers and manage certain critical internal processe
using a thirdparty data enter hosting facility located in the United States and other-glairty services, including AWSAzure,and

other cloud services. Any disruptions or failures of our systems or theptinitgl hosting facility or other services that we use, including

as aresult of a natural disaster, fire, cyberattdoicluding the potential increase in risk for such attacks due to cyberwarfare in
connection with the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraaaepf terrorism, geopolitical confli¢including due tolie ongoing
conflict between Russia and Ukraine and any potential conflict involving China and Tadaadgmic (including the ongoing COVID

19 pandemic), the effects of climate change, or other catastrophic event, as well as power outages, telecomsrinfrigstiiucture
outages, a decision by one of our thrarty service providers to close facilities that we use without adequate notice or to materially
change the pricing or terms of their services, host country restrictions on the conduct of aessbogarations or the availability of

our offerings, or other unanticipated problems waitit systems othe thirdparty services that we use, such as a failure to meet service
standards, could severely impact our ability to conduct our business ope@titmsattract new customers or maintain existing
customers, or result in a material weakness in our internal control over financial reporting, any of which could matesiakyya
affect our future operating results.

Our international operations are complex and expose us to risks that could have a material adverse effect on our busir@ssgop
results, and financial condition

We receive a significant portion of our total revenues from international sales anattcondbusiness activities in various foreign
countries, including some emerging markets where we have limited experience, where the challenges of conducting ccarbbsiness
significantly different from those we have faced in more developed marketsylare business practices may create internal control
risks. International revenues accounted40r2% 44.0% and41.9%of our total revenues for the years end#tembeBl, 2022,
2021, and 202Qespectively. Our international operations require fitanit management attention and financial resources and expose
us to additional risks, including:

1 fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates;

1 new, or changes in, regulatory requirements;

1 tariffs, export and import restrictions, restrictions on foreign investments, tax laws, sanctions, laws and policies theafav

competitors (such as mandatory technology transfers), and other trade barriers or protection measures;

1 compliance with a vwde variety of laws, including those relating to labor matters, antitrust, procurement and contracting,
consumer and data protection, privacy, data localization, governmental access to data, network security, and encryption;
costs of localizing offeringsral lack of acceptance of localized offerings;
difficulties in and costs of staffing, managing, and operating our international operations;

=a =4
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economic weakness or currena@lated crises;

generally longer payment cycles and greater difficulty in collecticguatts receivable;

weaker intellectual property protection;

increased risk of corporate espionage or misappropriation, theft, or misuse of intellectual property, particularly in foreig
countries where we have significant software development operatairisatie access to product source code, such as China;
our ability to adapt to sales practices and customer requirements in different cultures;

natural disasters, acts of war (including risks relating to the ongoing conflict between Russia and Ukraiyepatehtal
conflict involving China and Taiwan), terrorism, or pandemics (including the ongoing CQ¥tandemic); and

1 political instability and security risks in the countries where we are doing business, including, without limitatio) palitic
ecnomic instability caused by the current conflict between Russia and Ukraine and economic sanctions adopted in respo
to the conflict.

=A =4 =8 =4
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Disruptions to trade, weakening of economic conditions, economic and legal uncertainties, or changes in curreray adtessely

affect our business, financial condition, operating results, and cash fitidJnited States has put in place higher tariffs and other
restrictionson trade withChina, the European Union, Canada, and Mexico, among othtries, includirg limiting trade and/or
imposing tariffs on imports from such countries. In addition, China, the European Union, Canada, and Mexico, amongwvathers, h:
either threatened or put into place retaliatory tariffs of their own. These tariffs and any furttetrogsoéprotectionist trade measures
could adversely affect the markets in which we sell our offerings and, in turn, our business, financial condition, opsniisngnd

cash flows. It is unclear whether and to what extent such measures will beseslin the future or whether the Biden administration
will make additional changes to U.S. trade policy that may result in further impacts on our business.

Changes to the U.S. taxation of our international income, or changes in foreign tax laws, veuddnhaterial effect on our future
operating results. For example, the Tax Act led to corporate income tax rate changes, the modification or eliminatém t@ixcert
incentives, changes to the existing regime for taxing overseas earnings, and measevest®EPS, and the United Kingdom adopted
legislation imposing a tax related to offshore receipts in respect of intangible property held in low tax jurisdictions.

Moreover, compliance with foreign and U.S. laws and regulations thapplieable to our international operations is complex and may
increase our cost of doing business in international jurisdictions. Our failure to comply with these laws and regulatiposédsand

may in the future expose, us to fines and penaltiess@taws and regulations include dmibery laws, such as the U.S. Foreign
Corrupt Practices Act, the UK Bribery Act, local laws prohibiting corrupt payments to government officials, and locablawgstoe
procurement, contracting, and antitrust. 3&éaws and regulations also include import and export requirements and economic and trad
sanctions administered by the Office of Foreign Assets Control and the U.S. Department of Commerce based on U.S.dgraigh poli
national security goals againstrgeted foreign states, organizations, and individuals. Although we have implemented policies anc
procedures designed to help ensure compliance with these laws, our employees, channel partners, and other persons evitb whom
business may take actiomns violation of our policies or these laws. For example, following an internal review initiated in 2018, we
believe our Brazilian subsidiary failed or likely failed to comply with local procurement regulations in conducting buisimesgain
Brazilian government entities and these matters are the subject of investigation by Brazilian authorities. Any violation of these la
could subject us to civil or administrative penalties, including substantial fines, prohibitions, or other limitationsbititguo sell

our offerings to one or more countries, and could also materially damage our reputation and our brand.

These factors may have a material adverse effect on our future sales, business, operating results, and financial condition.

We face a variety forisks in doing business with U.S. and foreign federal, state, and local governments and government agencies,
including risks related to the procurement process, budget constraints and cycles, termination of contracts, and compithnce w
government contacting requirements

Our customers include the U.S. governmstatte and local governments and government agencies. There are a variety of risks in doin
business with government entities, including:

Procurement.Contracting with public sector customers is highly competitive and can betingiming and expensivequiring us
to incur significant ugront time and expense without any assurance that we will win a contract.

Budgetary Constraints and CycleBublic sector funding reductions or delays adversely impact demand and payment for our offerings
Terminationof Contracts.Public sector customers often have contractual or other legal rights to terminate contracts for convenience
due to a default. If a contract is terminated for convenience, we may only be able to collect fees for software oredmetiedgpdor

to termination and settlement expenses. If a contract is terminated due to a default, we may not recover even thosmadmeunts,
may be liable for excess costs incurred by the customer for procuring alternative software or services.
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Compliarce with Government Contracting RequiremerBovernment contractors are required to comply with a variety of complex
laws, regulations, and contractual provisions relating to the formation, administration, or performance of governmeéattbahggize

public sector customers substantial rights and remedies, many of which are not typical for commercial contracts. Thelselenay i
rights regarding price protection, the accuracy of information provided to the government, contractor compliance véttosonic
policies, and other terms unique to government contracts. Governments and government agencies routinely investigdate and :
contractors for compliance with these requirements. If, as a result of an audit or review, it is determined thafastechtveomply

with these requirements, we may be subject to civil and criminal penalties or administrative sanctions, including coitratabrie
forfeiture of profits, fines, and suspensions or debarment from future government business andsuféemagrm to our reputation.

Our customers also include foreign governments and government agencies. Similar procurement, budgetary, contraatskad audit
also apply to these entities. In addition, compliance with complex regulations and cogpaatiisions in a variety of jurisdictions

can be expensive and consume significant management resources. In certain jurisdictions, our ability to win businessstrainbd

by political and other factors unrelated to our competitive position imtémet. Each of these difficulties could materially adversely
affect our business and results of operations.

If we are unable to recruit or retain skilled personnel, or if we lose the servicadiohael J. Saylor our business, operating results,
and financial condition could be materially adversely affected

Our future success depends on our continuing ability to attract, train, assimilate, and retain highly skilled pecsompetition for
gualified employees in the technology industry has histoyidadlen highand may bdurther amplified by evolving restrictions on
immigration, travel, or availability of visas for skilled technology workers, including restrictions imposed in respbies€e @AD-19
pandemic. We may not be able to retain our ctikey employees or attract, train, assimilate, and retain other highly skilled personnel
in the future Our future success also depends in large part on the continued service of Michael J. Saylor, our Chairman of the Boart
DirectorsandExecutiveChairman If we lose the services of Mr. Saylor, or if we are unable to attract, train, assimilate, and retain the
highly skilled personnel we need, our business, operating results, and financial condition could be materially advetestly affe

Changes in lawr regulations relating to privacy or the collection, processing, disclosure, storage, localization, or transmission of
personal data, or any actual or perceived failure by us or our thjrarty service providers to comply with such laws and regulations,
contractual obligations, or applicable privacy policies, could materially adversely affect our business

Aspectsof our business involve collecting, processing, disclosing, storing, and transmitting personal data, which are sulbgéat to cer
privacy polices, contractual obligations, and U.S. and foreign laws, regulations, and directives relating to privacy and data protectic
We store a substantial amount of customer and employee data, including personal data, on our networks and other $ystdmd and t
environments we manage. In addition, the types of data subject to protection as personal data in the Europ€amatienUnited
States, and elsewhere have been expanding. In recent years, the collection and use of persorairdpémibg have come under
increased regulatory and public scrutiny, especially in relation to the collection and processing of sensitive datagesitblcaas,

bi ometri c, genetic, financi al servi cas,gaardd nghial dreemrsbosn 6at
political opinions, or religious beliefs. For example, in the United States, protected health information is stitgddetdth Insurance
Portability and Accountwhizh chn ptoye fé cidil and Erimihad peréalties forthbnPompliante. Entities

(such as us) that engage in creating, receiving, maintaining, or transmitting protected health information provideddbgntiiese
and other business associates are subject to enforcentetHIPAA. Our access to protected health information triggers obligations
to comply with certain privacy rules and data security requirements under HIPAA

Any systems failure or security breach that results in the release of, or unauthorizetbapegsenal data, or any failure or perceived
failure by us or our thirgbarty service providers to comply with applicable privacy policies, contractual obligations, or any applicable
laws or regulations relating to privacy or data protection, couldtresproceedings against us by domestic or foreign government
entities or others, including private plaintiffs in litigation. Such proceedings could result in the imposition of saiiméisngenalties,
liabilities, government orders, and/or ordersuieiqg that we change our data practices, any of which could have a material adverse
effect on our business, operating results, reputation, and financial condition.

Various U.Sand foreign government bodies may enact new or additional laws or regulati@ssje rulings that invalidate prior laws

or regulations, concerning privacy, data storage, data protection, andbordss transfer of data that could materially adversely impact
our business. In the European Unitite GDPR took effect in May 2018GDPR establishes requirements regarding the handling and
security of personal data, requires disclosure of data breaches to individuals, customers, and data protection authdaiies in
circumstances, requires c o nspeatngte theirpersorfalaatay permisadguaatoss tolinjpese fines of

up to 020,000,000 or 4% of global annual revenue, whanew eve
ePrivacy Regulation, regulating electronic conmigations, was proposed in 2017 and is under consideration by the European
Commi ssion, the European Parliament, and the EuropeamUGqgun

invalidated the U.SEU Privacy Shield in July 2020The U.S-EU Privacy Shield provided a mechanism to lawfully transfer personal
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data from the European Union to the United States and certain other countries. In the wake of the invalidation € theti&cy
Shield, we have transitioned to reliameen t he EU St andard Contractual Cl auses (f
from the European Union to the United States. The rules involving this alternative data transfer option are also urelésgwirand

this transfer mechanism maiso be declared invalid (or require us to change our business practices) in the future, requiring us to provi
an alternative means of data transfier.addition, the required terms for contracts containing SCCs along with recommended
supplemental progions are changing and may require us to assume additional obligations, otherwise inhibit or restrict our ability
undertake certain activities, or incur additional costs related to data protection.

In addition, in June 2021, the European Data Prote@ionar d ( AEDPBO0) i ssued a new set of
measures to ensure compliance with the EU data protection requirements when transferring personal data outside of the Euro
Economic Area (the 0 EbemhBw SRETaE meuEreddode in macesfar hew transfers of personal data as of
September 27, 2021 and to replace those being used for existing transfers of personal data by Decembértizrn2@?2CCs place
obligations on us in relation to government authoritiesa c cess requests in respect ,andotheer s c
obligations to bring the SCCs in line with the requirements of the GDRB EDPB Recommendations are designed to be read in
tandem with the new SCCs and set out new requénts for organizations to assess third countries and identify appropriate
supplementary data protection and security measures to be implemented ohyazsebasis where needed.

Moreover, due to Brexit, the SCCs issued by the European Commissinn bmeger automatically adopted in the United Kingdom
postBr ex i t . I n response, the UKO6s I nformation Commi ssionerd
which adapts the new EU SCCs for UK use. In the alternative, the IC(pualtdished the international data transfer agreement
(Al DTAOQ) . The I DTA replaces the current set of SCCs being
put before UK parliament, have been in force as of March 2022 arbldd&d orgaizations were required to start using the UK IDTA

or Addendum for new data transfer arrangements starting in September 2022,

The rules involving thsealternative SCC data transfer opt@re continually undergoing revision an@setransfer mechanissmay

also be declared invalid (or require us to change our business practices) in the future, requiring us to provide e aitanatof

data transfer or implement significant changes in our data security and protection practices. In additionreti¢eeqs for contracts
containing SCCs along with recommended supplemental provisions are changing and may require us to assume additiong| obligat
otherwise inhibit or restrict our ability to undertake certain activities, or incur additional etzdtdrto data protection.

Similar requirements are also coming into force i n mliner c
Gener al Data Protection Lawo), which bec argel similartoécGDRRion mroducts A
and services offered to users in Brazil. In China, we may also be subject to the Cybersecurity Law that went intaiefe2®17 And

the revision of the Personal Information Security Specification that went intt eff©ctober 2020, which have broad but uncertain
application and impose a number of new privacy and data security obligations. China also adopted new legislation atidheoprote
privacy and personal data in November 2021, including the Personahhtfon Protection Lawy i P | &d DaYa Security Law that
impose new data processing obligations on us. Under these new regulations, if an entity operating in China violatesgihletans,

may order it to take corrective actions, issue warningsjsuaié illegal income, suspend services, revoke operating permits or business
licenses, or issue a fine. The fine can be up t o i@l yeai | | i

Further, in connection with crodsrder transfer of personal information under the PIPL in China, China regulators published the Draft
Rules on Standard Contracts Regarding Export of Personal Information and, under the PIPL, the adoption of standartictansextua
between the data contier (the entity which transfers personal information to a location outside the PRC) and the offshore recipient i
required to lawfully facilitate the offshore transfer of personal information from China. These requirements apply tcescoppaating

in China and seeking to transfer personal data outside of China and organizations which do not satisfy these conditicegumey be r
to satisfy additional regulatory requirements and/or be subject to penalties or fines.

Other countries are considering newexpanded laws governing privacy and data security that may impact our business practices
These developments, including Brazil andChina, may impact our activities with our customers, other MicroStrategy entities and
vendors, and require us to takeditional andappropriate steps in light of data transfers between the U.S. and the EU (and the UK), a:
well as transfers and onward transfers of personal data from the EU to otHeUramuntries.

State privacy laws in the United States also may immadbusiness operatioriEhestate of California has also adopted a comprehensive
privacy | aw, the California Consumer Privacy Act (ACORPOAOJ) ,
We may be required to devote substangaburces to implement and maintain compliance with the CCPA, and noncompliance could
result in regulatory investigations and fines or private litigation. Moreover, in November 2020, California voters apjprixesc a

law, the California Privacy Rights Ac ( A CPRAOQ) , whi c h a madditibsalprivéce rigi@sCaRdAobligationscim e a
California, andwventinto effecton Januaryl, 2023. Virginia, Colorado, Utah, and Connecticut have passed laws similar to the CCPA,
all of which go into effect in 2023, and several other states are considering bills similar to the CCPA or other gepkcaliyeap
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privacy laws that may impose additial costs and obligations on us. In March 2022, the U.S. federal government also passed the Cyb
Incident Reporting for Critical Infrastructure Act of 2022, which will require companies deemed to be part of U.S.ndragtalicture

to report any sultantial cybersecurity incidents or ransom payments to the federal government within 72 and 24 hours, respective
The implementing regulations are not expected for anothetduliree years.

Furthermore, the U.S. Congress is considering comprehensiaeytegislation. At this time, it is unclear whether Congress will pass
such a law and if so, when and what it will require and prohibit. Moreover, it is not clear whether any such legisl&digiverthe
Federal Trade Commi s orityaonimppse EVIl geaajtiesdonwolatiores wf tha Eetlenal Trade Commission Act in
the first instance, whether Congress will grant the FTC rulemaking authority over privacy and information security, oCshgtiess

will vest some or all privacy angdata security regulatory authority and enforcement power in a new agency, akin to EU data protectiol
authorities.

Complying with these and other changing requirements could cause us or our customers to incur substantial costs ontggy subst:
fines or paalties, require us to change our business practices, require us to take on more onerous obligations in our contitacts, or
our ability to provide certain offerings in certain jurisdictions, any of which could materially adversely affect ourdoansirsgserating
results. New laws or regulations restricting or limiting the collection or use of mobile data could also reduce dereaaihfof our
offerings or require changes to our business practices, which could materially adversely affechess laul operating results.

If we or our third-party service providers experience a disruption due to a cybersecurity attack or security breach and unauthorized
parties obtain access to our cust omer s 0ata, oprmeveorkeoc dtheréystermseon d o
the cloud environments we manage, our offerings may be perceived as not being secure, our reputation may be harmed, demand fi
our offerings may be reduced, our operations may be disrupted, we may incur significgat dnd financial liabilities, and our
business could be materially adversely affected

As part of our business, we process, store, and trwelhassout o
own, including in our networksnal other systems and the cloud environments we manage. Security breaches may occur due
technological error, computer viruses, or thrarty action, including intentional misconduct by computer hackers or state actors,
physical breakns, industrial espnage, fraudulent inducement of employees, customers, or channel partners to disclose sensiti
information such as user names or passwords, and employee, customer, or channel partner error or malfeasance. Actecouly brea
result in unauthorized ace ss to or disclosur e, modi ficati on, mi suse, I o
channel partnersé dat a, our data (including our prkoopotheret ar
systemsgpr the cloud environments we manage. Third parties may also conduct attacks designed to prevent access to critical dat
systems through ransomware or temporarily deny customers access to our cloud environments.

We, and our service providers, mayperience anthave experienced attempts by third parties to identify and exploit software and
service vulnerabilities, penetrate or bypass our sesewicei ty
provider so6 c bk oetvbrkse and otleo systems Security measures that we or oupattirdservice providers have
implemented may not be effective against all current or future security thredtsling any potential threats from the exploitation of
the log4jor SprirgShellvulnerabililes Because there are many different security breach techniques and such technigues continue

evolve, we may be unable to anticipate, detect, or mitigate attempted security breaches and implement adequate pressuatatve m

Any security breach, ransomware attack, or successful denial of service attack could result in a loss of customer confidence in
security of our offerings and damage to our brand, reduce the demand for our offerings, disrupt our normal business ogeliegion

us to spend material resources to investigate or correct the breach, require us to notify affected customers or indfeidapjdieable
regulators and others, provide identity theft protection services to individuals, expose us to leg#djaibidiluding litigation,
regulatory enforcement, and indemnity obligations, and materially adversely affect our revenues and operating resaftevai@ur s
operates in conjunction with and is dependent on4béndy products and components acrossoadh ecosystem. If there is a security
vulnerability in one of these products or components, and if there is a security exploit targeting it, we could face cuztsaiability
claims, customer dissatisfaction, reduced revenue, or harm to ourti@potacompetitive position.

These risks will increase as we continue to grow the number and scale of our cloud subscriptions and process, st@mitand trar
increasingly |l arge amounts of our cust owredata dn pargcula, snengettisond ,
with the COVID19 pandemi@nd recent geopolitical conflictdhere has been an increase in cyberattacks and other malicious activities
as remote working conditions have led businesses to increasingly rely onemtiraihments and communication systems.

We face risks related to the COVHD9 pandemic that could significantly disrupt or materially adversely affect our business and
operating results

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a significant adverse impagfiayal commercial activity and has created significant volatility in
financial markets. Government recommendations and requirermayt€ontinue tahange, and we may not be able to immediately
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respond to, meet or enforce all required health and safetsumesar other government requiremeisall of our locations. There is
significant uncertainty around the impaxtthe COVID-19 pandemic, and the measures enacted to addresstlite global economy

and consumer confidencA.resurgence o€0VID-19 or its variants, and the implementation of new restrictions to address any such
resurgencecould have a significanadverse impact on economic and market conditions and trigger a period of prolonged global
economic slowdown, which could decrease technolpgyding, adversely affect demand for our offerings, and harm our business and
operating results.

Although our total revenues for the year enBesttembe1, 2022were not materially impacted by COWAD9, our revenues may be
negatively impacted in future geds until the effects of the pandengind the efforts to addresshiave fully subsided and the current
macroeconomic environment has substantially recovered. The uncertainty related to-C®DVHY also result in increased volatility
in the financial pojections we use as the basis for estimates and assumptions used in our financial statements

The full extent to which COVID19 mayimpact our business and operating results will depend on future developments, including the
potential reccurrence of the OVID-19 pandemi¢cand theduration, spread, severity, and impatsuch recurrencen our customers

and our sales cycles, our ability to generate new business leads, our customer, employee, and industry events, ansl allrofendor
which are highly unertain and cannot be predicted

Our having entered into indemnification agreements with Michael J. Saylor, our Chairman of the Board of Directors and Executi
Chairman, that supplement our conventional director and officer liability insurance providedtyd-party insurance carriers could
negatively affect our business and the market price of our class A common stock

Due to market trends toward higher premiums and the novelty of our bitcoin acquisition strategyeweable to obtaimur desired
covelage level fodirector and officer liability insurandeom commercial carrieren acceptable terms, and in lieu of such insurance
from June 2021 through June 2022, and as a supplemearhioercial carrier coverage we were able to oliieginning in Jun2022

we have entered into indemnificati@yreemerst with Michael J. Saylor, ouChairman of the Board of Directors and Executive
Chairman pursuant to which Mr. Sayldras agreed to personally indemnify our directors and officers with respect to elaims
expenses substantially similar to thagpically covered under conventional director and officer insurance potwigge extent such
claims and expenses are not covered by insurance provided by commercial, darneinich we agreed to pay Mr. Saylgpdicable
fees. Our havingentered into such indemnification agreensemith Mr. Saylor could have adverse effeots our business, including
making it more difficult to attract and retagualified directors and officers due to the unconventional nature of the arrangement and
potential concerns that the indemnificatemmangement might not provide the same levelofgetion that might otherwise be provided
by coverage obtained entirely througbnventional director and officémnsurance. In additiomgur indemnity arrangements with Mr.
Saylormay result in some investors perceiving that our independent directorstasefficientlyindependent from Mr. Saylor due to
their entitlement to personal indemnification from him, which may have an adverse effectnoarkie¢ price of our class A common
stock.

Volatile and significantly weakened global economic conditionssban the past and may in the future adversely affect our industry,
business and results of operations

Our overall performance depends in part on worldwide economic and geopolitical conditions. The United States and other |
international economies haveperienced significant economic and market downturns recently characterized by restricted credit, poc
liquidity, reduced corporate profitability, volatility in credit, equity and foreign exchange markets, inflation, bankrapitieverall
uncertainty wih respect to the economy. In addition, geopolitical and domestic political developments, such as existing and potent
trade wars and other events beyond our control, such as conflict in the Ukraine, can increase levels of political amd econo
unpredid¢ability globally and increase the volatility of global financial markets. Moreover, these conditions have affected and ma
continue to affect the rate of I T spending; coul dortmpuxkases e |
our software and service offerings; have delayed and may delay customer purchasing decisions; have reduced and mag in the f
reduce the value and duration of customer subscription contracts; and we expect these conditions will adversely afsécmer
attrition rates. All of these risks and conditions could materially adversely affect our future sales and operating results.

Risks Related to Our Class A Common Stock
The market price of our class A common stock has been and may continue tolatile

The market price of our class A common stbealshistorically been volatile anthis volatility has been significant in recent periods.
Since August 11, 2020, the date on which we announced our initial purchase of bitcoin, the closing prictas$ @& common stock
has increased from $123.62 of August 10, 2020, the last trading day before our announcemer2984®as ofFebruary 15, 2023
The market price of our class A common stock may fluctuate widely in response to V¥adtmus, some of which are beyond our
control. These factors include, but are not limited to:
1 fluctuations in the price of bitcoin, of which we have significant holdings, and in which we expect we will continue to make
significant purchasesndannouncements about our transactions in bitcoin;
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changes to our bitcoin acquisition strategy;

announcement of additional capital raising transactions;

regulatory, commercial and technical developments related to bitcoin Bittleen blockchain;

guarterlyvariations in our results of operations or those of our competitors;

announcements about our earnings that are not in line with analyst expectations, the likelihood of which may be enhant
because it is our policy not to give guidance relating to oucipated financial performance in future periods;

announcements by us or our competitors of acquisitions, dispositions, new offerings, significant contracts, commerci
relationships, or capital commitments;

our ability to develop, market, and deliver nemd enhanced offerings on a timely basis;

commencement of, or our involvement in, litigation;

recommendations by securities analysts or changes in earnings estimates and our ability to meet those estimates;

investor perception of our Company;

announcementsy our competitors of their earnings that are not in line with analyst expectations;

the volume of shares of our class A common stock available for public sale;

sales or purchases of stock by us or by our stockholders and issuances of awards und&rincestiove plan; and

general economic conditions and slow or negative growth of related markets, including as a result of thd €@afi@emic.

=A =4 =4 =4 =4

==

=8 =4 =4 =4 -8 -8 -89

In addition, the stock market and the masket both bitcoirinfluenced andechnology companies haexperienced extreme price
and volume fluctuations that have often been unrelated or disproportionate to the operating performance of companieariketisose
These market and industry factors may seriously harm the market price of our class A cormmkyorgaiodless of our actual operating
performance.

Because of the rights of our two classes of common stock and because we are controlled by Michael J. Saylor, who beoefitsally
the majority of our class B common stock, Mr. Saylor could transfer cohtsf MicroStrategy to a third party without the approval
of our Board of Directors or our other stockholders, prevent a third party from acquiring us, or limit the ability of ouemth
stockholders to influence corporate matters

We have two classes of comon stock: class A common stock and class B common stock. Holders of our class A common stoc
generally have the same rights as holders of our class B common stock, except that holders of class A common stocktkgyer one v
share while holders of claBscommon stock have ten votes per share. Asetiuary 2, 2023here arel,964,025shares of class B
common stocloutstandingwhich accounts for approximateBy.24 of the total voting powesf our outstanding common staclds

of February 2, 2023Mr. Saylor, our Chairman of the Board of DirectarglExecutiveChairman beneficially owned.,961,668&hares

of class B common stock, 67.1% of the total voting power. Accordingly, Mr. Saylor can control MicroStrategy through his ability to
determine tk outcome of elections of our directors, amend our certificate of incorporationdaddand take other actions requiring

the vote or consent of stockholders, including mergers, gmiivgte transactions, and other extraordinary transactions andettmes:.

Our certificate of incorporation allows holders of class B common stock to transfer shares of class B common stocky thebject t
approval of stockholders holding a majority of the outstanding class B common stock. Mr. Saylor could, withopitotved af our

Board of Directors or our other stockholders, transfer voting control of MicroStrategy to a third party. Such a traosteslafould

have a material adverse effect on our business, operating results, and financial condition. McoB&lalso prevent a change of
control of MicroStrategy, regardless of whether holders of class A common stock might otherwise receive a premiumtfaretheir s
over the then current market price. In addition, this concentrated control limits stocklsoldle abi | i ty t o i nfl uen
as a result, we may take actions that our-comtrolling stockholders do not view as beneficial or that conflict with their interests. As
a result, the market price of our class A common stock could beiatigtadversely affected.

Our status as a fAcontrolled companyo could make our cidlgass
adversely affect our stock price

Because we qualify as Hasdagcaporate golelnande rues, we aren notorequireddtae have independent
directors comprise a majority of our Board of Directors. Additionally, our Board of Directors is not required to havepandede
compensation or nominating committee or to have thegaddent directors exercise the nominating function. We are also not required
to have the compensation of our executive officers be determined by a compensation committee of independent direditos, In ad
we are not required to empower our Compensdafiommittee with the authority to engage the services of any compensation consultants
legal counsel, or other advisors, or to have the Compensation Committee assess the independence of compensatioregaisultants
counsel, and other advisors thatrigages.

In light of our status as a controlled company, our Board of Directors has determined not to establish an independéng nomina
committee or have its independent directors exercise the nominating function and has elected instead to havetidirBoand be
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directly responsible for nominating members of the Bodtanajority of our Board of Directors is currently comprised of independent
directors, and our Board of Directors has established a Compensation Committee comprised entirelemdenteirectors. The
Compensation Committee determines the compensation of our Chief Executive Officer and will also determine the compensation of
Executive ChairmanHowever, our Board of Directors has authorized our Chief Executive Officer torde¢ethe compensation of
executive officers other than himself and the Executive Chairman, exceptghisigbased compensatiois determined by the
Compensation Committeedwards made to directors and officers subject to Section 16 of the Exchangadéctte 2013 Equity

Plan are also approved by the Compensation Commiftdditionally, while our Compensation Committee is empowered with the
authority to retain and terminate outside counsel, compensation consultants, and other experts or carisultatnsguired to assess
their independence.

Although currently a majority of our Board of Directors is comprised of independent directors and the Compensation Cismmittee
comprised entirely of independent directors, we may elect in the future not to have independent directors constitute @f thajori
Board of Directors or the Compensation Committee, our ExecOtivea i r man 6 Exandt CheeOf fi cer 86s co
by a compensation committee of independent directors, or a compensation committee of the Board of Directors at all.

Accordingly, should the interests of our controlling stockholder differ from those of other stockholders, the other stoakiaglderts

have the same protections that are afforded to stockholders of companies that are required to follow Alasdabeorporate
governance rules. Our status as a controlled company could make our class A common stock less attractive to some investo
otherwise materially adversely affect our stock price.

Future sales, or the perception of future sales, of our class A comrstock, convertible debt instruments or other convertible
securities could depress the price of our class A common stock

We may issue and sell additional shares of class A common stock, convertible notes, or other securities in subseqett rfberin
capital or issue shares for other purposes, including in connection with the acquisition of additionalFmtcexamplethrough the

date of this report we have sold@6 million of shares of class A common stock, amel may sell class A common stohaving an
aggregate offering price of up &m additional 8$53.4million from time to time throughCowen and Company LLC and BTIG, LLC,

as agents (the 2022 Sales Agentso) wunder t he whBhathe2022Salesr e e
Agentson September 9, 2022. We cannot predict

9 the size of future issuances of equity sdms;
1 the size and terms of future issuances of convertible debt instruments or other convertible securities
1 the effect, if any, that future issuances and sales of our securities will have on the marketoanicéaes A common stock.

Transactiongnvolving newly issued class A common stpc&nvertible debt instrumentsr other convertible securities could result in
possibly substantialilution to holders of our class A common stock.

Our amended and restated #gws provide that the Court of Charery of the State of Delaware (or, if the Court of Chancery of the
State of Delaware does not have jurisdiction, then any other state court located in the State of Delaware, or if no stateceded

within the State of Delaware has jurisdiction, thederal district court for the District of Delaware) is the exclusive forum for certain
l'itigation that may be initiated by our stockhol deiasfaqrumwhi c
for such disputes with us or our tictors, officers or employees

Our amended and restated-lays provide that, unless we consent in writing to the selection of an alternative forum, the Court of
Chancery of the State of Delaware (or, if the Court of Chancery of the State of Delawanetdwese jurisdiction, then any other state
court located in the State of Delaware, or if no state court located within the State of Delaware has jurisdictionaltdéstadiecourt

for the District of Delaware) shall, to the fullest extent permitigdaw, be the sole and exclusive forum for (i) any derivative action or
proceeding brought on behalf of the Company, (ii) any action asserting a claim of breach of a fiduciary duty owed bgtany dire
officer, other employee or stockholder of the Compant o t he Company or the Companyds sto
arising pursuant to any provision of the General Caompgalionat i
or by-laws (in each case, as they nisyamended from time to time), or (iv) any action asserting a claim governed by the internal affairs
doctrine. This exclusive forum provision would not apply to suits brought to enforce a duty or liability created by tmg&xXaia

which provides for xclusive jurisdiction of the federal courts. It could apply, however, to a suit that falls within one or more of the
categories enumerated in the choice of forum provision and asserts claims under the Securities Act, inasmuch as Sebgon 22 o
Securities Act creates concurrent jurisdiction for federal and state courts over all suits brought to enforce any duty or &aléy cr

by the Securities Act or the rules and regulations thereunder. There is uncertainty as to whether a court would ergooessisuch

with respect to claims under the Securities Act, and our stockholders will not be deemed to have waived our compliaadedeithl t
securities laws and the rules and regulations thereunder.
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The choice of forum provision may limita stockheld 6 s abi |l ity to bring a claim in a |
with us or our directors, officers or other employees, which may discourage such lawsuits against us and our direntoes)ffiber
employees. Alternatively, if aourt were to find the choice of forum provision contained in our amended and restdd®ds lig be
inapplicable or unenforceable in an action, we may incur additional costs associated with resolving such action isdittemjri

Risks Related to Qur Outstanding and Potential Future Indebtedness

Our level and terms of indebtedness could adversely affect our ability to raise additional capital to further execute bitcoim
acquisition strategy, fund our enterprise analytics software operatioms take advantage of new business opportunities

As of DecembeBl, 2022 we had$2.4 billion aggregate indebtedness, consisting of $650.0 million aggregate principal amount of
0. 750% Convertible Senior Not es d uilton&yfr&gate principatamdiudt@fD% Cdabeertiblee r
Senior Notes due 2027 (the f2027 Convertible Noteso, 0and
$500.0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.125% Senior Secured Naes @0 28 (t he 2028 Secured
outstanding borrowings under a secured term |l oan (the A20
bet ween our MacroStrategy subsi di airtyy afmgdr eBs $l@netitliag) aftother Brgn k  (
term indebtedness

Our substantial indebtedness and interest expense could have important consequences to us, including:

91 limiting our ability to use a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations in other areas of our business, ifwcluding
acquisition of additioal bitcoin, working capital, research and development, expanding our infrastructure, capital expenditures
and other general business activities and investment opportunities in our company, because we must dedicate a subste
portion of these funds taay interest on and/or service our debt;

9 limiting our ability to obtain additional financing in the future for acquisition of additional bitcoin, working capitéglcap
expenditures, debt service, acquisitions, execution of our strategy, and otheesxgeansestments planned by us;

1 limiting our flexibility and our ability to capitalize on business opportunities and to react to competitive pressurecesed ad
changes in government regulation, our business, and our industry;

9 increasing our vulnerality to a downturn in our business and to adverse economic and industry conditions generally;

1 placing us at a competitive disadvantage as compared to our competitors that are less leveraged; and

9 limiting our ability, or increasing the costs, to refinance indebtedness.

We may be unable to service our indebtedness, which could cause us to defaaltratebt obligations and could force us into
bankruptcy or liquidation

Our ability to make scheduled payments on and to refinance our indebtedness depends on and is subject to our finagreitthgnd op
performance, which is influenced, in part, by gah@conomic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory, counterparty business,
and other risks that are beyond our control, including the availability of financing in the U.S. banking and capital ifnauketash

flows and capital resources amsifficient to fund our debt service obligations, we may be forced to reduce or delay capital expenditure:
sell assets, seek additional capital, or restructure or refinance our indebtedness. We cannot assure you that futge vitlrtuevin
available tous in an amount sufficient to enable us to service our indebtedness, to refinance our indebtedness, or to fund our o
liquidity needs. Even if refinancing indebtedness is available, any refinancing of our indebtedness could be at higheatesand

may require us to comply with more onerous covenants that could further restrict our business operations. In additiooinour bi
acquisition strategy anticipates that we may issue additional debt in future periods to finance additional purcitasies fitaf we

are unable to generate sufficient cash flow to service our debt and make necessary capital expenditures, we may loesadhjuired t
bitcoin. These alternative measures may not be successful and may not permit us to meet our scheskreidelebtigations or our
financial covenants, which could cause us to default on our debt obligations. In addition, any failure to make paynenest @it
principal on our outstanding indebtedness on a timely basis would likely result in agedaur credit rating, which could harm our
ability to incur additional indebtedness.

Upon the occurrence of an event of default wunder ansscalfl Mi
elect to declare all the fundsowed to be due and payable, together with accrued and unpaid interest and, in the case of our 20.
Secured Notes, enforce their security interests ormguarantors,t an
but excluding Hcoins that are currently owned by our MacroStrategy subsidiary or acquired by MacroStrategy in future periods i
transactions permitted by the terms of the 2028 Secured Notes. Similarly, upon the occurrence of an event of defaellCuedier th
and Searity Agreement, the lender thereunder could elect to declare all outstanding loan principal under the 2025 Secured Term L
to be due and payable, together with accrued and unpaid interest, and enforce its security interest on the $5.0 neflexecastount

and the bitcoin held in the account securing the borrowings under the Credit and Security Agreement. Any of these dverntsrtoul
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result in crosslefaults under our other indebtedness. We may not have sufficient funds available toapayuhts due upon any such
default, particularly in the event that there has been a decrease in the market value of our bitcoin holdings, and vbe bl ot
raise additional funds to pay such amounts on a timely basis, on terms we find accepahle, Any financing that we may undertake
under such circumstances could result in substantial dilution of our existing stockholders, and in the absence oftbahtpabiich
financing, we could be forced into bankruptcy or liquidation.

The indenture governing our 2028 Secured Notes imposes significant operating and financial restrictions on us and certain restricted
subsidiaries of ours, which may prevent us from capitalizing on business opportunities

The indenture governing our 2028 Securedddomposes significant operating and financial restrictions on us and certain designatec
restricted subsidiaries of ours. These restrictions limit our ability, and the ability of such restricted subsidiames\g@tler things:

incur or guarantee ddional debt or issue disqualified stock or certain preferred stock;

create or incur liens;

pay dividends, redeem stock, or make certain other distributions;

make certain investments;

create restrictions on the ability of our restricted subsidiasi@ay dividends to us or make other intercompany transfers;
transfer or sell assets;

merge or consolidate; and

enter into certain transactions with affiliates.
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As a result of these restrictions, we are limited as to how we conduct our business amndheeumable to raise additional indebtedness

or conduct equity financing to compete effectively or to take advantage of new business opportunities. The terms okany futl
indebtedness we may incur could include more restrictive covenants. We canrnoyasghat we will be able to maintain compliance
with these covenants in the future and, if we fail to do so, that we will be able to obtain waivers from the lendersthearoeedants.

Our failure to comply with the restrictive covenants descriletl@, as well as other terms of our indebtedness or the terms of any
future indebtedness from time to time could result in an event of default, which, if not cured or waived, could reshdig caquired

to repay these borrowings before their duee @datd/or face insolvency proceedings. If we are forced to refinance these borrowings on
less favorable terms or cannot refinance these borrowings, our results of operations and financial condition couldipeffektecte

We may be required to repalye 2028 Secured Notes prior to their stated maturity date, if the springing maturity feature is triggered

The 2028 Secured Notes have a stated maturity date of June 15, 2028, but include a springing maturity feature thahwiitatecse
maturity dateto spring ahead to the date tha{i)s91 days prior to the existing maturity date of the 2025 Convertible Notes (which is
September 15, 2025()jj) 91 days prior to the existing maturity datetbé 2027 Convertible Notes (which is November 16, 2026), or
(iii) the maturity date of any future convertible debt that we may issue that is then outstanding, unless on such dates wifiedeet spe
liquidity requirements or less than $100,000,000 of aggeeprincipal amount of the 2025 Convertible Notes, the 2027 Convertible
Notes, or such future convertible debt, as applicable, remains outstalidingh springing maturity feature is triggered, we will be
required to pay all amousibutstanding undethe 2028 Secured Notes sooner than they would otherwise be due, we may not have
sufficient funds available to pay such amounts at that time, and we may not be able to raise additional funds to payrgeanamno
timely basis, on terms we find acceptaldeat all.

Our MacroStrategy subsidiary has no independent operations other than holding bitcoin and financing activities and willdlepen
cash contributions from usnd/or sales of bitcoito meet its obligations under the Credit and Security Agreenpmsuant towhich
the 2025SecuredTerm Loan was issued

Our MacroStrategy subsidiaprimarily holdsbitcoin, a$5.0 million cash reserve accourgld as collateral for the 2025 Secured Term
Loan and certain cash proceeds retained from the 2025 Secured Term\kadBecember 312022 MacroStrategy had no operations
other thampurchasing antiolding bitcoin and those related to the administration and repayment of the loan principal outstadding
interest due under the Credit and Security Agreement. MacroStiatedggcipal sources of funds to make payments pursuant to the
Credit and Security Agreement are capital contributions, loans or other cash payments from us, which may be rasgictacebhgants
governing the 2028 Secured Ngtand sales of bitcoin, which in turn may be restricted due to the requirement in the Credit and Securit
Agreement requiring MacroStrategy to maintain the LTV Ratio below 50%. Accordingly, MacroStrateggpthaye sufficient funds
available to pay amountsvedunder the Credit and Security Agreement when they become due, and MacroStrategy and we may n
be able to raise additional funds to pay such amounts on a timely basis, on termsaegedindble, or at all.
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MacroStrategyhas contributedand mayin the future be required to contribute additional bitcoin to the collateral package securing
the 2025 Secured Term Loaor repay certain amounts outstanding thereunder prior to its stated magutate, if the value of bitcoin
declines

The Credit and Security Agreement has a stated maturity date of March 23, 2025, but includes a requirement that MaorafBtaitegy

an LTV Ratio of less tharb0% As a result, MacroStrategy is required to mamtaore than $410.0 million of bitcoin in the account
securing the2025 Secured Term Loamder the Credit and Security Agreement, assuming the full $205.0 million aggregate principal
amount of the 2025 Secured Term Loan remains outstariflitge price é bitcoin drops such that the LTV Ratemuals orexceeds

50%, MacroStrategwill be required to either deposit additional bitcoin into such account or prepay a portior262th8ecured Term
Loansuch that the LTV Ratio is reduced to 25% or less (or 86%ss, provided that in such case the interest rate @0ftteSecured

Term Loanwill be increased by 25 basis points until such time as the LTV Ratio is reduced to 25% dbigg%).2022,as the price

of bitcoin declined causing the LTV Ratio tocrease MacroStrategy depositegh aggregateof 15,153additional bitcoins into the
account securing th2025 Secured Term Loan help ensure that the LTV Ratio remained bek@a As of DecembeB1, 2022
approximately34,619bitcoins were held in the Bitcoin Collateral Account apgroximately82,991bitcoins remained unencumbered

at MacroStrategylf MacroStrategy is not able to maintain an LTV Ratio of less than 50% at any time prior to the maturity date of the
Credit andSecurity Agreement, MacroStrategy may be required to repay some of the principal outstanding under the Credit and Secu
Agreementsooner than such amounts would otherwise be due, MacroStrategy may not have sufficient funds available to pay si
amountsat that time or the ability to sell bitcoin to generate additional funds, and MacroStrategy and we may not be able to ral
additional funds to pay such amounts on a timely basis, on terms we find acceptable, or at all.

We may not be able to finance reqad repurchases of the 2028 Secured Notes or the Convertible Notes upon a change of control
or a fundamental changer the repayment of amounts due under the 2025 Secured Term Loan upon a change of control

Upon a change of control or a fundamental chasgagefined in the indentures governing the 2028 Secured Notes and the Convertible
Notes, the holders of such notes will have the right to require us to offer to purchase all of the applicable notesatihdingatsa

price equal to 101% of the principatount of the 2028 Secured Notes and 100% of the principal amount of the Convertible Notes
respectively, plus, in each case, accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the repurchase date. Intardsuffictnt

funds to pay the purcbka price of such notes, we expect that we would have to refinance the notes and we may not be able to refina
the notes on reasonable terms, if at all. Our failure to offer to purchase all applicable notes or to purchase alhdalieldyrtetes
would be an event of default under the indentures governing the 2028 Secured Notes and the Convertible Notes.

If a change of control or a fundamental change occurs, we may not have enough assets to satisfy all obligations uedarrdse ind
governing the 2028ecured Notes and the Convertible Notes. Upon the occurrence of a change of control or a fundamental change
could seek to refinance the indebtedness under the 2028 Secured Notes or the Convertible Notes or obtain a waiveplicabléhe ap
note holdes. However, we may not be able to obtain a waiver or refinance the applicable notes on commercially reasonable terms, |
all. Moreover, the exercise by holders of the 2028 Secured Notes or the Convertible Notes of their right to requinerclsae ich

notes could cause a default under future debt agreements, even if the change of control or fundamental change itsdlielt®theot
financial effect of such repurchase on us.

Similarly, the Credit and Security Agreement under which the 2@258d Term Loan was issued includes customary chafrge
control provisions, providing the lender with a right to declare all outstanding loan principal to be immediately dualaedtpggther

with accrued and unpaid interest, in connection with agdaficontrol (as such term is defined thereas)yell as the right to foreclose

on the assets of MacroStrategy serving as collateral for the 2025 Secured Terrmlarder to obtain sufficient funds to repay the
amounts due under the Credit aé®ecurity Agreement, we expect that we or MacroStrategy would need to refinance the amount du
and may not be able do so on reasonable terms, if at all.

We may not have the ability to raise the funds necessary to settle for cash conversions of the Cteixatéds

Upon conversion of the 2025 Convertible Notes or the 2027 Convertible Notes, unless we elect (or have previously ietaedply

to deliver solely shares of our class A common stock to gbttieonversion of such Convertible Notes (otherthpaying cash in lieu

of delivering any fractional share), we will be required to make cash payments in respect of the applicable Convertibéniyotes
converted as described in the applicable indentHi@yvever, we may not have enough available cadieable to obtain financing at

the time we are required to pay cash with resfestich notes being converted. In addition, our ability to pay cash upon conversions of
the Convertible Notes may be limited by law, regulatory authority, the covenargsneohih the indenture governing the 2028 Secured
Notes, or agreements governing any future indebtedness. Our failure to pay any cash payable on future conversionseofiltiie Conv
Notes as required by the respective indentures would constitute a def@ettthe indenture for that series of Convertible Notes and
could also lead to a default under the indenture for the other series of Convertible Notes or the 2028 Secured Noteandeatefay
indenture could also lead to a default under agreengentyning any future indebtedness. If the repayment of the related indebtedness
were to be accelerated after any applicable notice or grace periods, we may not have sufficient funds to repay thessidebtedne
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The conditional conversion feature of the Coantible Notes, if triggered, may adversely affect our financial condition and operating
results

In the event the conditional conversion feature of either the 2025 Convertible Notes or the 2027 Convertible Notesds liddgmns

of the applicable Convgble Notes will be entitled to convert such notes at any time during specified periods at their option. If one o
more holders elect to convert their Convertible Notes, unless we elect to satisfy our conversion obligation by delelgragused of

our class A common stock (other than paying cash in lieu of delivering any fractional share), we would be required posiettioa

all of our conversion obligation through the payment of cash, which could adversely affect our liquidity. In aglektioifiholders do

not elect to convert their Convertible Notes, we could be required under applicable accounting rules to reclassifgréibooé the
outstanding principal of the applicable Convertible Notes as a current rather thaertonigablity, which would result in a material
reduction of our net working capital.

We rely on the receipt of funds from our subsidiaries in order to meet our cash needs and service our indebtedness, ihkiding
2028 Secured Noteshe Convertible Notesand ou other longterm indebtednessnd certain of our subsidiaries holding digital
assets may not provide any dividends, distributions, or other payments to us to fund our obligations and meet our cash needs

We depend on dividends, distributions, and offsments from our subsidiaries to fund our obligations, including those arising under
the 2028 Secured Notes, the Convertible Notes, and our othetdongndebtedness, and meet our cash needs. The operating results
of our subsidiaries at any given timey not be sufficient to make dividends, distributions, or other payments to us in order to allow us
to make payments on the 2028 Secured Notes, the Convertible Notes, and our othenroimglebtedness. Our wholgwned
subsidiary, MacroStrategy, whidiolds the bitcoin that we owned prior to the issuance of the 2028 Secured tNetbgcoin that
MacroStrategy acquired using the proceeds from the 2025 Secured Ternahdahe bitcoin thatlacroStrategyacquired from the
proceeds of the sale of ouask A shares pursuant to the 2021 Open Market Sale Agreemnenth Jef f eri es LLC,
Open Mar ket Sardithe 2822 ISaes Ageeerheat)is not obligated to provide and may in the future be prohibited from
providing any dividends, diributions, or other payments to us to fund our obligations and meet our cash needs under such indebtedne
MacroStrategy holdapproximatelyl117,610bitcoins that, as obecembeB81, 2022 had a carrying value of1$610 billion on our
Consolidated Balance Sheet, represeni®f§% of our consolidated total assets at such det@f DecembeB1, 2022, approximately
34,619bitcoins held by MacroStrategy are pledged as collateral under the Credit and Security Agreemmeatdhatr e s Macr 0 S
obligations under the 2025 Secured Term Ldaraddition, dividends, distributions, or other payments, as well as other transfers of
assets, between our subsidiaries and from our subsidiaries to us may be subject to legalyregutaintractual restrictions, which

may materially adversely affect our ability to transfer cash within our consolidated companies and our ability to mebtreedsa

and service our indebtedness.

Despite our current level of indebtedness, we mayable to incur substantially more indebtedness and enter into other transactions
in the future which could further exacerbate the risks related to our indebtedness

Although the indenture governing our 2028 Secured Notes contains, and future debt imstnonaye contain, restrictions on the
incurrence of additional indebtedness and entering into certain types of other transactions, these restrictions are subjdmrt of
qualifications and exceptions and we may be able to incur significant additimieddtedness in the future. For example, these
restrictions do not prevent us from incurring obligations, such as certain trade payables and operatimghlehsksnot constitute
indebtedness as defined under our debt instruments. To the extentwvedditional indebtedness or other obligations, the risks
described herein with respect to our indebtedness may increase significantly.

ltem 1B. Unresolved Staff Comments

None.

Item 2. Properties

As of DecembeB31, 2022 we leased approximateh®0,0® square feet of office space at a location in Northern Virginia that serves as
our corporate headquarters. This lease provides for certain tenant allowances and incentives and will expire in Decentber 2030
December 2020wne exercised an option to early terminate approximately 24,000 square feet of space at our corporate headquarte!
the beginning of January 2022.

In addition, weutilize offices in U.S. and foreign locations for our services and support, sales aratintgrresearch and development,
and administrative personnel. AsécembeB1, 2022 we utilized approximately26,0® square feet of officand otherspace in the
United States, in addition to our corporate headquarters, and approxirh@2e0@® squae feet of office space in various foreign
locations.
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Item 3. Legal Proceedings

We are involved in various legal proceedings arising in the normal course of business, including the matter describedtbelmh. Al
the outcomes of these legal proceediagsinherently difficult to predict, we do not expect the resolution of these legal proceedings to
have a material adverse effect on our financial position, results of operations, or cash flows

OnAugust 31, 2022, the Di }througkits Ofiicé of tBeoAttarnmbdereral( fiteth acivificbmpkint inithe t
Superior Court of the District of Columbia naming as defendants (i) Michael J. Saylor, the Chairman of our Board of & ctars
Executive Chairman, in his personal capacityd (ii) the Company. The District is seeking, among other relief, monetary damages

under the Districtdés False Claims Act for the al |l eagunerdfai |
years together with penaltiesférest, and treble damages. The complaint alleges that the amount of personal income taxes purportel
involved is more than $25 million. The complaint altesassisal | €
Mr. Sayy¢edobkaiall ire to pay personal income taxes. We beli e\
defending aggressively against these allegations. OmMefiétob

a moton to stay discovery on September 28, 2022, and the court granted this motion on October 28, 2022. The outcome of this me
is not presently determinable

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Marketfor Regi strant 86s Common Equity, Rel ated Stockhol der

Our c¢class A common stock is traded on the Nasdagqg GI obal S
trading market for our class@®mmon stock. As dfebruary 2, 2023here were approximate®p0stockholders of record of our class
A common stock andmo stockholders of record of our class B common stock.

Holders of our class A common stock generally have the same rights as loéldersclass B common stock, except that holders of
class A common stock have one vote per share while holders of class B common stock have ten votes per share.

We have never declared or paid any cash dividends on either our class A or class B conlamdstage no current plans to declare
or pay any such dividends.

Information regarding our equity compensation plans and the securities authorized for issuance thereunder is incorpiorated her
reference to APart |11 tlat emBE2efSedcwadi Own@wrsermanldi Mamfa g@enre

The following table provides information about our repurchases of equity securities that are registered by us purstiantta 8kec
the Exchange Act during the periods indicated:

(@) (b) (c) (d)

Maximum Number (or

Total Number of Approximate Dollar

Total Average Shares(or Units) Value) of Shares(or
Number of Price Paid PurchasedasPart of |Units) that May Yet Be

Shares(or per Share Publicly Announced | PurchasedUnder the

Period Units) Purchasec | (or Unit) (1) |Plansor Programs(1) | Plansor Programs (1)
October 1, 2022 October 31, 2022 0 N/A 0 $ 209,137,96.
November 1, 2022 November 30, 2022 0 N/A 0 $ 209,137,96.
December 1, 202P December 31, 2022 0 N/A 0 $ 209,137,96
Total: 0 N/A 0 $ 209,137,96

(1) On July 28, 2005, we announced that the Board of Directors authorized us to repurchase up to an aggregate of $300.0 millio
our class A common stock from time to time on the open mdtketfiShare Repurchase ProgmaniThe Share Repurchase
Program wasubsequently amended aathorize us to repurchase up to an aggregate of $800.0 million of our class A common
stock through April 29, 2023, although the program may be suspended or discontinued by us at any time. The timing and amc
of any shares repunased will be determined by management based on its evaluation of market conditions and other factors. T
Share Repurchase Program may be funded using our working capital, as well as proceeds from any other funding arrangern
that we may enter into ithe future. As oDecembeB1, 2022 pursuant to the Share Repurchase Program, we had repurchased
an aggregate &,674,226shares of our class A common stock at an average price per sha@ldf3and an aggregate cost of
$590.9 million. As of DecembeB31, 2022 $209.1 million of our class A common stock remained available for repurchase
pursuant to the Share Repurchase Program. The average price per share and aggregate cost amounts disclosed above i
broker commissions.
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Performance Graph

The following graph compares the cumulative total stockholder return on our class A common stock from D2@e2oh&(the last
trading day before the beginning of our fifth preceding fiscal year) to Decer@p202 (the last tradinglay of the fiscal year ended
DecembeRl, 2023 with the cumulative total return of (i) the Total Return Index for The Nasdaq Stock Market (U.S. Companies) (the
ANasdaq Composite Indexd) and (ii) the Nad%le0d0dd dengmb@OL017 | nd
in our class A common stock, the Nasdaq Composite Index, and the Nasdagq Computer Index, and assumes that any dividend
reinvested. Measurement points are Decer@Be2017, DecembeBl, 2018 DecembeBll, 2019 Decembef31, 202Q December 31,

2021, and December(® 2022

Comparison of 5 Year Cumulative Total Return
Assumes Initial Investment of $100

$450.00
$400.00 A
$350.00 / \
$300.00 \

$250.00 A
$200.00 / /

$150.00
$100.00 [=
$50.00
$0.00

12/29/2017 12/31/2018 12/31/2019 12/31/2020 12/31/2021 12/30/2022

=¢—MicroStrategy Incorporated = ==#==NASDAQ Composite Index  ==#=NASDAQ Computer Index

12/29/17 12/31/18 12/31/19 12/31/20 12/31/21 12/30/22
MicroStrategy Incorporated $ 100.0C $ 97.2¢ $ 108.6(C $ 29581 $ 414.4¢ $ 107.7¢
Nasdag Composite Index $ 100.0C $ 97.1€ $ 13281 $ 19247 $ 2351t $ 158.6%
Nasdag Computer Index $ 100.0C $ 973t $ 14797 $ 22192 $ 305.9¢ $ 196.4¢

NOTE: Prepared by Zacks Investment Research, Inc. Used with permission. All rights reserved. Copyrig823d.980

NOTE: Index Data: Copyright NASDAQ OMX, Inc. Used with permission. All rights reserved.

Item 6. [Reserved]
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Item 7. Management 6s Discussion and Analysis of Financi al Con
Forward -Looking Information

The following discussionand analysis provides information which our management believes is relevant to an assessment al
understanding of our financial condition and results of operations. This discussion and analysis should be read togetiner with
consolidated financial statemnts and related notes that are included elsewhere in this Annual Report on Hérrin Jdidition to
historical financial information, this discussion and analysis contains forwakihg statements that are based upon our current
expectations, beliefgstimates and projections, and various assumptions, many of which, by their nature, are inherently uncertain a
beyond our control. See the section of this Annual Report on Forkh 1 nt i t 1l ed HAForward Looking
Summar y . ésultdandtimng of selected events may differ materially from those anticipated in these-fookang statements

as a result of various f aRatlolterslA. RiskFattadsd bnget kewbeset i hot hhs
10K.

Management 6s Discussion and Anal302i s for the Year Ended De

Management 86s di scussion and analysis of financi aPk02Cimindhgt i o
comparison of our results for the years ended Decemb@021,and202( is included in Item 7 of our Annual Report onrfolG-K
for the year ended December 2021

BusinessOverview

MicroStrategy pursues two corporate strategies in the operation of its busiesstrategy is to acquire and hold bitcoin and the other
strategy is to grow our enterprise analytics sofedaisinessVe believe that undertaking these two, interdependent corporate strategies
serves as a key differentiator for our business, as our bitcoin acquisition strategy has raised our proéitaimipiotential software
customers while our enterpé analytics software business has provided stable cash flows that allow us to acquire and hold bitcoin f
the longterm

Our bitcoin acquisition strategy generally involves acquiring bitcoin with our liquid assets that exceed working capital eatplirem
and from time to time, subject to market conditions, issuing debt or equity securities or engaging in other capitabreiastgphs

with the objective of using the proceeds to purchase bitcoin. We view our bitcoin holdings-teshomgldings andxpect to continue

to accumulate bitcoin. We have not set any specific target for the amount of bitcoin we seek to hold, and we will continiterto
market conditions in determining whether to engage in additional financings to purchase additoiralTtits overall strategylso
contemplates thate may (i) periodically sell bitcoin for general corporate purposes, including to generate cash for treasury managems
or in connection with strategies that generate tax benefits in accordancappfittable law, (ii) enter into additional capital raising
transactions that are collateralized by our bitcoin holdings, and (iii) consider pursuing additional strategies to amneatgr@eams or
otherwise generate funds using our bitcoin holdings

We believe that bitcoin is attractive because it can serve as a store of value, supported by a robust and psitliccechitecture,
that is untethered to sovereign monetary politie also believe that, due to its limited supply, bitcoin ofteesopportunity for
appreciation in value if its adoption increasesl has the potential to serve as a hedge against inflation in thtefangln addition,
we believe that our bitcoin acquisition strategy is complementary to our enterprise analytics dmfsigess, as we believe that our
bitcoin and related activities in support of the bitcoin network enhance awareness of our brand

As of February 15, 2023wve hold approximatelyi32,500bitcoin that were acquired at an aggregate purchase pricg 3d3hillion
and an average purchase price of approxim&@dy137per bitcoin, inclusive of fees and expenses

MicroStrategy isalsoa global leader in enterprise analytics software and sengaese our founding in 1989, we have focused on
empowering orgamations to leverage the immense value of data.vision is to enable Intelligence EverywHetsy providing world
class software and services that elevate enterprise users with actionable insights.

Our customers include leading companies from a wide range of industries, including bhatilhg, technology, consulting,
manufacturing, insuranchealthcare, telecommunications, as well as the public sector.

The analytics market is highly competitive. Our future success depends on the effectiveness with which we can differefféstes

from those offered by large software vendors that ideoproducts across multiple lines of business, including one or more products
that directly compete with our offerings, and other potential competitors across analytics implementation projects GizesyWe
believe a key differentiator of MicroSteggy is our modern, open, comprehensive enterprise platform that can be extended to other too
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and systems, can scale across the enterprise, is optimized for cloughr@muses deployments, and can be combined with unique
packages of our expert servi@y education offerings

Our Bitcoin Acquisition Strategy

InSeptembe2 020, our Board of Directors adopted a Treasury Reser
updated our treasury management and capital allocation sésitegder which our treasury reserve assets will consist of:

A cashand cash equivalentsandshogr m i nvest ments (fAiCash Assetso) held b
and

A bitcoin heldby us, with bitcoin serving as the primary treasury reserve asset on an ongoing basis, subject to marke!
conditions and anticipated needs of the business for Cash Assets.

In the first quarter of 2021, we adopted, in addition to and in conjunction with easdny Reserve Policy, a corporate strategy of
acquiring and holding bitcoirPursuant to this corporate strateggd from time to time, subject to market conditioms,issuedebt or
equity securitie®r engageén othercapital raising transactions with the objective of using the proceeds to purchase bitcoin.

During 2021 and 2022 we used the proceeds of the following capital raising transactions to purchase bitcoin. The transactions a
further describedn the Aid Liquidity and Capital Resourc@sLongt e r m D ef® Liguidity and Capital Resourcés At-the-

Market Equity Offerings sectiors underthisi | t em 7. Management s Discussion and An
Operationso

1 $1.050 billion aggregaterincipal amount of 2027 Convertible Notesuedn February 2021

T $500. 0 million aggregate principal amount of 6.idszeliftb Se
June 2021

1 1,413,767shares of class A common staskuedduring 2021 for aggregate gross proceeds @f@billion pursuant to our

20210pen MarkeSale Agreemenwi t h Jef feries LLC, as agent (fAJefferies

$205.0 million aggregate principal amount of the 26826ured Term Loan issued in March 2022d

218575 shares of class A common stoskued during 22, for aggregate gross proceeds d6% million pursuant to our

2022 Sales Agreemenith the 2022 Sales Agents

As of December 312022 we held an aggrede of approximatel§32,500bitcoins, with14,890bitcoins held directly by MicroStrategy
Incorporated and17,610bitcoins held by MacroStrategy LLC, a wholbyned subsidiary of MicroStrategis of December 312022,
al of the approximatelyl4,890bitcoins held directly by MicroStrategy Incorporated serve as part of the collateral seber2@8
Secured Notesand approximately34,6190f the 117,610bitcoins held by MacroStrategy serve as part of the collateral sedhegng
2025 Secured Term Loan.

The following table presents a rdbrward of our bitcoin holdings, includingdditional informatiorrelated to oubitcoin purchases
sales anddigital asset impairment losses within the respective periods

f
f

Approximate

Source of Digital Asset Digital Asset Approximate Average
Capital Used tc  Original Cost Impairment Digital Asset Number of Purchase or
Purchase Basis Losses Carrying Value Bitcoins Held Sale Price Per
Bitcoin (in thousands) (in thousands) (in thousands) (Disposed) Bitcoin
Balance at December 31, 2020 $ 1,125,000 $ (70,69¢) $ 1,054,30:. 70,46¢ $ 15,96¢
Digital asset purchases (a) 2,626,52! 2,626,52! 53,922 48,71(
Digital asset impairment loss (830,627 (830,627
Balance at December 31, 2021 $ 3,751,52¢ $ (901,319 $ 2,850,21( 124,391 $ 30,15¢
Digital asset purchases (b) 287,92 287,92 8,812 32,67(C
Digital asset impairment loss (1,287,21) (1,287,21)
Digital asset sales * (46,260) 35,37( (20,890 (704) 16,78¢
Balance at December 31, 2022 $ 3,993,19¢ $ (2,153,169 $ 1,840,02¢ 132,50C $ 30,131

*  During 2022, we sold approximately 704 bitcoins havingaginal cost basis of $46.3 mdh and cumulative digital asset impairment losses of
$35.4 million,resulting in acarrying value of $10.9 millioat the time of sale. Thapproximately 704 bitcoingere soldfor cash proceeds of
$11.8 million, net of fees and expenses, resulting insgairsale of $0.9 million.

(a) During 2021, we purchased bitcoin using $1.026 billion in net proceeds from our issuance of the 2027 Convertil#8900&esillion in net
proceeds from our sale ©f413,767shares of class A common stock offered undeR@®41Open MarkeSale Agreemen$487.2 million in net
proceeds from our issuance of the 2028 Secured NwotdExcessCash.
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(b) During 2022, we purchased bitcoin usii$§ 90.5 million of the net proceeds frahe issuance of the 2025 Secured Term | §4A.6 million of
thenet proceeds from our sale of class A common stock offered und®2Besales Agreemer$il1.8 million in proceeds from sales of bitcoin
andExcessCash.

Excess Cash refers to cash in excess of the minimum Cash Assets that we are required to hold under our Treasury Resdiica Polic
may include cash generated by operating activities and cash from the proceeds of financing activities.

The following table shows the approximate number of bitcoins held at the end of each respective period, as well as market va
calculations of our bitcoin holdings based on the lowest, highest, and ending market prices of one bitcoin on the Cdialpagse ex

(our principal market) for each respectiwear, as further defined below:

Market Value Market Value Market Value
of Bitcoin of Bitcoin of Bitcoin

Held at End of Held at End of Held at End of

Approximate Lowest Year Using Highest Year Using Year Using

Number of Market Price Lowest Market Price Highest Market Price Ending

Bitcoins Held Per Bitcoin Market Price Per Bitcoin Market Price Per Bitcoin at Market Price

at End of During Year (inthousands)  During Year (in thousands) End of Year (in thousands)
Year (2) (b) (c) (d) (e) ()

December 31, 2020 70,46¢ $ 8,905.8¢ $ 627,58t $ 29,321.9( $ 2,066,28" $ 29,181.0( $ 2,056,35¢
December 31,21 124,397 $ 27,678.0( $ 3,442,89: $ 69,000.0( $ 8,582,97¢ $ 45,879.9° $ 5,707,05!
December 31, 2022 132,50C $ 15,460.0( $ 2,048,45( $ 48,240.0( $ 6,391,80( $ 16,556.3; $ 2,193,71:

(@) The "Lowest Market Price Per BitcoDuring Yeal represents the lowest market price for one bitcoin reported on the Coinbase exchange during
the respective yearwithout regard to when we purchased any of our bitdeam.the year ended December 31, 2GBe, lowest market price
reported in the above table reflects the lowest market price for one bitcoin reported on the Coinbase exchange duddgdtiye he2020 (the
beginning of the first quarterly period that we purchased and held bitcoin) to Becaty 2020.

(b) The "Market Value of Bitcoin Held Using Lowest Market Price" represents a mathematical calculation consisting of theddwegtrice for
one bitcoin reported on the Coinbase exchange duringetipective yeafor for 2020, during the pierd July 1, 2020 to December 31, 2020)
multiplied by the number of bitcoins held by us at the end of the appligahte

(c) The "Highest Market Price Per Bitcdduring Yeal represents the highest market price for one bitcoin reported on the Coinbaseexdirarg
the respective yeamwithout regard to when we purchased any of our bitdean.the year ended December 31, 2020, the highest market price
reported in the above table reflects the highest market price for one bitcoin reported on the Coihbage ekaing the period July 1, 2020 to
December 31, 2020.

(d) The "Market Value of Bitcoin Held Using Highest Market Price" represents a mathematical calculation consisting of thenhigbeptice for
one bitcoin reported on the Coinbase exchange dunimgespective yeafor for 2020, during the period July 1, 2020 to December 31, 2020)
multiplied by the number of bitcoins held by us at the end of the appligzahte

(e) The "Market Price Per Bitcoin at End6éar' represents the market price of one bitcon the Coinbase exchange at 4:00 p.m. Eastern Time on
the last day of theespective year

(f) The "Market Value of Bitcoin Held at End &fearUsing Ending Market Price" represents a mathematical calculation consisting of the market
price of one bitcoin othe Coinbase exchange at 4:00 p.m. Eastern Time on the last dayesitbetive yeanultiplied by the number of bitcoins
held by us at the end of the applicapéar

The amounts reported as fAMar ket Val udcalculation tohsetingdb toevpece foraohel e
bitcoin reported on the Coinbase exchange (our principal market) in each scenario defined above multiplied by the ritcober of b
held by us at the end of the applicapéar The Securities anxchange Commission has previously stated that there has not been a
demonstration that (i) bitcoin and bitcoin markets are inherently resistant to manipulation or that the spot price afdyjtooinbe
subject to fraud and manipulation; and (ii) adequsaftrveillancesharing agreements with bitceialated markets are in place, as biteoin
related markets are either not significant, not regulated, or both. Accordingly, the Market Value amounts abpugsthy not
accurately represent fair market valaed the actual fair market value of our bitcoin may be different from such amounts and such
deviation may be material. Moreover, (i) the bitcoin market historically has been characterized by significant volaiiti¢y iimited
liquidity and tradingvolumes compared to sovereign currencies markets, relative anonymity, a developing regulatory landscap
potential susceptibility to market abuse and manipulation, and various other risks that are, or may be, inherently ixeetrinic,

virtual form and decentralized network and (ii) we may not be able to sell our bitcoins at the MarkedrWaluresndicated above, at

the market price as reported on the Coinbase exchange (our principal market) on the date of sale, or at all.

Our digital asset imgirment losseset ofgains on salehave significantly contributed to our operating expenses and neDlosag
2022 digital asset impairment losseet ofgains on salepf $1.286hillion represented 6.9 of our operating expensemntributing
to our netlossof $1.470billion for 2022 compared to digital asset impairment losse®330.6million during2021, representing9.0%
of our operating expensasdcontributingto ournetlossof $535.5million for 2021

As of February 15, 2023wve held approximatel§32,500bitcoins that were acquired at an aggregate purchase priG98i3billion
and an average purchase price of approxim#&®@,137per bitcoin, inclusive of fees and expeng&s.of February 15, 2023t 4:00
p.m. EasternTime, the market price of one bitcoieported on the Coinbase exchamges$24,163.86
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Impact of COVID -19 on Our Software Strategy

The COVID-19 pandemitas resulted, and may continue to result, in significant economic disraptimmcertainty contines toexist
concerning the impactofthe COVAID9 pandemi ¢ on our customersd and prospects
our total revenues for theeas ended December 31, 2Dand 202 were not materially impacted by COWID®, our revenues may be
negatively impacted in future periods.

Effects of the COVIB19 pandemic that may negatively impact our business in future periods include, but are not limited to: limitation
on the ability ofour customers to conduct their busiresspurchase our products and services, and make timely payments; curtailed
consumer spending; deferred purchasing decisions; delayed consulting services implementations; decreases in prodextiicesses
driven by channel partnersand compliance costs and business disruptions associated with certain government requirements a
recommendations adopted in response to the pandéfecwill continue to actively monitor the nature and extent of the impact to our
busness, operating results, and financial condition.

Operating Highlights
Thefollowing table sets forth certain operating highlights (in thousands) for the years ended Decer2b22 ahd 2021

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Revenues
Product licenses $ 86,49¢ $ 101,80¢
Subscription services 60,74¢ 43,06¢
Total product licenses and subscription services 147,24« 144,87:
Product support 266,521 281,20¢
Other services 85,49¢ 84,68(
Total revenues 499,26¢ 510,76
Cost of revenues
Product licenses 1,672 1,721
Subscription services 24,77( 16,901
Total product licenses and subscription services 26,44z 18,62
Product support 21,26¢ 19,25¢
Other services 55,28: 54,03:
Total cost of revenues 102,98¢ 91,90¢
Gross profit 396,27¢ 418,85
Operating expenses
Sales and marketing 146,88 160,14:
Research andevelopment 127,42¢ 117,117
General and administrative 111,421 95,501
Digital asset impairment losses (gains on sale), net 1,286,238t 830,62
Total operating expenses 1,672,01° 1,203,38(
Loss from operations $ (1,27574) $  (784,52)

We have incurred and may continue to incur significant impairment losses on our digital assetsararaeognized andaycontinue

to recognize gains upon sale of our digital assets in the future, vahégbresented net of any impairment losses withjirerating
expensesln addition, we base our internal operating expense forecasts on expected revenue trends and strategic objectives in
enterprise analytics software business. Many of our expenses, such as office leases and certain persarpaletatsis]y fixed.
Accordingly, anydecrease in the price of bitcoin during any quarter, any sales by us of our bitcoin at prices above their then curre
carrying costs or anshortfall in revenue in our software business may cause significanteaiiitbur operating results. We therefore
believe that quarteto-quarter comparisons of our operating results may not be a good indication of our future performance
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Share-based Compensation Expense

As discussed in Notell SharebasedCompensation, to the Consolidated Financial Statements, we have outstanding stock options t
purchase shares of our class A common stoedtricted stock unit®ach of which represents a right to receive a share of our class A
common stock upon the sdéistion of applicable vesting requiremerasd certain other stodikased awards under our 2013 Equity
Plan We also provid®pportunitiesto eligible employees to purchase shares of our class A common stock un@e2alEmployee

Stock Purchase Plan (tfie2 0 2 1 .ESh&ddas@d compensation expense (in thousands) from these awards was recognized in th
following cost of revenues araperating expense line items for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Cost ofsubscription services revenues $ 304 $ 282
Cost of product support revenues 2,03¢ 1,17¢
Cost of consulting revenues 1,754 799
Cost of education revenues 177 112
Sales and marketing 18,27¢ 12,87¢
Research and development 13,89¢ 10,751
General and administrative 27,17¢ 18,12t

Total sharebased compensation expense $ 63,61¢ $ 44,12¢

The $19.5 millionincreasen sharebased compensati@xpense durin@022 ascompared to the prior yeas primarily due to the
continued expansion of our equity award programs worldwide of December 312022 we estimated thaan aggregate of
approximately $71.0million of additional shardbased compensation expeassociated witkthe 2013 Equity Plaand the 2021 ESPP
will be recognized over a remaining weighted average peri@drgiears.

Non-GAAP Financial Measures

We are providing supplemental financial raeges for (i) nofGAAP lossfrom operations that excludes the impact of our shased
compensatiorexpense (i) nonGAAP netloss and norRGAAP diluted loss per share that exclude the impadtour sharebased
compensation expengaterest expense angl from the amortization afebtissuance cosisn ourlong-term debtand related income

tax effects,and (iii) certain nofGAAP constant currency revenues, cost of revenues, and operating expenses that exclude forei
currency exchange rate fluctuatiof@hese supplemental financial measures are not measurements of financial performance unds
generally accepted accounting principles in the UnistmayotSt a
be comparable to similarly k&td measures of other companies. Management uses the&Amdhfinancial measures internally to

help understand, manage, and evaluate our business performance and to help make operating decisions.

We believe that these ngBAAP financial measures aresal useful to investors and analysts in comparing our performance across
reporting periods on a consistent basis. The first supplemental financial measure exsigdifisant norcash expense that we believe

is not reflective of our general businessfpenance, and for which the accounting requires management judgment and the resulting
sharebased compensation expense could vary significantly in comparison to other companies. The second set of supplemantal final
measures excludes the impaaet (i) sharebased compensation expen@g non-cash interest expense arising from the amortization of
debtissuance costs related to doing-term debtand (i) related income tax effect§ he third set of supplemental financial measures
excludes changes resulting from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates so that results may be compared tetioel §ame p
the prior year on a neBAAP constant currency basis. We believe theaigbese nofGAAP financial measures can also facilitate
comparison of our operating results to those of our competitors

Non-GAAP financial measures are subject to material limitations as they are not measurements prepared in accordance,with GA
and ae not a substitute for such measuremeriisr example, we expect that shbesed compensation expense, which is excluded
from the firsttwo nonGAAP financial measusg will continue to be a significant recurring expense over the coming years and is an
important part of the compensation provided to certain employees, officers, and dir&utaitarly, we expect that interest expense
arising from the amortization afebtissuance costs will continue to be a recurring expense over the termlafgierm debt Our
non-GAAP financial measures are not meant to be considered in isolation and should be read only in conjunction with outé&bnsolida
Financial Statements, which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. We rely primarily on such CdnEaiigiatéal
Statements to understand, manage, and evaluate our business performance and useG#&#P nfimancial measures only
supplementally.
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The following is a reconciliation of our n€BAAP loss from operationswhich excludeghe impact ofsharebasel compensation
expenseto its most directly comparable GAAP measures (in thousands) for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021

Reconciliation of nonGAAP loss from operations:
Loss fromoperations $ (1,275,74) $  (784,52)
Sharebased compensation expense 63,61¢ 44,12¢
Non-GAAP loss from operations $ (1,212,12) $ (740,407

The following are reconciliations of our n@AAP netlossand noRGAAP dilutedlossper share, in each case excluding the ingpact

of (i) sharebased compensation expengp interest expense arising from the amortizatiomelftissuance costsn ourlong-term

debt and (ii) related income tax effects their most directly comparable GAAP measures (in thousands, except per share data) for th
periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Reconciliation of nonGAAP net loss:
Net loss $ (1,469,79) $ (535,48()
Sharebased compensation expense 63,61¢ 44,12¢
Interest expense arising from amortization of debt issuance co 8,694 7,201
Income tax effects (1) (13,250 (47,97¢)
Non-GAAP net loss $ (1,410,739 $ (532,129
Reconciliation of nonGAAP diluted loss per share (2):
Diluted loss per share $ (129.89) $ (53.49)
Sharebased compensati@xpense (per diluted share) 5.62 4.4C
Interest expense arising from amortization of debt issuance co
(per diluted share) 0.77 0.72
Income tax effects (per diluted share) (1.17) (4.79
Non-GAAP diluted loss peshare $ (124.67) $ (53.1))

(1) Income tax effects reflect the net tax effectsivdrebased compensation expenatich includes tax benefiend expensesn exercises
of stock options and vesting of shaettled restricted stock unind interest expense for amortizatiordebtissuance costs.

(2) For reconciliation purposes, the RGRAAP diluted earnings (loss) per share calculations use the same weigbtade shares outstanding
as that used in the GAAP diluted earnings (loss) per share calculations for the same period. For example, in periodsaetf IGFSAP
otherwise dilutive potential shares of common stock from our dfesed compensation arrangents and Convertible Notes are excluded
from the GAAP diluted loss per share calculation as they would be antidilutive, and therefore are also excluded fre@AA® rdlilnted
earnings or loss per share calculation.

51



The following are reconciliations afertainnonrGAAP constant currency revenues, cost of revenues, and operating expenses to thei

most directly comparable GAAP measures (in thousands) for the periods indicated

Years Ended

December31,

Non-GAAP

Foreign Currency Non-GAAP Constant

ExchangeRate Constant GAAP % Currency %

GAAP Impact (1) Currency (2) GAAP Change Change (3)

2022 2022 2022 2021 2022 2022

Product licenses revenues $ 86,49 $ (4,618 $ 91,11¢ $ 101,80 -15.C% -10.5%
Subscription services revenues 60,74¢ (2,337) 63,077 43,06¢ 41.C% 46.5%
Product support revenues 266,52 (12,570 278,09 281,20¢ -5.2% -1.1%
Other services revenues 85,49¢ (5,263) 90,762 84,68( 1.0% 7.2%
Cost of product support revenues 21,26¢ (2,130 22,39¢ 19,25¢ 10.4% 16.3%
Cost of other services revenues 55,28: (4,529 59,81z 54,03z 2.3% 10.7%
Sales and marketing expenses 146,88 (6,733%) 153,61¢ 160,141 -8.3% -4.1%
Research and development expen 127,42¢ (2,29¢) 129,72 117,117 8.8% 10.8%
General and administrative expens 111,42 (1,90¢) 113,327 95,501 16.7% 18.7%

Non-GAAP

Foreign Currency Non-GAAP Constant

ExchangeRate Constant GAAP % Currency %

GAAP Impact (1) Currency (2) GAAP Change Change (3)

2021 2021 2021 2020 2021 2021

Product licenses revenues $ 101,80 $ (858) $ 102,66: $ 86,74: 17.4% 18.4%
Subscription services revenues 43,06¢ 519 42,55( 33,08 30.2% 28.6%
Product support revenues 281,20¢ 3,81¢ 277,39: 284,43¢ -1.1% -2.5%
Other services revenues 84,68( 1,11¢ 83,562 76,47¢ 10.7% 9.3%
Cost of product support revenues 19,25¢ 33 19,221 23,971 -19.7% -19.8%
Cost of other services revenues 54,03: 341 53,69: 49,952 8.2% 7.5%
Sales and marketing expenses 160,14 323 159,81¢ 148,91( 7.5% 7.3%
Research and development expen 117,117 1,58¢ 115,53: 103,561 13.1% 11.6%
General and administrative expens 95,501 276 95,22t 80,13¢ 19.2% 18.8%

(1) The AForeign Currency Exchange PRffluciatibnmip toreignicurreneyf ehaage tates t h
on international components of our Consolidated Statements of Operations. It shows the increase (decrease) in mate
international revenues or expenses, as applicable, from the same period in the prior year, based on comparisonsygathe prior

guarterly average foreign currency exchange rates. andhe
Canada.

(2) The #fMAP Constant Currencyo reflects the curr enRatepnpacti od
B The #&MAP Constant Currency % Changeo refl ect s-GAAR Eongtamtr c e

Currency amount and the GAAP amount for the same period in the prior year.

Critical Accounting Estimates

Our discussion and analysis of our financial condition and results of operations are based on our Consolidated Financitd, Stateme
which have been prepared in accordance with GAAP. See Note 2, Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to the Consolida

Financial Statements for a description of our significant accounting policies. As described in Note 2, the preparaitonsbtdated
Financial Statements requires us to make estimates and judgments that affect the reported amounts of assstarleijtiity, the
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts ahtegepereses
during the reporting period. Actual results and outcomes could differ from these estimatesuamgtians.

Critical accounting estimates involve a significant level of estimation uncertainty and are estimates that have hadamaby/lékely
to have a material impact on our financial condition or results of operations. We consider certatesstnd judgments related to
revenue recognition to be critical accounting estimates for us, as discussed further below
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Revenue Recognition

SeeNote 2(n), Summary of Significant Accounting PolicieRRevenue Recognition, to the Consolidated FinanciaeStents for
information regarding our significant accounting policies over revenue recognition.

Many of our contracts with customers include multiple performance obligations, and we make estimates and judgments tioeallocat
transaction price to eactep f or mance obligation based on an observable or
price, or estimated price, of the software or service when sold on a standalone basis at contract inception. We cemsidationr

of SSP to be critical accounting estimate.

An observable price of a good or service sold separately provides the best evidence of SSP. However, in many situatlbnet SSP

be readily observable, but must still be estimated using reasonably available informvdédiave observable standalone selling prices

of our product support, consulting services, and education services, and therefore use historical transaction dataloneabstsisc

along with our judgment, to establish SSP ranges for each of thesseseas described in Note 2(n). However, SSP is not directly
observable for product licenses (product licenses are not sold on a standalone basis and pricing is highly variable)igmah subs
services (the selling price of subscription servicesghliivariable), and we use a residual approach to establish SSP for these revenu
streams. As such, the establishment of SSP of our product support, consulting services, and education services ditedtig impac
amount of product licenses and subscripti&rvices revenues recognized, and therefore also impacts the overall timing of revenue
recognition.

We review and analyze the SSP ranges we have established for product support, consulting services, and education iservices
annually, and these SSP gms have not changed significantly since adopting Accounting Standards Update N6928kB4enue
from Contracts with Customers (Topic -G69®) eafnfdedttisve ubarewall
perform analyses on a seannualbasis using historical pricing data for both product license and subscription services transactions t
assess whether the selling price is highly variable in order to support our conthatithre residual method to estimate SSP of our
product licenseand subscription services is a fair allocation of the transaction price. We have maintained our conclusion that the resid
method is appropriate for our product licenses and subscription services since adopting A89.2014

In the future, SSP for our dafare and services could be impacted by various factors, including potential changes in our pricing practice
customer demand for our products and services, and various market or economic conditions. However, we consider ¢mificsif si
volatility in our established SSP to smallgiven our historical transaction experience and internal processes to monitor SSP ranges 0
an ongoing basis and work with management in the event a trend that could impact the future ranges is detected

Results of Opeations

Comparison of the Years Ended December 32022 and 2021

Revenues

Except as otherwise indicated herein, the term Adomestic
Ainternational 6 r ef eUntedStatesam&€anada.i ons outside of the

Product licenses and subscription services revenuBse following table sets forth product licenses and subscription services revenues
(in thousands) and related percentage changes for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 % Change
Product Licenses and Subscription Services Revenues:
Product Licenses
Domestic $ 54,79¢  $ 54,107 1.3%
International 31,70¢ 47,697 -33.5%
Total product licenses revenues 86,49¢ 101,80« -15.C%
Subscription Services
Domestic 42,42¢ 31,30¢ 35.5%
International 18,31¢ 11,763 55.7%
Total subscription services revenues 60,74¢ 43,06¢ 41.C%
Total product licenses and subscription services revenues $ 147,24¢  $ 144 87: 1.6%
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The following table sets forth a summary, grouped by size, of the number of recognized product licenses transactiqgesifoisthe
indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021
Product Licenses Transactions with Recognized Licenses Revenue in the Applical
Period:
More than $1.0 million in licenses revenue recognized 11 13
Between $0.5 million and $1.0 million in licenses reveraegognized 14 19
Total 25 32
Domestic:
More than $1.0 million in licenses revenue recognized 9 10
Between $0.5 million and $1.0 million in licenses revenue recognized 11 11
Total 20 21
International:
More than $1.0 million in licenses revenue recognized 2 3
Between $0.5 million and $1.0 million in licenses revenue recognized 3 8
Total 5 11

The following table sets forth the recognized revenue (in thousands) attributable to product licenses transactionsy ginepadd
related percentage changes for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 % Change
Product Licenses Revenue Recognized in the Applicable Period:
More than $1.0 million in licenses revenue recognized $ 23,85¢ $ 26,83¢ -11.1%
Between $0.5 million and $1.0 million in licenses revenue recognize 9,882 12,80¢ -22.5%
Less than $0.5 million in licenses revemaeognized 52,75¢ 62,157 -15.1%
Total 86,49¢ 101,80 -15.C%
Domestic:
More than $1.0 million in licenses revenue recognized 20,591 18,391 12.C%
Between $0.5 million and $1.0 million in licenses revenue recognize 8,124 7,364 10.2%
Less than $0.5 million in licenses revenue recognized 26,07¢ 28,352 -8.0%
Total 54,79¢ 54,107 1.3%
International:
More than $1.0 million in licenses revenue recognized 3,267 8,447 -61.2%
Between $0.5 million and $1.0 million in licenses revenue recognize 1,75¢ 5,44t -67.7%
Less than $0.5 million in licenses revenue recognized 26,67¢ 33,80t -21.1%
Total $ 31,70¢  $ 47,69 -33.5%

Product licenses revenudscreased $15.3 millicduring2022, as compared to the prior year. For the years ended Decemi2®221,
and2021, product licenses transactions with more than $0.5 million in recognized revenue repré8diteahd38.9% respectively,

of our product licenses revenues. Dur2@®2 our top three product licenses transactions total&d $nillion in recognized revenue,

or 15.1% of total product licenses revenues, compared B@nillion, or 12.4% of totd product licenses revenues, durid@21 Our
product licenses revenues may experience declines in future periods as we continue to promote our cloud offering taistngand e
customers

Domestic product licenses revenue@omestic product licenses mwesncreased $0.7 millioduring2022 as compared to the prior
year, primarily due t@n increase in the average deal size of transactions, partially offset by a decrease in the number of transacti
with less than $0.5 million in recognized revennd a decrease in the number of transactionsmitte than $1.0 million in recognized
revenue.
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International product licenses revenuesnternational product licenses revendesreased $16.0 milliaiuring2022 as compared to
the prior year, primarilydue toa decrease in the number of transacti@msl a $4.6 million unfavorabldoreign currency exchange
impact.

Subscription services revenueSubscription services revenues are derived fsanMCE cloud subscription serviemdare recognized
ratably aver the service perioih the contract. Subscription services revenneseased $17.7 millioduring2022 as compared to the

prior year primarily due toconversions to cloubased subscriptions from existing-premises customeran increase in the use of
subscription services by existing customensd sales contracts with new customeiatially offset bya $2.3 million unfavorable
foreign currency extange impactWe expect our subscription services revenues to continue to grow in future periods as we continu
to promote our cloud offering to new and existing customers.

Product support revenuesThe following table sets forth product support rever(iirethousands) and related percentage changes for
the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 % Change
Product Support Revenues:
Domestic $ 159,38: $ 161,28¢ -1.2%
International 107,13¢ 119,92 -10.7%
Total product support revenues $ 266,52, $ 281,20¢ -5.2%

Product support revenues are derived from providing technical software support and software updates and upgrades to custor
Product support revenues are recognized ratably over the term of the contract, which is generally one yeaisuppod revenues
decreased $14.7 millioduring 2022 as compared to the prior yearjmarily due toan $11.6 million unfavorabldoreign currency
exchange impacand certain existing customers converting from perpetual product licenses with separate support contracts to c
subscription services or term product licenses offeri®gs product support revenues may experience declines in future periods as we
continwe to promote our cloud offering to new and existing customers.

Other services revenueslhe following table sets forth other services revenues (in thousands) and related percentage changes for
periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 % Change
Other Services Revenues:

Consulting
Domestic $ 39,147 $ 36,81¢ 6.3%
International 41,697 42 91¢ -2.8%
Total consulting revenues 80,84¢ 79,732 1.4%
Education 4,65E 4,94¢ -5.9%
Total other services revenues $ 85,49¢ $ 84,68( 1.0%

Consulting revenues. Consulting revenues are derived from helping customers plan and execute the deployment of our softwatr
Consulting revenuescreased $1.1 millioduring2022 ascompared to the prior year, primarily disean increase in average bill rates
andan incrase in billable hours worldwigeartially offset by a $.1 million unfavorable foreign currency exchange impact

Education revenuesEducation revenues are derived from the education and training that we provide to our customers to enhance tf
ability to fully utilize the features and functionality of our software. These offerings includis@ifils, custom course development,
joint training with customersé internal staff, a nnd debveredn d a r
Education revenueadid not materially changeuring2022as compared to the prior year
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Costs and Expenses

Cost of revenuesThe following table sets forth cost of revenues (in thousands) and related percentage changes for the patixtts indic

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 % Change
Cost of Revenues:
Product licenses and subscription services:
Product licenses $ 1,672 $ 1,721 -2.8%
Subscription services 24,77( 16,901 46.€%
Total product licenses and subscription services 26,44z 18,62 42.C%
Product support 21,26¢ 19,25¢ 10.4%
Other services:
Consulting 50,82( 48,77: 4.2%
Education 4,463 5,26( -15.2%
Total other services 55,28: 54,03: 2.3%
Total cost of revenues $ 102,98¢ $ 91,90¢ 12.1%

Cost of product licenses revenuegost of product licenses revenues consists of referral fees paid to channel partners, the costs
product manuals and media, and royalties paid to-fhantly software vendor€ost of product licenseswenuesdid not materially
changeduring2022as compared to the prior year.

Cost of subscription services revenudsost of subscription services revenues consists of equipment, facility and other related suppot
costs(including cloud hostingnfrastructure cosjsand personnel and related overhead c8siisscription services headcoumtreased
52.8%to 110at December 32022from 72 at December 32021 Cost of subscription services reveniraseased $7.9 millioduring

2022 as compaie to the prior yeamprimarily dueto (i) a $.1 million increase in cloud hostinigfrastructure costs, which is a result

of the increased usage by new and existing cloud subscription services cus{oyn&r&l.7 million increase in employee salaries
primarily attributable to an increase in average staffing levels and wage increasdsi) amdb07 million increase in variable
compensationincluded in cost of subscription services revenues for 2022 is an aggregate $0.7 million favorablectoraigy
exchange impact.

Cost of product support revenue€ost of product support revenues consists of personnel and related overheadatogisg those
under our Enterprise Support progra@®ur Enterprise Support program utilizes primarily consulting personnel to provide product
support to our customers at our discretion. Compensation related to personnel providing Enterprise Support servieekds oeysdr

of product support revenueBroduct support headcountreased 5.2% 183at December 32022from 174at December 32021

Cost of product support revenuesreased $2.0 millioduring2022 as compared to the prior year, primarily dug¢X@ $L.0 million
increase in employesalaries primarily attributable to wage increageys a $09 million net increase in shateased compensation
expenserimarily attributableto the grant of additional awards under the 2013 Equity, Rlzoi(iii) a $06 million increase in variable
compensationincludedin cost of product support revenues 222is an aggregat$l.1 million favorablgoreign currency exchange
impact

Cost of consulting revenuesCost of consulting revenues consists of personnel and related overheaéxadsting those under our
Enterprise Support program which are allocated to cost of product support rev@mnssilting headcounmcreased 8.2%o0 447 at
December 312022from 413at December 312021 Cost of consulting revenudscreased $2.0 millionuring2022 as compared to
the prior year, primarily due @ a $1.0 million net increase in shavased compensation expepsinarily attributableto the grant of
additional awards under the 2013 Equity P&ard (ii) a $07 million increase in employee salarigsmarily attributable to an increase
in average staffing leveknd wage increases, partially offset by a shift in staffing levels to lower cost rguaotially offset by (iii) a
$0.9 million decrease in in subcontractor cobtsluded in cost of consulting revenues for 2022 is an aggrég&enillion favorable
foreign currency exchange impact

Cost of education revenuesCost of education revenues consists of personnel and related overheaddos#tion headcount
decreased 55.6% 16 at December 32022from 36 at December 32021 Cost of education revenudscreased $0.8 millioturing

2022 as compared to theipr year primarily due toa $0.6 million decrease in compensation and related costs primarily attributable to
a decrease in average staffing levels
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Sales and marketing expensesSales and marketing expenses consist of personnel costsnissions, offie facilities, travel,
advertising, public relations programs, and promotional events, such as trade shows, seminars, and technical c8aleseanes.
marketing headcoumlecreased 7.7% 434at December 32022from 470at December 32021 The fdlowing table sets forth sales
and marketing expenses (in thousands) and related percentage changes for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,
2022 2021 % Change

Sales and marketing expenses $ 146,88. $ 160,14 -8.3%

Sales and marketing expenskexreased $13.3 milliothuring 2022 as compared to the prior year, primarily duéi}a $17.0 million
decrease in variable compensatmimarily attributable to a net increase in capitalized commissions and decreases in other personn
costs and employee relations expenégsa .8 million decrease in employee salaripsmarily attributable to a decrease in average
staffing levels, prtially offset by wage increasddj) a $0.7 milliondecrease in marketing and advertising sty a $07 million
decrease in facility and other related support cests,(v)a $06 million decrease icloud hosting infrastructure costmrtially offset

by (vi) a $5.4 million net increase in shaigased compensation expemsénarily attributableto the grant of additional awards under

the 2013 Equity Plan, partially offset by the forfeiture of certain awards and the fair value remeasuremtaih diabdity-classified
awards at the end of the reporting perwd (vii) a $1.8 million increase in travel and entertainment expenditures that were undertaken
as various COVIBE19-related restrictions were liftethcluded in sales and marketing expen$or2022is an aggregat$6.7 million
favorableforeign currency exchange impact

Research and development expensBesearch and development expenses consist of the personnel costs for our software engineeri
personnel, depreciation of equipment, and other related Bestearch and development headcalesteased 1.6% 688at December

31, 2022 from 699 at Decembe31,2021 The following table summarizes research and development expenses (in thousands) an
related percentage changes for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,
2022 2021 % Change

Research andevelopment expenses $ 127,42¢ $ 117,115 8.8%

Research and development experiseseased $10.3 millioduring 2022 as compared to the prior year, primarily dudi}a $6.5
million increase in employesalaries primarily attributable to wage increases and an increase in average stadfamgésatially offset
by a shift in staffing levels to lower cost regioif) a $3.1 million net increase in shatgased compensation experg@amarily
attributableto the grant of additional awards under the 2013 Equity Plan, partially offset by eevtaiths that became fully vested and
the fair value remeasurement of certain liabititgssified awards at the end of the reporting pefiiigl a $1.4 million increase in
variable compensatigmand (iv)a $05 million increasdn consulting andhdvisory costspartially offset by(v) a $L.5 million decrease
in facility and other related support costeluded in research and development expens@Ofi2is an aggregat®?.3 million favorable
foreign currency exchange impact.

General and adminigative expensesGeneral and administrative expenses consist of personnel and related overhead costs, and ott
costs of our executive, finance, human resources, information systems, and administrative departments, as wedtgscihirslilting,

legd, and other professional feeSeneral and administrative headcourtreased 6.6%o0 274 at December 312022 from 257 at
December 312021 The following table sets forth general and administrative expenses (in thousands) and related percentage chan
for the periods indicated:

Years Ended December 31,
2022 2021 % Change

General and administrative expenses $ 111,421 $ 95,501 16.7%

General and administrative expensgzeased $15.9 millioduring 2022 as compared to the prior yearimarily due to(i) a $.1

million net increase in shagased compensation expempsenarily attributableto the grant of additional awards under the 2013 Equity
Plan, partially offset by certain awards that became fully vesii¢da $3.1 million increase in costs related to the maintenance and
operations obur corporate aircraftjii) a $1.7 million increase irdirectors and officers liability insurand@v) a $1.3 million increase

in employee salaries primarily attributable to wage increases and an increase in average staffing levels, partiallya cffsttiby
staffing levels to lower cost regior(g) a $1.0 million increase in travel and entertainment expenditures that were undertaken as variou:
COVID-19related restrictions were lifte¢yi) a $09 million increase iremployee relations expensasd (vii) a$0.5 million increase

in facility and other related support costzartially offset by(viii) a $L.5 million decrease in custodial fees incurred on our bitcoin
holdings.Included in general and administrative expense2@@2is an aggregat®1.9 million favorabldoreign currency exchange
impact
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Digital asset impairment losseégains on sal§ net Digital asset impairment lossase recognized when the carrying value of our
digital assets exceeds their lowest fair vatianytime sincetheir acquisition Impaired digital assets are written down to fair value at
the time of impairmentndsuch impairment lossannot be recovered for any subsequent increases in fair Galins (if any) are not
recorded until realized upon salknhe following table sets fdntdigital asset impairment loss@mins on sale net(in thousands) and
related percentage changes for the periods indicated

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 % Change
Digital asset impairment losses $ 1,287,210 % 830,62 55.C%
Gains on sale of digital assets $ 927 $ 0 n/a
Digital asset impairment losses (gains on sale), net $ 1,286,228 $ 830,62 54.9%

We may continue to incur significant digital asset impairment losses in the future

Interest Expense, Net

During2022 interestexpensenet, of $3.1million wasprimarily related tahecontractual interest expensedamortization of issuance
costsrelated to oulong-term debt arrangement®uring 2021, interestexpense net, of £9.1 million was primarily related tothe
contractual interest expensad amortization of issuance coswlated to oulongterm debt arragements, and contractual interest
expense incurred on trade credits with Coinb&sder to Note8, Longterm Debt,and Note 4, Digital Asset$p the Consolidated
Financial Statements for furtherfformation

Other Income, Net

During 2022 otherincome net, of $.4 million was comprisegrimarily of foreign currency transaction net gaimuring 2021, other
income net, of £.3million was comprised primarily dbreign currency transaction ngains

Provision for (Benefit from) Income Taxes

During 2022 we recorded provision forincome taxes of 7.3million onapretaxlossof $1.322billion that resulted in an effective
tax rate of(11.1)% as compared tolzenefit fromincome taxes of &75.9million onapretaxlossof $811.4million that resulted in an
effective tax rate 084.0%during2021 The change in ourfefctive tax rate ir2022 as compared to the prior year, was primarily due
to the establishment of a valuation allowance on our deferred tax asset relatetnoatinment ¢ our bitcoin holdings, attributable to
the decrease in the market value of bitcoin aBefember 31, 2022

The U.S. Tax Cuts and Jobé c t i mposed a mandatory deemed repatriation t
accumulged and current earnings and profits of certain of our foreign subsidiaries. As of Decemb@223$22.1 million of the

Transition Tax was unpaid, of which&mi | | i on is i nct edmdl! i ab5bR@it hee o odygd iudtc | u d
payabl e, accrued expenses, and operating lease liabilities

As of December 312022 we had no U.S. feder al net 0 3.8 mildion iofrnfayeign MCGLs  (
carryforwards. As of December 33022 digital asset impairment lossagther temporary differences and carryforwards resulted in
deferred tax assets, net of valuation allowarcesdeferred tax liabilitie®f $1880 million.

As of December 312022 we had avaluation allowance of H.1.4million primarily related toour deferred tax asset related to the
impairment & our bitcoin holdings that, in our present estimation, more likely than not will not be realized. If the market valuéof bitco
continues to decline or we are unable to regain profitability in future periods, we may be required to increase fudhgtithe v
allowance against our deferred tax assets, which could result in a charge that would materially adversely affect nietssiciontie(
period in which the charge is incurred. To the extent the market value of bitcoin rises we may decreasatitive alfdwance against

our deferred tax asset. We will continue to regularly assess the realizability of deferred tax assets

Beginning in the third quarter of 202@/e determined to no longgermanently reinvest our foreign earnings and profés of

December 312022 werecorded aleferrectax liability of $2.2 million on undistributed foreign earnings related to foreign withholding
tax andU.S. state income taxes
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Deferred Revenue and Advance Payments

Deferred revenue and advance payments represeotints received or due from our customers in advance of our transferring our
software or services to the customén.the case of mulyear service contract arrangements,generally do not invoice more than
one year in advance of services and doracord deferred revenue for amounts that have not been invdRmatnue is subsequently
recognized in the period(s) in which control of the software or services is transferred to the customer.

The following table summarizes deferred revenue and advaycegnts (in thousands), as of:

December 31,

2022 2021

Current:
Deferred product licenses revenue $ 282t % 993
Deferred subscription services revenue 51,861 35,58¢
Deferred product support revenue 155,36¢ 166,47
Deferred other services revenue 7,37€ 6,801

Total current deferred revenue and advance payments $ 217,42¢  $ 209,86(
Non-current:
Deferred produdicenses revenue $ 2,74z $ 68
Deferred subscription services revenue 3,03C 1,064
Deferred product support revenue 6,387 6,203
Deferred other services revenue 604 754

Total noncurrent deferred revenue aadvance payments $ 12,76 $ 8,08¢
Total current and nenurrent:
Deferred product licenses revenue $ 5567 $ 1,061
Deferred subscription services revenue 54,891 36,65:
Deferred product support revenue 161,75: 172,68(
Deferred other services revenue 7,98C 7,55¢

Total current and nenurrent deferred revenue and advance payments $ 230,191 % 217,94¢
The portionsof multy e ar contracts that will be invoiced in the futur

net o and fADeferred revenue and advance paymentso @&suebelowst e
Total deferred revenue and advance payniaotsase12.2million in 2022 as compared to the prior year, primarily duariancrease

in deferred revenue from new subscription services contracts and an increase in deferred licens&orvthreiearly renewal od

large term license deal at the end of 2Q2artially offset by a decrease in deferred product support revenue from the timing of product
support renewals and an increase in conversions fropramises to subscription servicesntracts.Included in our international
deferred revenue balances at DecembeRB22is a .9 million unfavorable foreign currency impact from the gensteg¢ngtlening

of the U.S. dollar compared to the prior year

Our remaining performance obligatiogpresents all future revenue under contract and includes deferred revenue and advance payme
and billable norcancelable amounts that will be invoiced and recognized as revenue in future periods. The remaining performan
obligation excludes contractisat are billed in arrears, such as certain time and materials contractsDAseshber 312022 we had

an aggregate transaction price &28.8 million allocated to the remaining performance obligation reldategroduct support,
subscription services, product licenses, and other services conthéetsxpect to recognize approximatel®44.5 million of the
remaining performance obligatiaver the next 12 montlend the remainder thereaftétowever, the timing and ultimate recdgn

of our deferred revenue and advance paymantsother remaining performance obligati@®pend on our satisfaction of various
performance obligations, and the amount of deferred revenue and advance paychesrtsaining performance obligaticaatsny date

should not be considered indicative of revenues for any succeeding period.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Liquidity. Our principal sources of liquidity are cash and cash equivalents agairy collection of our accounts receivable. Cash and
cashequivalents may include holdings in bank demand deposits, money market instruments, certificates of deposit, and W.S. Trea:
securities.Under our Treasury Reserve Policy and bitcoin acquisition strategy, we use a significant portion of,dnclodsty cash
generated from capital raisitigansactionsto acquire bitcoinsAs discussed in Not(g) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

i Digital Assets, to our Consolidated Financial Statements, our bitcoin are classified as intieditetangible assetsin September

2022, we entered into a newtat-market equity offering program, pursuant to which we may from-torténe issue and sell shares

of our class A common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $500.0 million. dFortad o n a | i nd Ad-thenat i
Mar ket Equity Offeringso bel ow.
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As of December 312022and 2021, the amount of cash and cash equivalents held by our U.S. entitied «8snillion and #.3.1
million, respectively, and by our ndd.S. entities was 2.0 million and $%0.3million, respectively. We earn a significant amount of
our revenues outside the United Statadwe repatriated foreign earnings and profits 4.8 million during2022and %7.5million
during2021

Our materialcontractual obligationgexplained in further detail in the Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements, as reference
below) and cash requirememisnsist of

1 principal and interest payments related to our {tengn debt(Note 8, Longterm Deby;

1 rent payments under noncancellable operating |§bk#e 7, Leasgs

1 payments related to the Transition T&ote 9, Commitments and Contingengies

1 payments underariouspurchase agreemenfgimarily related to thirgparty software supporting our products, marketing, and
operationgNote 9, Commitments and Contingengjesnd

1 ongoing personnaklated expenditures and vendor payments

We believe that existing cash and cash equivalents held by us and cash aequoaaknts anticipated to be generated by us are
sufficient to meet working capital requirements, anticipated capital expenditures, and contractual obligations fohatreastl2
months.Beyond the nex12 months, our longerm cash requirements guamarily for obligations related to our lorigrm debt We
haveprincipal due upon maturity adur longterm debt instrumerst in the aggregate of $2.413 billion in addition$&4 million in
coupon interest due each sesminual period for the 2025 Contible Notes, $5.3 million in coupon interest due each seaminual
period for the 2028 Secured Nates estimate®1.3 million due monthly invariable coupon interefar the 20255ecuredlerm Loan
(based on thenterestrate in effect aDecembeBl, 2®2), and $0.1 million due monthly in principal and interest related to our other
long-term secured deb¥e also have longerm cash requirements for obligations related to our operating |¢las@sansition Tax,
andour variouspurchase agreementécash and cash equivalents generated by future operating activéiest sufficientto enable

us to satisfy these obligatignse mayseek togenerate cash and cash equivalents from other sodfvesources could include the
sale ofbitcoins,additional borrowings collateralized by our bitcoias,well agheissuanceand sle of shares of our class A common
stock. Furthermoref certain conditions are metye mayhave the right telect to settlehe Convertible Notes upon a conmgen of
suchConvertible Notes in shares of our class A common stock, or a combination of cash and shares of class A commbitistock
may enable us to reduce the amount of our cash obligations under the Convertible Notes

The 2028 Secured Notes havstated maturity date of June 15, 2028, but include a springing maturity feature that will cause the state
maturity date to spring ahead to the date that is (i) 91 days prior to the existing maturity date of the 2025 ConvesibléNhtis
September 8, 2025), (ii) 91 days prior to the existing maturity date of the 2027 Convertible Notes (which is November 16, 2026), c
(iii) the maturity date of any future convertible debt that we may issue that is then outstanding, unless on such datespeifete
liquidity requirements or less than $100,000,000 of aggregate principal amount of the 2025 Convertible Notes, the 2abieConver
Notes, or such future convertible debt, as applicable, remains outstanding.

As of December 312022 we held approximabg 132,500bitcoing of which approximatel\82,991are unencumberedVe do not
believe we will need to sedir engage in other transactions with respeentpof our bitcoins within the next twelve months to meet our
working capital requirements, althougle may from time to time sadir engage in other transactions with respect tdicoins as part

of treasury management operatioas,noted aboveThebitcoin market historically has been characterized by significant volatility in

its price,limited liquidity and trading volumes compared to sovereign currencies markets, relative anonymity, a developing regulato
landscape, susceptibility to market abuse and manipulation, and various other risks inherent in its entirely eleatiadrfmmviaind
decentralized network. During times of instability in biteoin market, we may not be able to sell our bitcoins at reasonable prices or
at all. As a result, our bitcoins are less liquid than our existing cash and cash equivalents and mayletd serae as a source of
liquidity for us to the same extent as cash and cash equivalents. In addition, upon sale of our bitcoin, we may iooal @ctdisi
related to any realized gains or we may incur capital losses as to which the tax dedagtimnlimited.

The following table sets forth a summary of our cash flows (in thousands) and related percentage changes for the patéaolds indi

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 % Change
Net cash provided byperating activities $ 3,211 $ 93,83¢ -96.€%
Net cash used in investing activities $ (278,59() $ (2,629,23) -89.4%
Net cash provided by financing activities $ 265,18¢ $  2,541,68! -89.€%

Net cashprovided by operating activitiesThe primary source of our cash provided by operating activities is cash collections of our
accounts receivable from customers following the sales and renewals of our product, lszédrsziption servicesnd product syport,

as well as consultingndeducation service®ur primary uses of cash in operating activities are for persoalatéd expenditures for
software development, persoritelated expenditures for providing consulting, education, and subscriptionesgrand for sales and
marketing costs, general and administrative costs, interest expense related to -bemodgbt arrangementandincome taxesin
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2022 and 2021,an-cash items to further reconcile net loss to net cash providegdmating activities consist primarily dépreciation

and amortization, reduction in the carrying amount of operating leaseofigise assets, credit losses and sales allowances, deferred
taxes, release of liabilities for unrecognized tax benefitsedimsed compensation expense, digital asset impairment losses (gains on
sale), net, and amortization of the issuance costs on outdomgdelb.

Net cashprovided byoperating activitieslecrease®90.6 million during 2022 as compared to the prior yedoe toa $934.3 million
increase in net loss and a $47.7 million decrease from changes in operating assets and liabilities, partially m#$86tLbynaillion
increasen noncashitems (principally related to digital asset impairment losses and défiaxes)in particular, we had a $23.0 million
increase in interest payments, primarily with respect to the 2028 Senior Secured Notes and the 2025 Secured Term $b51@ and a
million increase in income tax payments due primarily to decreased incarberiafits from a lower level of stock option exercises.
We also had other increased payments, most notably those related to emgliatgelecosts as we continued to invest in our workforce,
and investment in our cloud infrastructure to support the growslles of subscription services. Additional transitions of customers
from our perpetual license arrangements to our subscription services offerings has also negatively impacted our cadbyprovide
operating activities in 2022 as compared to 2021 agiding for subscription services generally occurs over multiple years, whereas
perpetual licenses are invoiced-npnt.

Net cash used in investing activitiedn 2022 and 2021he changes in net cash (usedpnyvided byinvesting activities primarily
relate topurchaseand salesf digital assetand expenditures on property and equipment. Netwsesthinnvesting activitieslecreased
$2.351billion during2022 as compared to the prior yearimarily due toa $2.339billion decreasén purchass of bitcoins, partially
offset byan $11.8 million increase in sales of bitcoinBuring 2022, we purchased bitcoin usi®$90.5 million ofthe net proceeds
from the issuance of the 20&ecuredlerm Loan $44.6 million of the net proceeds frdime sale of class A common stock under the
2022 Sales Agreemeri11.8 million in proceeds from sales of bitcammdExcessCash During 2021, we purchased bitcoin using the
net proceeds frorthe issuance of our 2027 Convertible Notes and 2028 Secured Mmtesale of class A common stock under the
Open MarkeSale Agreement, artekcessCash.

Net cash provided by financing activitieth 2022and 2021,le changes in net cash providedrsed in financing activities primarily
relate to thaéssuance of oulong-term debtthe sale of class A common stock under2B21Open Market Sale Agreemeand 2022
Sales Agreementhe exercise of stock options under the 2013 Equity, Rteasalesof classA common stock under the 2021 ESPP
the payment of withholding tax on vesting of restricted stock uaitg the repayments of other letegm secured debNet cash
provided byfinancing activitiesdecrease®2.276billion during2022 as compared to tharior year, due tdi) a $1.297billion year
overyear reduction in proceeds, net of issuance costs, fromtéwngdebt from our 2027 Convertible Notes and 2028 Secured Notes
during 2021as compared tthe proceeds, net of issuance costs, from-tengy debt from our 2025 Secured Term Loan ather long

term secured debt during 20238) a $9442 million reduction in net proceeds from the sale of class A common stock under public
offerings from the 2021 Open Market Sale Agreement and the 2022 Sales Agresamefii), a $39.3 million decreade proceeds
from the exercise of stock options under the 2013 Equity Plan during 2022 compared,tpazfi@ily offset by(iv) a $2.6 million
decrease in payment of withholding tax on vesting of restricted stock units during 2022 comparedtwZQ21$1.6 million increase

in proceeds from the sales of class A common stock under the 2021 ESPP during 2022 compared to 2021

Long-term Debt

The termsof each of the longerm debt instruments described belave discussed more fully in No& Long-tem Debt to the
Consolidated Financial Statements.

In December 2020, we issued $650.0 million aggregate principal amdhe2825ConvertibleNotes andn February 2021, we issued
$1.050 billion aggregate principal amountloé 2027ConvertibleNotes. We used the net proceeds from the issuance Gbtheertible
Notes to acquire bitcoinDuring 2022 and 2021we paid $4.9 million and$4.9 million, respectivelyin interest to holdrs of the 2025
ConvertibleNotes The 2027 Convertible Notes do not bear regular interesivarfthvenot paid any special interest to holders of the
2027 Convertible Notes to date.

In June 2021, we issued $500.0 million aggregate principal amount @0#8& Secured Notes. We used the net proceeds from the
issuance of the 2028 Secured Notes to acquire bitégiraf December 31, 202all of the approximatelyl4,890bitcoins held by
MicroStrategy Incorporategerve as part of the collateral for the 2028 Secured NDBtetng 2022 and 2021we paid $30.6 million
and$15.4 million, respectivelyin interest taholders ofthe 2028 Secured Notes

In March 2022, MacroStrategy, our wholbyvned subsidiary, enteredtina Credit and Security Agreement with Silvergate Bank,
pursuant to which Silvergate Bank issued the $205.0 million 2025 Secured Term Loan to MacroStrategy. We used $190f5 million
the net proceeds from the issuance of the 2025 Secured Term Loanite bitgain, used $5.0 million of the net proceeds to establish

a reserve account thegrves as collateral for the 2025 Secured Term Loanhavel used anexpect tocontinue touse the remaining

net proceeds to pay fees, interest, and expenses raldted2025 Secured Term Loan. Adafcember 31, 2022approximatel\34,619
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of the bitcoins held by MacroStrategy serve as part of the collateral for the 2025 Secured Term Loan. Subject to cértais cond
described iNote 8, Longterm Debt, to the Cowntidated Financial StatementdacroStrategy can withdraw excess collateral held in
the Bitcoin Collateral AccounDuring 2022 we paid $.7 million in interest to Silvergate.

In June 2022, we, through one of our whailyned subsidiaries, entered inteecured term loan agreement in the amount of $11.1
million, bearing interest at an annual rate of 5.2%, and maturing in JunedRA0&Y 2022 we paid $& million in principal and interest
to the lender.

At-the-Market Equity Offerings

On June 14, 2021, we entered itite 2021 Open Market Sale Agreement with Jefferiggrsuant to which we issda@nd ®Id shares

of our class A common stock having an aggregate offering priapprbximately$1.0 billion from time to time through Jeffes.The
terms of the2021 Open MarketSale Agreementare discussed more fully in NotE8, At-theMarket Equity Offeringsto the
Consolidated Financial Statemeriairing 2021, we issued andold 1,413,767shares of our class A common stock under2®21
Open MarketSale Agreement, at an average gross price per share of approxineB3$for aggregate net proceeds (le€5$
million in sales commissions and expenses) of approxima®39.% million. As of December31, 2021, the cumulative aggregate
offering priceof the shares aflass A common stockold under th€0210pen Market Sale Agreement was approximately $1.0 billion,
inclusive ofsales commissionsonstituting the maximum program amount under2b&l Open MarkeSale Agreement

On September 9, 2022, we entered into the 2022 Sales Agreement with the 2628y8ate, pursuant to which we may issue and sell
shares of our class A common stock having an aggregate offering price of up to $500.0 million from time to time thro2grShaie
Agents. The terms of the 2022 Sales Agreement are discussed moireNdtg 13 At-the-Market Equity Offeringsto the Consolidated
Financial Statement®uring 202, we issued and soRil8,575shares of our class A common stock under the 2022 Sales Agreement,
at an average gross price per share of approxima2dl$.$6 for aggregate net proceeds (le€s4%million in sales commissions and
expenses) of approximately&2 million. As of December 31, 2@2 approximately 53.4million of our class A common stock
remained available for issuance and sale pursuant to theS2022 Agreement

Share repurchaseduring the yeas ended December 32022and 2021 we did notrepurchase anshares of our class A common
stock. SeefiPart Il. Item5. Mar ket f or Regi strantoés Common Equi thgses oREgUitat e
Securitie® o fAnrtudl Report and Noté4, Treasury Stock, to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information

Debt repurchases and repaymenBuring the years ended December 31, 2022 and 2021, we did not repurchase any of our outstandir
debt. We or our affiliates may, at any time and from time to time, seek to retire or purchase our outstanding debtshrpugihaaes
and/or exchanges faquity or debt, in opemarket purchases, privately negotiated transactions or otherwise. Such repurchases c
exchanges, if any, will be upon such terms and at such prices as we may determine, and will depend on prevailing ntiemkgt condi
our liquidity requirements, contractual restrictions and other factesmay also repay our outstanding indebtedness, including our
2025 Secured Term Loan. The prepayment of the 2025 Secured Term Loan is subject to a prepayment premium of 0.50% or 0.25
the princpal balance being prepaid, if such prepayment is made during the first year or second year, respectively, of the 2025 Seci
Term Loan. The amounts involved in any such repurchase or repayment may be material. We may effect debt repurchasestsr repayi
using proceeds from the sale of our class A common stock pursuant to the 2022 Sales Agreement (under which approximately $4
million remains available for sale as of the date hereof).

Unrecognized tax benefitfAs of December 312022 we had$6.1 million of total gross unrecognized tax benefits, including accrued
interestallof whi ch was r edcrrdre d iiEmdtinfing of Hngepayniéotsitigat could result from these unrecognized
tax benefits will depend on a number of factors, aocbrdingly the amount and period of any future payments cannot be estimated.
We do not expect any significant tax payments relateshtecognized tax benefithiring2023

Recent Accounting Standards

See Note 3, Recent Accounting Standards, to thedlidated Financial Statements for further information.
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ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

The following discussion about our market risk exposures involves foiwakihg statements. Actual results could differ materially
from those projected in the forwaldoking statements.

We are exposed to the impactroérket pricechangesn bitcoin, foreign currency fluctuationsnd interest rate fluctuations

Market Price Rik of Bitcoin. We havauseda significant portion of our casimcluding cash generated from capital raising transactions
to acquirebitcoin and, as obecember 312022 we held approximatel§32,500bitcoins. The carrying value of our bitcoins as of
Deceember 312022was $.840bhillion, which reflects cumulative impairments $2.153hillion, on our Consolidated Balance Sheet.
As discussed in Not&(g), Summary of Significant Accounting Policies, to the Consolidated Financial Statememis;aust for our
bitcoin as indefinitdived intangible assets, which are subject to impairment losses if the fair value of our bitcoin decreases below the
carrying value at any time since their acquisition. Impairment losses cannot be recoveredtitassaquent increase in fair value. For
example, the market price of one bitcoimthe Coinbase exchange (our principal market for bitaqaimyed froma low of$15,460.00

to a high of$48,240.00during theyearendedDecember 312022 but the carrying alue of each bitcoin we held at the end of the
reporting period reflects the lowest price of one bitcoin quoted omdtiee exchangat any time since its acquisitiomherefore,
negative swings in the market price of bitcoin could have a material iropamtir earnings and on the carrying value of our digital
assets. Positive swings in the market price of bitcoin are not reflected in the carrying value of our digital assetstaaatminga only
when the bitcoin is sold at a gain. For ylearendedDecember 312022, we incurredmpairment losss net ofgains on salegf $1.286
billion on our bitcoin.

Foreign Currency Risk.We conduct a significant portion of our business in currencies other than theoUag.the currency in which

we report oulConsolidated Financial Statementaternational revenues accounted 46x2% 44.0% and41.9%of our total revenues

for the years ended December 3022, 2021, and 2020espectively. We anticipate that international revenues will continue to account
for a significant portion of our total revenues. The functional currency of each of our foreign subsidiaries is genkrediyaiheency.

Assets and liabilities of our foreign subsidiaries are translated intadoll&rs at exchange rates in effectofishe applicable Balance
Sheet date and any resulting translation adj Revenunes antl expeasese
generated from these subsidiaries are translated at average monthly exchange rates durintgithie gdieh the transactions
occur. Transaction gains and losses arising from transactions denominated in a currency other than the functional currenty of the e
involved are included in the results of operations

As a result oftransacting in multiple currencies and reporting our Consolidated Financial StatementsdolldtS,. our operating
results may be adversely impacted by currency exchange rate fluctuations in the future. The impact of foreign currageyratecha
fluct uati ons on current and comparGAAPe Fpienrainocdisal i sMedssicTeisihe
Management 6s Discussion and Analysis of Financi al Conditio

We cannot predict the effect of exchange rate flutidms upon our future resultsVe attempt to minimize our foreign currency risk by
converting our excess foreign currency held in foreign jurisdictions to U.S.-delfemminated caséind investmerdaccounts.

As of December 312022 a 10% adverse changeforeign currency exchange rates versus the U.S. dollar would have decreased oul
aggregate reported cash and cash equivalert&%y If average exchange rates during the year ended DecemB22had changed
unfavorably by 10%, our revenues for thear ended December 32022 would have decreased By7®6. During the year ended
December 312022 our revenues wellewer by 4.5% as a result of 40.1% unfavorable change in weighted average exchange rates,
as compared to the prior year.

Interest Rate RiskOur 2025 Secured Term Loan bears interest at a floating rate equal to the Secured Overnight Financing Rate 30 [
Averageas published by the Feder al,plu 8 8%rwihea flddaoh3k75%. At Détember, 8GP2, k 6 s
the floating rate equaled 7.76%. Based on this rate, annual interest expense on the 2025 Secured Term Loan would lelapproxin
$161 million. If the floating rate increased 100 basis points, the annual interest expense on the 2025 Securedrilaoald be
approximately $1& million.

Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Our Consolidated Financial Statements, together with the related notes and the associated Reports of Independent tdigistered F
Accounting Firm, are set forth on the pages indicated in Item 15.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants okccounting and Financial Disclosure

None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

Our management, with the participation of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, evaluated the effecifmmes
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Rule43(8a and 15d.5(e) under the Exchange Act) as of the end of the period
covered by this Annual Report. Management recognizes that any controls and procedures, no matter how well desjmaratednd
can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving their objectives, and management necessarily applies its judgragngithevalu
costbenefit relationship of possible controls and procedures. Our disclosure controls and proceduremaretdgsovide reasonable
assurance of achieving their control objectives. Based on the evaluation of our disclosure controls and proceduresndobthbe
period covered by this Annual Report, our Chief Executive Officer and Chief FinancialrQifineluded that, as of such date, our
disclosure controls and procedures were effective at the reasonable assurance level.

Management 6s Report on I nternal Control Over Financi al Rep

Our management is responsible for establishing and maintainingatdénternal control over financial reporting. Internal control over
financial reporting is defined in Rules 13&(f) and 15e15(f) promulgated under the Exchange Act as a process designed by, or under
the supervision of, tkeaGdmpannbésppti hchpakiaxeobtfieers an
management, and other personnel, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reportingparettbe pfe
financial statements for externalirposes in accordance with GAAP. Such internal control includes those policies and procedures th:
() pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactiormsitindslisipthe
assets of th€ompany, (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of fina
statements in accordance with GAAP, and that receipts and expenditures of the Company are being made only in accordance
authorizdions of management and directors of the Company, and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or tim
detection of wunauthorized acquisition, us e, or di s pramcialt i o |
statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatemeot®n®afjany
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that the control may become inadequatef beangses in
conditions, or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

Under the oversight of our Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, our management conducted an assessment of
effectiveness of ounternal control over financial reporting as of December2B22based on the criteria set forth in Internal Control
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). Base
its assessmeénmanagement has determined that, as of Decemb&0322, our internal control over financial reporting is effective
based on those criteria.

Our independent registered public accounting firm, KPMG LLP, which audited the Consolidated Financial Siateto€eled in this
Annual Report, has issued an attestation report on our internal control over financial reporting. This report is irtbkeidepiorts of
I ndependent Registered Public AccountingeBiom in Altem 15.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

No change in our internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Rules5(8aand 15615(f) under the Exchange Aaitcurred
during thethree months endddecember 312022that ha mateially affected, oiis reasonably likely to materially affeaur internal
control over financial reporting.
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Iltem 9B. Other Information
2022 Cash Bonus Determinations for Certain Executive Officers

OnFebruarl3, 2023, the Companyds Compensation Committee deter mi
the Company irthe amount set forth opposite his namvigh respect to his performance in 2022

Phong Le $  770,00(
President & Chief Executive Officer

TheCompa@Ggmmpgensati on Committee determined the foregoing awa
Executive Officerés performance in the context of gen2r al

On Februanl3,2023, t he Companyés Chief Executive Officer determine
the Company ithe amounts set forth opposite their respective namas, each case with respect 2to t

Andrew Kang $  324,65¢
Senior Executive Vice President & Chiefancial Officer

Timothy E. Lang $  500,00C
Senior Executive Vice President & Chief Technology Officer

W. Ming Shao $ 55000C

Senior Executive Vice President & General Counsel

The Chief Executive Officer determined the foregoing awart
performance in the context of general economic and industry conditions and Company performance dufiige 222h borsiaward
paid to the Companyés Senior Executive Vice Presi dem022% Ch

Th e Co mpChief Révenue Officer received quarterly cash bonus awards pursuant to his 2022 Sales Management Varia
CompensationPlahi Var i abl e Co mpwelhas atheraddition® pramotiogalshbonusawards, all of whichwere made
withrespecttoth Companydéds Chief Revenue Of ftotd the ainsuntpreseritedlonmanc e i n

Kevin Adkisson $ 645,80«
Senior Executive Vice President & Chief Revenue Officer

The amounts of these individual cash bonus awards were determined according to performance criteria relating to revenle, team
and professional development goals specified in the Variable Compensation Plan and certain special incentive progiarableas app

Salary Determinations for Certain Executive Officers

OnFebruaryl3,2023 t he Companyds Compensat i salarietfdehenfoliowirg executavgofficamfithe d  t
Company, in the amousset forth oppositéheir names, effective January 1, 2023:

Michael Saylor $ 1
Executive Chairman
Phong Le $ 1,000,00C

OnFebruaryl3, 2023 t he Companyé6és Chief Executive Officer approved
Company, resulting in the amounts set forth opposite their respective names, effective Janu&y 1, 202

Kevin Adkisson $  400,00C
Andrew Kang $ 640,00
Timothy E. Lang $  640,00C
W. Ming Shao $  640,00C
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Annual Discretionary Cash Bonus Targets for Certain Executive Officers

OnFebruaryl3,2023 t he Companyds Compensat i discreGonarycash horus targesfor 2023 for hén e
following executive officer of the Company in the amount set forth opposite his name:

Phong Le $  800,00(

An award pursuant to the foregoing discretionary cash bont
based on its subjective evaluation of Mr. Leds perf opanyanc e
performance during the year.

On Februaryl3, 2023 t he Companyés Chief Executive Officer eS8forahel i s|
following executive officers of the Company in the amounts set forth opposite their respentas na

AndrewKang $ 500,00C
Timothy E. Lang $ 500,00C
W. Ming Shao $ 500,00C

Awards pursuant to the foregoing discretionary cash bonus targets will be determinéddy C o nChief Exgdttve Officer based
on his subjective evaluation of the applicabl e exedaensand e 6 s
Company performance during the year.

Item 9C. Disclosure Regarding Foreign Jurisdictions that Prevent Inspections

None.
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PART IlI

Iltem 10. Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance

The information required by this ltemiisn c or por at ed herein by reference to the |
Of ficers of the CompainNqgmi nieEel se,cot i @md off CoDriproercattoer sGovernanc
Commi tteeso i n ourentdodd fiedviith thevSEC motlatextlyan 520 days aftar the fiscal year ended De8gmber
2022( t R@3Pir oxy Statemento) .

ltem 11. Executive Compensation

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the informationipd ed under t he he
and Director Compensation, 0 ACompensation Committee Repor
Committees Compensati on C2023Rroxy $Stateenént. i n t he

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder Matters

The information required by this ITtem is incorporateutityher
Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Managemén and #fAExecuti ve and 2023Prexg $taiemenC o my

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions, and Director Independence

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the informatiorepgovibi nder t he head
Governance and the Board of 20R3ProxyStatermrest. and its Committeeso

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

The information required by this Item is incorporated herein by reference to the infoommat pr ovi ded under th
t

e
Registered Public Account 2083@rody BtatemertRees and Serviceso in h
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PART IV

Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules

(@) The following documents are filed as part of this Annual Report:

1. Consolidated Financial Statements

Page
Reports of Independent Registered Public ACCOUNtING FIIML.....ccoiiiiiiiiiiiiee e 69
Consolidated Financial Statements:

BalBNCE SNBELS. ...ttt ettt eeaaae bbbttt ettt et e et e e e eeet e ettt ettt e et e e eaeeeeeeesaaateeeeaeaaeaaeaaan, 73

Statements Of OPEIALIONS........ciiureieiriie et eme et e s n e e s s et e s s e e e s anr e e e s anreeesnennnes 74

Statements 0of COMPIENENSIVESS...........ceiiiiiiiiiiie et e neenr e e nnnnes 75

Statements oDefiBtEquityk.h.0.l..0..5. S 0 i 7€

Statements Of CASH FIOWS.........eviiiiiiiiieii et e e eerrmt e e s e e e e e e s e s e 77

Notes to Consolidated Financial STAtEMENLS..........cuiiiiiriiiieerei e e 78

2. EXRUDIES .ttt ettt ettt et etet et ettt ettt et et et ettt ee et et et et et ete e et et et et et renne et ee et et et et et et et eeeeneten e 114
3. Consolidated Financial Statement Schedule

Schedule [F Valuation and QUAalifying ACCOUNLS..........iicurrriiieiiermrirre e s s e r e e s e e e s e sne e e 11¢

(b) Exhibits
We hereby file as part of this Annual Report the exhibits listed in the Index to Exhibits.

(c) Financial Statement Schedule
The following financial statement schedule is filed herewith:

Schedule Id Valuation and Qualifying Accounts

All other items includedéh an Annual Report on Form dare omitted because they are not applicable or the answers thereto are none

Item 16. Form 10-K Summary

None.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of DirectofdVlicroStrategy Incorporated:

Opinion on Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We have audited MicroStrategy Incorporated and subsidiaries' (the Company) internal control over financial repoifiegeastudr

31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Conttotegrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring
Organizations of the Treadway Commission. In our opinion, the Company maintained, in all material respects, miéectledntrol
over financial reporting as &fecember 31, 2022, based on criteria established in Internal Coimtegrated Framework (2013) issued
by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission.

We also have audited, in acdance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States) (PCAOB)
the consolidated balance sheets of the Company as of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statentients of oper
comprehensive loss, stdtlo | der sdé (deficit) equity, a n d-yeargeribd ehdedoDesEmhero3t, e
2022, and the related notes and the financial statement schedule, Schedule II, Valuation and Qualifying Accounts Ycatectivel
consolidated fiancial statements), and our report datetbruary 16, 2028xpressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated
financial statements.

Basis for Opinion

The Compa
the effec
Over Fina
on our audit. We are
in accordance with the
and the PCAOB.

yd6s management is responsi bl e f o rtingmaadifonits assessmeangof e f
eness of internal control over financi aControepor
al Reporting. Our r e s p o n s irndalicdntrokoyer financial reporéng Ipased s s
lic accounting firm registered with the PCAOB and are required to be independent with respentpautly

.S. federal securities laws and the applicablamdlesgulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission

ny o6
tiv
nci
apub
]

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plan and petitoion the au
obtain reasonable assurance about whether effdatieal control over financial reporting was maintained in all material respects.
Our audit of internal control over financial reporting included obtaining an understanding of internal control over fiapodialg,
assessing the risk that a mateviglakness exists, and testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal conti
based on the assessed risk. Our audit also included performing such other procedures as we considered necessarystaresircum
We believe that ouaudit provides a reasonable basis for our opinion.

Definition and Limitations of Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

A companyb6s internal control over financi al report iiabilgyof s a
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally czmepiad a
principles. A company6s internal control over f ientante the | |

maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and disposition®tsf dfi¢hass
company; (2) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit pfdiparatial statements in
accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are bdyngimade ol
accordance with authorizations of management and directors of the cormpdi(@)provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention
or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, u stentheor
financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal tohover financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections

of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate Heragese iof ¢
conditions, or that the degreeapmpliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate.

/sl KPMG LLP

McLean, Virginia
February 16, 2023
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm

To the Stockholders and Board of DirectofdviicroStrategy Incorporated:

Opinion onthe Consolidated Financial Statements

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of MicroStrategy Incorporated and subsidiaries (the Ga@mpany)
December 31, 2022 and 2021, the related consolidated statements of operations, compgehdnsd s s, st ockhol der s
cash flows for each of the years in the thrgear period ended December 31, 2022, and the related notes and financial statemer
schedule, Schedule IlI, Valuation and Qualifying Accounts, (collectively, theolidated financial statements). In our opinion, the
consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Company asef B&c2622

and 2021, and the results of its operations and its cash flowadbrof the years in the thrgear period ended December 31, 2022, in
conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (UniteC3@ts) (

the Companyds internal control over financi al repor ntiolig a:
Integrated Framework (2013) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commissiarepamtidaied
February 16,2028 x pr essed an unqualified opinion on the effectiven:

Change in Accounting Principle

As discussed in Notes 2(a) and 3 to the consolidated finastei@ments, the Company has changed its method of accounting for
convertible instruments as of January 1, 2021 due to the adoption of Accounting Standards Update-0. R8BG Debt with

Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic €M) and Derivativesral Hedging Cont racts in Entityé4): Own
Accounting for Convertible Instruments-06mgd .Contracts in an

Basis for Opinion

These consolidated financial statements are the responsibility of the Cdmpanynanage ment . Our responsi
on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. We are a public accounting firm registered with the P&ZAOB anc
required to be independent with respect to the Company in accerdéhahe U.S. federal securities laws and the applicable rules and
regulations of the Securities and Exchange Commission and the PCAOB.

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the PCAOB. Those standards require that we plamahe peddr

to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free of material misstatemduog tehether
error or fraud. Our audits included performing procedures to assess the risks of material misstatemeonsblilated financial
statements, whether due to error or fraud, and performing procedures that respond to those risks. Such proceduresimitiindgd ex
on a test basis, evidence regarding the amounts and disclosures in the consolidated finanaaltst@emaudits also included
evaluating the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating theemtatialhpre
of the consolidated financial statements. We believe that our audits provide a reasasiakfi@ our opinion.
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Critical Audit Matteis

The critical audit matters communicated below are matters arising from the current period audit of the consolidatedtftemeiats

that were communicated or required to be communicated to the audit ¢eenant that: (1) relate to accounts or disclosures that are
material to the consolidated financial statements and (2) involved our especially challenging, subjective, or completsjuttlggnen
communication of critical audit matters does not alter invaany our opinion on the consolidated financial statements, taken as a whole,
and we are not, by communicating the critical audit matters below, providing separate opinions on the critical auditr roatthes
accounts or disclosures to which they relate.

Evaluation of standalone selling price for standard product support

As discussed in Note 2(n) to the consolidated financial statements, the Company typically sells its software licenges (produ
licenses) together with technical support servicesrigids to wherandif available software upgrades (standard product
support). Product license revenue is recognized at the point when control to the license is transferred to the customer while
standard product support revenue is recognized ratably avézrin of the product support period. The accounting for

revenue from contracts with multiple performance obligations requires the transaction price to be allocated to each distinct
performance obligation based on their respective relative standalong geitie (SSP). Because product licenses are not

sold on a standalone basis and because pricing is highly variable, the Company establishes SSP of product licenses using
residual approach after first establishing the SSP of standard product suppodrbabsdrvable standalone sales with

pricing within a narrow range as a percentage of the net license fee.

We identified the evaluation of the SSP for standard product support as a critical audit matter. Especially subjeative audito
judgment was requireid evaluating the range of prices used to establish the SSP for standard product support which directl
affects the amount of product license revenue recognized using a residual approach. Changes to the product support fee r
could have a significant ipact on the determination of the SSP for standard product support, impacting the amount and
timing of revenues recognized.

The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the design and
testedtheper ati ng effectiveness of certain internal control
met hodol ogy used to determine the standard product sup,|]
underlying data used in tI8SP analysis. We assessed the range of prices based on observable inputs the Company used t
determine SSP of standard product support by comparing them to the selling prices of standalone renewals for standard
product support and evaluating whether tfa@dalone prices were sufficiently clustered within a narrow range.

Evaluation of audit evidence pertaining to the existence and conttioédfgital assets

As discussed in Notes 2(g) and 4 to the consolidated financial statements, the Caogmamyts for its digital assets as
indefinite-lived intangible assets. The digital assets are recorded at cost, net of any impairment losses incurred since acquisit
As of December 31, 2022, the carryi ng bilkom, nat ef $201863 billidnen C o
cumulative impairments.

We identified the evaluation of audit evidence pertaining to the existence of the digital assets and whether the Conosany cont
the digital assets as a critical audit matter. Subjective auddgnjent was involved in determining the nature and extent of
evidence required to assess the existence of the digital assets and whether the Company controls the digital asséts, as ¢
over the digital assets is provided through private cryptograplyi $tered using thirgarty custodial services at multiple
locations that are geographically dispersed. In addition, information technology (IT) professionals with specializediskills a
knowledge in blockchain technology were needed to assist in theagwalof the sufficiency of certain audit procedures.
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The following are the primary procedures we performed to address this critical audit matter. We evaluated the desagh and te:
the operating effectiveness of certain internal controls over the digiats process, including a control over the comparison
of the Companyés records of digital assets held tosthe
and knowledge in blockchain technology, who assisted in evaluatingncentainal controls over the digital assets process
performed at the custodial locations, related specifically to the generation of the private cryptographic keys, thétheseg o
keys, and the reconciliation of digital assets per the custodial séedigers to the public blockchain. We obtained confirmation
of the Companyés digital assets in custody as of Decen
Companyés record of digital as s srecortafdigitdl asgpttransaédtions tolthe recordso n
on the public blockchain using a software audit tool. We applied auditor judgment in determining the nature and exient of au
evidence required, especially related to assessing the existence afitakadisets and whether the Company controls the
digital assets. We evaluated the sufficiency and appropriateness of audit evidence obtained by assessing the result
procedures performed over the digital assets.

/sl KPMG LLP
We have served astheCompy 6 s audi tor since 2013.

McLean, Virginia
February 16, 2023
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MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Assets
Currentassets:
Cash and cash equivalents
Restricted cash
Accounts receivable, net
Prepaid expenses and other current assets
Total current assets
Digital assets
Property and equipment, net
Right-of-use assets
Deposits and other assets
Deferred tax assets, net
Total assets

Liabilities and Stockholdersdéd (Deficit) I
Current liabilities:
Accounts payable, accrued expenses,apatating lease liabilities
Accrued compensation and employee benefits
Accrued interest
Current portion of longerm debt, net
Deferred revenue aratlvance payments
Total current liabilities
Longterm debt, net
Deferred revenue and advance payments
Operating lease liabilities
Other longterm liabilities
Deferred tax liabilities
Total liabilities
Commitments and Contingencies
Stockhol deEgaity ( Defi cit)
Preferred stock undesignated, $0.001 par value; 5,000 shares authorized; no shares iss
outstanding
Class A common stock, $0.001 par value; 330,000 shares authorized; 18,269 shares iss
9,585 sharesutstanding, and 18,006 shares issued and 9,322 shares outstanding, respe
Class B convertible common stock, $0.001 par value; 165,000 shares authorized; 1,964
issued and outstanding, and 1,38vres issued and outstanding, respectively
Additional paidin capital
Treasury stock, at cost; 8,684 shares and 8,684 shares, respectively
Accumulated other comprehensive loss
(Accumulated deficit) retained earnings
Tot al stockhol dersé (deficit) equity
Tot al l'iabil it i(deBcittaquiy st ockhol der s o

December31, December31,
2022 2021

$ 4383 $ 63,35¢€
7,03¢ 1,07¢

189,28( 189,28(

24,41¢ 14,251

264,56¢ 267,96¢

1,840,02¢ 2,850,21(

32,311 36,587

61,29¢ 66,76(

23,91¢€ 15,82(

188,152 319,78:

$ 2,410,27: $ 3,557,12¢
$ 4297¢  $ 46,08¢
53,71¢ 54,54¢

2,82¢ 1,492

454 0

217,42¢ 209,86(

317,40: 311,98¢

2,378,56( 2,155,15:

12,76: 8,08¢

67,344 76,60¢

17,124 26,22¢

198 109

2,793,39: 2,578,16¢t

0 0

18 18

2 2

1,841,12( 1,727,14:
(782,109 (782,109
(13,801) (7,549

(1,428,359 41,442
(383,12() 978,95¢

$ 2,410,27. $ 3,557,12:

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(in thousands, except per share data)

Revenues:
Product licenses
Subscription services
Total product licenses and subscription services
Product support
Other services
Total revenues
Cost of revenues:
Product licenses
Subscription services
Total product licenses and subscription services
Product support
Other services
Total cost of revenues
Gross profit
Operating expenses:
Sales and marketing
Research and development
General and administrative
Digital asset impairment losses (gains on sale), net
Total operating expenses
Loss from operations
Interest (expense) income, net
Other income (expense), net
Loss before income taxes
Provision for (benefit from) income taxes
Net loss
Basic loss per share (1)

Weighted average shares outstanding used in computing basic loss pe

Diluted loss per share (1)

Weighted average shares outstanding used in computing diluted loss

share

(1) Basic and fully dilutedossper share for class A and class B common stock are the same.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
$ 86,49¢ $ 101,80 $ 86,74¢
60,74¢ 43,06¢ 33,087
147,24 144,87: 119,82¢
266,52; 281,20¢ 284,431
85,49¢ 84,68( 76,47¢
499,26¢ 510,76: 480,73¢
1,672 1,721 2,297
24,77( 16,901 14,83:
26,447 18,62z 17,12€
21,26¢ 19,25¢ 23,971
55,28: 54,03: 49,95;
102,98¢ 91,90¢ 91,05¢
396,27¢ 418,85: 389,68(
146,88: 160,147 148,91(
127,42 117,11 103,561
111,42 95,501 80,13¢
1,286,28 830,627 70,69¢
1,672,01 1,203,38( 403,30¢
(1,275,74) (784,527 (13,625)
(53,136 (29,14 710
6,417 2,287 (7,039)
(1,322,46Y) (811,389 (19,959)
147,33: (275,909) (12,429)
(1,469,79) (535,480 (7,524)
$ (129.89) $ (53.49) $ (0.79)
11,321 10,02( 9,68
$ (129.89) $ (53.49) $ (0.79)
11,321 10,02( 9,684




MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSI VE LOSS
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Net loss $ (1,469,79) $ (535,480 $ (7,529
Other comprehensive (loss) income, net of applicable taxes:
Foreign currency translation adjustment (6,25¢) (3,65¢) 5,913
Unrealized loss on shetérm investments 0 0 (147)
Total other comprehensive (loss) income (6,25%) (3,65¢) 5,76€
Comprehensive loss $ (1,476,05) $ (539,139 $ (1,758)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED

CONSOLI DATED STATEMENTS OF (D&EHIOQ KQWIYDERS 6

Balance at January 1, 2020

Net loss
Other comprehensive income

Conversion of class B to class A common

stock

Issuance of class A common stock upon
exercise of stock options

Purchases of treasury stock
Sharebased compensation expense

Equity component of convertible senior not
net of issuance cost and deferred tax liabili

Balance at December 31, 2020

Opening balance adjustment due te th
adoption of ASU 20206

Net loss

Other comprehensive loss

Issuance of class A common stock upon
exercise of stock options

Issuance of class A common stock under
employee stock purchase plan

Issuance of class A common stock upon
vesting of restricted stock units, net of
withholding taxes

Issuance of class A common stock under
public offerings, net of issuance costs
Sharebased compensation expense
Balance at December 31, 2021

Net loss

Other comprehensive loss

Issuance of class A common stock upon
exercise of stock options

Issuance of class A common stock under
employee stock purchase plan

Issuance of class A common stock upon
vesting of restricted stock units, net of
withholding taxes

Issuance of class A common stock under
public offerings, net of issuance costs
Sharebased compensation expense
Balance at December 31, 2022

(in thousands)

Class B Accumulated (Accumulated

Class A Convertible  Additional Other Deficit)

Common Stock Common Stock  Paid-in Treasury Stock Comprehensive  Retained

Total Shares Amount Shares Amount Capital Shares Amount Loss Earnings
$ 508,55¢ 15,88t$ 16 2,03t $ 2$ 593,58: (7,807) $(658,880) $ (9,651) $ 583,48¢
(7,524) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (7,529
5,76€ 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 5,76€ 0
0 71 0 (71) 0 0 0 0 0 0
51,082 348 0 0 0 51,082 0 0 0 0
(123,229 0 0 0 0 0 (877) (123,229 0 0
10,57¢ 0 0 0 0 10,57¢ 0 0 0 0
107,81( 0 0 0 0 107,81 0 0 0 0
$ 553,04¢ 16,307 % 16 1,964 $ 2$ 763,051 (8,684 $(782,10)$ (3,885 $ 575,96¢
(106,857) 0 0 0 0 (107,810 0 0 0 957
(535,48() 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (535,480)
(3,65¢) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (3,65¢) 0
40,651 269 0 0 0 40,651 0 0 0 0
2,854 5 0 0 0 2,854 0 0 0 0
(4,759 11 0 0 0 (4,759 0 0 0 0
990,46: 1,414 2 0 0 990,461 0 0 0 0
42,69( 0 0 0 0 42,69( 0 0 0 0
$ 978,95¢ 18,00¢$ 18 1,964 $ 2 $1,727,14; (8,684) $(782,10) $ (7,543 $ 41,442
(1,469,79) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (1,469,79)
(6,25€) 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 (6,25€) 0
1,39z 9 0 0 0 1,392 0 0 0 0
4,477 16 0 0 0 4,47¢ 0 0 0 0
(2,213) 19 0 0 0 (2,219 0 0 0 0
46,21¢ 219 0 0 0 46,21¢ 0 0 0 0
64,10¢ 0 0 0 0 64,10¢ 0 0 0 0
$ (383,12() 18,26¢$ 18 1,964 $ 2$1,841,12( (8,684 $(782,10) $ (13,800 $  (1,428,35)

The accompanying notes are an ingédgart of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(in thousands)

Years Ended December 31,

2022 2021 2020
Operating activities:
Net loss $ (1,469,79) $ (535,480 $ (7,524
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization 10,87 11,35¢ 13,33z
Reduction in carrying amount of righf-use assets 8,07z 8,18¢ 8,21C
Credit losses and sales allowances 939 1,50¢ 2,732
Net realized gain on shetérm investments 0 0 (94)
Deferred taxes 131,49: (284,22)) (20,830)
Release of liabilities for unrecognized tax benefits (360) (561) 0
Sharebased compensation expense 63,61¢ 44,12¢ 11,15:
Digital asset impairment losses (gains on sale), net 1,286,28t 830,62! 70,69¢
Gain on partial lease termination 0 0 (2,820)
Amortization of issuance costs and debt discount on-ieng debt 8,694 7,201 1,54%
Changes in operating assets and liabilities:
Accounts receivable (5,292) 2,61¢ (774)
Prepaid expenses and other current assets (6,342) (25) 2,34¢€
Deposits and other assets (7,45%) (1,719) 416
Accounts payable and accrued expenses (3,521) 3,74¢ 9,174
Accrued compensation and employee benefits (12,349 2,374 (6,827)
Accrued interest 1,33€ 1,222 271
Deferred revenue arativance payments 14,83¢ 14,71C (20,227)
Operating lease liabilities (9,639 (10,222) (11,171
Other longterm liabilities (8,19¢€) (1,622) 4,007
Net cash provided by operating activities 3,211 93,83: 53,61¢
Investing activities:
Purchases of digital assets (287,92) (2,626,529 (1,125,00()
Proceeds from sale of digital assets 11,817 0 0
Proceeds from redemption of shtetm investments 0 0 119,88¢
Purchases of property and equipment (2,48¢€) (2,70¢€) (3,651)
Purchases of shetérm investments 0 0 (9,92¢)
Net cash used in investing activities (278,590 (2,629,23Y) (1,018,69))
Financing activities:
Proceeds from convertible senior notes classified as debt 0 1,050,00( 496,47:
Proceeds from convertible senior notes classified as equity 0 0 153,52
Issuance costs paid for convertible senior notes 0 (24,79¢) (14,625)
Proceeds from senior secured notes 0 500,00( 0
Issuance costs paid for senior secured notes 0 (12,792) 0
Proceeds from secured term loan, net of lender fees 204,69: 0 0
Issuance costs paid for secured term loan, excluding lender fees (207) 0 0
Proceeds from other lortigrm secured debt 11,10 0 0
Issuance costs paid for other letrggm secured debt (270) 0 0
Repayments of other lorigrm secured debt (246) 0 0
Proceeds from sale of common stock under public offerings 46,592 1,000,00( 0
Issuance costs paid related to sale of common stock under public offerings (358) (9,537) 0
Proceeds from exercise of stock options 1,392 40,651 51,08z
Proceeds from sales under employee stock purchase plan 4,472 2,854 0
Payment of withholding tax on vesting of restricted stock units (2,082) (4,695) 0
Purchases of treasury stock 0 0 (123,224
Net cash provided by financing activities 265,18¢ 2,541,68! 563,23:
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (3,375) (2,60¢) 4,784
Net (decrease) increase in cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash (13,56¢€) 3,67¢ (397,057
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, beginning of year 64,43 60,75¢ 457,81¢
Cash, cash equivalents, and restricted cash, end of year $ 50,86¢ $ 64,43, $ 60,75¢
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid during the year for interest $ 43,44¢ 3 20,41 $ 178
Cash paid during the year for income taxes, net of tax refunds $ 21,97 $ 7,01C $ 6,803

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

(1) Organization

MicroStrategypursues two corporate strategies in the operation of its business. One stredegpguire and hold bitcoand the other
strategyis to growits enterprise analytics software business

(2) Summary of Significant Accounting Policies
(a) Basis ofPresentation

The accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Company and its subsidiaries. All signific
intercompany accounts and transactions have been eliminated in consoliflatid@ompany is not aware of any matesiabsequent
event that would require recognition or disclosure.

I n the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the gngar e
term debt has been recl assirfuieeddd efxmemsi@AocdwntisAcgawah!l 6 ndre
conform tothe presentation of these items for tuerent year.

As discussed in Note 3, Recent Accounting Standards, to the Consolidated Financial Statements, the Company adopted Accoul
Standards Update No. 2028, Debti Debt with Conversion and Other Options (Subtopic-28Pand Derivatives and Hedgirig
Contract s in Entityds O4vlh) EEqAddcyu(tSiurbg ofporc @drbverti ble I nstrul
( A ASU-060féective January 1, 2021. Comparative prior period Consolidated Financial Statbeferdéthe adoption of ASU
202006 have not been restated for ASU 262® and are not directly comparable to the Consolidated Financial Statafienthe
adoption of ASU 202@6.

(b) Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements, in conformity witlPGlefjuires management to make estimates and
judgments that affect the amounts reported in the Consolidated Financial Statements and accompanying notegydiy drasis,

the Company evaluates its estimates, including, but not limited to, those teleggdnue recognition, allowance for doubtful accounts,
investments, fixed assetdigital assetdeasesgdebt,sharebased compensation, income taxes, including the carrying value of deferred
tax assets, and litigation and contingencies, includingitiab that the Company deems not probable of assertion. The Company bases
its estimates on historical experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable underatheesirtiienst
results of which form the basis for makingdgments about the carrying value of assets, liabilities, and equity that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results and outcomes could differ from these estimates and assumptions.

(c) Fair Value Measurements

The Company measures certagsets and liabilities at fair value on a recurngnonrecurringasis. Fair value is defined as the price
that is expected to be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between trogudetspatr the
measirement date. The Company uses a tigeel hierarchy that prioritizes fair value measurements based on the types of inputs usec
for the various valuation techniques. The three levels of the fair value hierarchy are described below:

Level 1. Quoted (undjusted) prices in active markets that are accessible at the measurement date for identical, unrestrict
assets or liabilities.

Level 2. Inputs other than quoted prices that are either directly or indirectly observable, such as quoted prices in ketive mar
for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices for identical or similar assets or liabilities in inactive markets, or othe
inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the as:
or liabilities.

Level3:  nputs that are generally wunobservabl e, supported b
estimates of assumptions that market participants would use in pricing the asset or liability.
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MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The categorization adn asset or liability within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the
fair value measurement. The valuation techniques used by the Company when measuring fair value maximize the use ef obsen
inputs aml minimize the use of unobservable inputs.

The Company also estimates the fair value of cash and cash equivalents, restricted cash, accounts receivable, acepant$ payab
accrued expenses, and accrued compensation and employee benefits. The Consjuerg doa carrying value of these instruments
in the Consolidated Financial Statements to approximate fair value due to their short maturities.

(d) Cash and Cash Equivalents and Restricted Cash

Cash equivalentmayinclude bankdemand deposits, money market instruments, certificates of deposit, U.S. Treasury securities, an
equivalent funds. The Company generally considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three nesshs be
cash equivalents. Reeisted cash consists of cash balances restricted in use by contractual obligations with third parties.

(e) Shortterm Investments

The Companyhasperiodicallyinvesteda portion of its cash in sherérm investment instruments. All highly liquid investmewith
stated maturity dates between three months and one year from the purchase date are classifiterasishestments. The Company
determines the appropriate classification of its sterh investments at the time of purchase and reassessgsptiopriateness of the
classification at each reporting date.

As of December 31, 2@and 202, the Company didot hold any shorterm investmentsPrior to their liquidation, & of the

Co mp a ny desm invéstmentsverein U.S. Treasury securitiesvhich were classified as availablfor-sale and reported at fair
value withint h e Co mgnsoldgtéislancessheet s. The f ai r v a-temmanvesthentwasdetenedpasedy 6 s
on quoted market prices in active markets foridenteatsur i t i es ( Level 1 inputs). Premiu
shortterm investmentsvereamortized over the life of the investment and recorded in earnings. Each reporting period, the Compan
determine the amount of unrealized holding gaiand losses on each individual security by comparing the fair value to the amortized
cost. Unrealized holding gains and unrealized holding losses¢hanot a result of a credit losgerereported in other comprehensive
income (loss) until realizedJnrealized holding losses thaerea result of a credit losgererecorded in earnings, with the establishment

of an allowance for credit losses.

(f) Credit Losses on Accounts Receivable

The Company maintains an allowance for credit losses on its accounts receivable balances, which represents its befst @séntate
expected credit losses over the contractual life of the accounts receiVdben evaluating the adequacy of its allowe for credit
losses each reporting period, the Company analyzes accounts receivable balances with similar risk characteristicéwanlzsis|ec
considering factors such as the aging of receivable balances, payment terms, geographic locatical, lbggaxperience, current
information, and future expectations. Each reporting period, the Company reassesses whether any accounts receivatdbare longe
similar risk characteristics and should instead be evaluated as part of another pool ordaricaral basis. Changes to the allowance
for credit | osses are adjusted through credit | o0s sexpensgsénse
the Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(9) Digital Assets

The Company accounts for its digital assewhich are comprised solely of bitcoas indefinitelived intangible assets in accordance
with Accounting St and a rintasgibl€d Gobdwill znd OtheoThe ConfipAng Bas dwnesshi® gf and control
over its bitcoin andisesthird-party custodial services at multiple locations that are geographically dispersexie its bitcoinThe
Companyds digital assets are initially recor de dentdossesdnousred. S
since acquisition.

The Company determines the fair value of its bitcoin on a nonrecurring basis in accordance with AlSgir 829lue Measurement
based on quoted (unadjusted) pricegt@a Coinbase exchangihe active exchange thidte Company has determined is its principal
market for bitcoin (Level 1 inputs). The Company performs an analysis each quarter to identify whether events or changes
circumstances, principally decreases in the quoted (unadjusted) prices on thexabtiwge, indicate that it is more likely than not that
any of the assets are impaired. In determining if an impairment has occurred, the Company considers the lowest priteoof one
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guoted on the active exchange at any time since acquiring theisécibin held by the Company. If the carrying value of a bitcoin
exceeds that lowest price, an impairment loss has occurred with respect to that bitcoin in the amount equal to thédiffierendts
carrying value and such lowest price.

Impairmeni osses are recognized in the period in which the i mpa]
(gains on sale), neto in the Co mphaimpabes digial assets hré wiiten éodn t@tleea t e m
value at the time of impairment and this new cost basis will not be adjusted upward for any subsequent increase inGainga(ifie

any) are not recorded until realized upon sale, at which pointahegresented net of any impairment losses it he Co mp &
Consolidated Statements of Operations. In determining the gain to be recognized upon sale, the Company calculateadée differ
between the sales price and carrying value of the specific bitcoins sold immediately prior to sale.

See Noted, Digital Assets, to the Consolidated Financial &tate
salesof digital assets.

(h) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation is computed using-time strefghd

over the estimated useful lives of the assets, as follows: three years for computer equipment and purchased sofeassdpfioéfice
equi pment ; 10 years for office furniture; and 19 yeauesf f ot
21%. Leasehold improvements are amortized using the stteighhethod over the estimated useful lieéshe improvements or the

term of the lease, whichever is shorter. The Company periodically evaluates the appropriateness of the estimates aisefseliage

value of all property and equipment. Any change in the estimated useful life or sahhagésvireated as a change in estimate and
accounted for prospectively in the period of change.

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as iN¢hmedissets are retired or sold, the capitalized cost and
related accumulated degmiation are removed from the property and equipment accounts and any resulting gain or loss is recognized
the results of operations.

Eligible internaluse software development costs are capitalized subsequent to the completion of the preliminarstaggejeSuch
costs include external direct material and service costs, employee payroll, and-nedgted costs. After all substantial testing and
deployment is completed and the software is ready for its intended use, capitalization ceases andsiatsofiavare development
costs are amortized using the straitijiné method over the estimated useful life of the software, generally three years.

The Company reviews loAgred assets for impairment whenever events or changes in business circumst#inatsthat the carrying
value of the assets may not be fully recoverable or that the useful lives of these assets are no longer approprigbairifaanh tiest

is based on a comparison of the undiscounted cash flows to the recorded value of tHeasssset is impaired, the asset is written
down by the amount by which the carrying value of the asset exceeds the related fair value of the asset.

(i) Leases

A lease is a contract, or part of a contract, that conveys the right to both (i) obtain economic benefits from andtlig dseaif an
identified asset for a period of time in exchange for considerafibe. Company evaluates its contracts to deteenfithey contain a

lease and classifies any lease components identified as an operating or finance lease. For each lease component, ieogoingsny
arightofuse (AROUO) asset and a | ease | i ab idlsaparately for opetating ansl finartces
|l eases; however, the Company currently has no mat ertoaffice f i n
space in the United States and foreign locations.

In a contract that contains @alse, a component is an item or activity that transfers a good or service to the lessee. Such contracts n
be comprised of lease components,-fease components, and elements that are not components. Each lease component represen
| e s s e e duse an ungldrlying asset in the contract if the lessee can benefit from the right of use of the asset either on its owr
together with other readily available resources and if the right of use is neither highly dependent nor highly inteittelztteetrights

of use. NoAease components include items such as common area maintenance and utilities provided by the lessor. The Company
elected the practical expedient to not separate lease components fréeags®wnomponents for office space, whichis e Co mp an
only material underlying asset class. For each lease within this asset class;l#ssaaomponents and related lease components are
accounted for as a single lease component. Items or activities that do not transfer goods or stwiessé®, such as administrative
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tasks to set up the contract and reimbursement or payment of lessor costs, are not components of the contract arml ¢batefote n
consideration is allocated to such items or activities.

Consideration in the conthis comprised of any fixed payments and variable payments that depend on an index or rate. Payments

the Companydés operating | ease arrangements are typicadly
C o mp a n y-léase compments, as described above, are generally variable and do not depend on an index or rate and are there
excluded from the contract consideration allocated tallydd he

not contain anyayments related to items or activities that are not components.

Operating lease liabilities are initially and subsequently measured at the present value of unpaid lease payments, atitheunted
discount rate of the lease. Operating lease ROU agseitsitéally measured as the sum of the initial lease liability, any initial direct
costs incurred, and any prepaid lease payments, less any lease incentives received. The ROU asset is amortized @fahéhe term
lease. The amortization of operatingle e R OU a s s et Reducti®n in carryihguacheudt ofirighf-ue assefs wi t hi n
operating activities section of the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. A single lease expense is recorded withiexgesrsdis

in the Consolidated Statents of Operations on a straigime basis over the lease term. Variable lease payments that are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability are recognized in the period when the obligations for those payments arénirticarred.

C o mp a nagedagreements, these variable payments typically include certain taxes, utilities, and maintenance costs, and other fe

The Company uses its incremental borrowing rate as the discount rate for all of its leases, as the rate implicit ifsthet lessbly
determinable in any of its lease contrat¢tsorder to estimate a collateralized borrowing rate curve, the Company first estimates a
synthetic credit ratingnd then applies modeling methodologies to an unsecured borrowing rate curve. Innitedetiniincremental
borrowing rate of each lease, the Company uses a centralized treasury approach and considers the currency of the ecoviaoicth
environment in which the lease exists, and the term of the lease.

The Company does not recognize lease liabilities or ROU assets for antesimigases with a nezancellable lease term of 12 months

or less. Instead, the lease payments for these-trortleases are expensed on a strdightbasis over the leaseite and any variable
payments are recognized in the period when the obligations for those payments are incurred. The Company believegtisat, using
met hodol ogy, the expense recor d-teunlease eommitmantsl v refl ects t he

(j) Software Development Costs

The Company did not capitalize any software development costs during the years ended DecezfiB@r 3021, and 2020Due to
the pace of the Companyédés software devel opmpamtydbsf fsorftt vaard
costs are expensed as incurred within fiResearch and develo

(k) Loss Contingencies and Legal Costs

The Company accrues loss contingencies that are believed to be probable la@dezesonably estimated. As events evolve during the
administration and litigation process and additional information becomes known, the Company reassesses its estimaidsselated
contingencies. Legal costs are expensed in the period in whicbgtseare incurred.

() Deferred Revenue and Advance Payments

Deferred revenue and advance payments represent amounts received or due from customers in advance of the Companigstransferr
software or services to the custornader an enforceable coatt In the case of mulyear service contraetrangementthe Company
generally does not invoice more than one year in advance of services and does not record deferred revenue for ameentstthat ha
been invoiced. Revenue is subsequently recognizétke period(s) in which control of the software or services is transferred to the
customer. Deferred revenue is comprised of deferred product licenses and subscription services, product support, vicegher ser
revenue based on the transaction priteated to the specific performance obligation in the contract with the customer.
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(m) Debt Arrangemers

The Company adopted ASU 2026 effective January 1, 202As discussed in Not& Long-term Debt to the Consolidated Financial
Statements, the Company issued convertible senior notes in Decembean@at2€bruary 2021 and senior secured notes in June 2021
and entered into secured term loan agreements in March 2022 and Jun&@i292Mmbedded conversion features in each of the
covertible notes ar eclaspAloommod t ookt hedCompanybde criteria for
and therefore derivative accounting does not apply. The Company records the aggregate principal amounitsfedathirsfruments

as a liability on its Consolidated Balance Sheet, offset by the issuance costs associated wistrea@nt The issuance costs are
amortized to interest expense using the effective interest method over the expected terndetft@zthumen.

Prior to the adoption of ASU 20216, the Company separatéhe debt and equity components of €hé50% Convertible Senior Notes
due2025 ssued i n De c292biCenvertiZeONRe® .)The chrg/ingfamount of the liability componevas determied by
measuring the fair value of a similar debt instrument without any associated conversion features at the time of issharmaergimd)
amount of the equity components determined by deducting the fair value of the liability component fromniti& proceeds of the

2025 Convertible Note§he Company also allocatessuance costs associated with the offering between debt and equity based on thei
relative carrying values at the time of issuance. Such issuancevepstaken as a direct reduction to the debt and equity components.
Both the difference between the principal and t heedtdtebdbtl it
componentvereamortized to interest expense usthg effective interest method over the expected term &Q886 Convertible Notes

In determining the fair value of a similar debt instrument without any associated conversion features, the Company a&stimate
nonconvertible debt borrowing rate at thedinof issuance using a blend of different methodologies, which considered Level 2 inputs
such as observabl e market prices of the Companyés debt an
common stock volatility, a synthetic crédating consistent with that utilized for determining the incremental borrowing rate for the
Companyés accounting of | easing arrangements, and anedibley si s
debt yields.

(n) Revenue Reognition
The Company recognizes revenue using a$iep model:
() Identifying the contract(s) with a customer,
(i)  Identifying the performance obligation(s),
(i) Determining the transaction price,
(iv) Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligatiotisarcontract, and
(v) Recognizing revenue when, or as, the Company satisfies a performance obligation.
The Company has elected to exclude taxes assessed by government authorities in determining the transaction pricee aedeheesfo

is recognized net aéxes collected from customeli$ie Company enters into naancellable nonrefundable orders with customers and
does not have a history of granting returns or refunds and therefore does not have a reserve for future returns.

Performance Obligations andhing of Revenue Recognition

The Company primarily sells goods and services that fall into the categories discussed below. Each category contaiseone or r
performance obligations that are either (i) capable of being distinct (i.e., the customer cérfroemétie good or service on its own

or together with readily available resources, including those purchased separately from the Company) and distinctoeittenttbé

the contract (i.e., separately identifiable from other promises in the cordrai) a series of distinct goods or services that are
substantially the same and have the same pattern of otuctansf
licenses, which are delivered at a point in time, the majority ofthemp any 6 s ser vi ces are delivere

Product Licenses

The Company sells different types of business intelligence software, licensed on a term or perpetual basis and iestatigueitises

or on a public cloud that is procured and managed by the customer. Although product licenses are sold witbuppmdticthe
software is fully functional at the outset of the arrangement and is considered a distinct performance obligation. rBevpragutt
license sales is recognized when control of the license is transferred to the customer, which ioftdelatery or commencement of
the |icense term. The Company may also sell throughesdlesel
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arrangements, revenuegsnerallyrecognized when control of the license is transferréde@nd user. In OEM arrangements, revenue
is recognizedvhen controbf the licensas transferredo the OEM.

Subscription Services

The Company also sells access to its software through MCE, a cloud subscription service, wheneénscastess the software through

a cloud environment that the Company manages on behalf of the customer. Control of the software itself does notheosttotodr
under this arrangement and is not considered a separate performance obligatiorsul@origtions are regularly sold on a standalone
basis and includeechnicalsupport, monitoring, backups, updates, and quarterly service revdaggionally, customers with existing
on-premise software licenses may convert their installations to MGHEhich time the oqpremise licenses are typically terminated and
replaced by a new subscription to the MCE servigeconversion, a analysis is performefdr each contradb determine whether any
revenue adjustments are necessary given that theaconipdifications revoke previously transferred rights to perpetupr@mise
software. Such revenue adjustments were not material for the years ended Dece@@22,32021, and 2020Revenue related to
cloud subscriptions is recognized on a stralgte basis over the contract period, which is the period over which the customer has
continuous access to the software.

Product Support

In all product license transactions, customers are required to purchase a standard product suppo(eplaekagarately or as an
included component of a term license transacttba) may subsequently be renewed at their option. Custamagrsalso purchase a
premium product support package for a fixed annual fee. All product support packages include both tegipdoshnd wheand
if-available software upgrades, which are treated as a single performance obligation as they are considered a serieepfickstinct
that are substantially the same and have the same duration and measure of progress. Revaodedtaapport is recognized on a
straightline basis over the contract period, which is the period over which the customer has continuous access to product support.

Consulting Services

The Company sells consulting services to help customersplanamdext e depl oyment of the Compan
required to use consulting services to fully benefit from the software. Consulting services are regularly sold on aestasisiand

either (i) prepaid upfront or (ii) sold on a time andterials basis. Consulting arrangements are each considered separate performanc
obligations because they do not integrate with each other or with other offerings to deliver a combined output to thre doistotne
modify or customize (or are notmodifie or customi zed by) each other or other of
the other consulting services or the Companyébés othereasffe
services are delivered. Ftme and materialbased consulting arrangements, the Company has elected the practical expedient ¢
recognizing revenue upon invoicing since the invoicdaed amou

Education Services

TheCompany sells various education and training services to its customers. Education services are sold on a standalaerdwasis und
different types of arrangements: (i) annual subscriptions to live amgimand training courses and (ii) custom courseshased on

an hourly basis. Education arrangements are each considered separate performance obligations because they do ritit edelgrate w
other or with other offerings to deliver a combined output to the customer, do not modify or customizeqbmedified or customized

by) each other or other offerings, and do not affegthstme hi
offerings. Revenue on annual subscriptions is recognized on a stiagghésis over the ctract period, which is the period over which

the customer has continuous access to the training courses. Revenue on custonseceacggszed on a time and materials basis as
the services are delivered

See Note &, Segment Information, to the Consoliei Financial Statements for information regarding total revenues by geographic
region.

Estimates and Judgments

The Company makes estimates and judgments to allocate the transaction price based on an observable or estimated S8Ry The Co
also makesstimates and judgments with respect to capitalizing incremental costs to obtain a customer contract and determining
subsequent amortization period. These estimates and judgments are discussed further below.
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Determining the Transaction Price

Thetransaction price includes both fixed and variable consideration. Variable consideration is included in the transadticthgrice
extent it is probable that a significant reversal will not occur. The amount of variable consideration excluded feorsation price
was not material for thgears ended December 20022, 2021, and 2020 The Company6és esti mates of
subject to subsequent trup adjustments and may result in changes to its transaction prices. Sughddjestments have not been
and are not expected to be material. The Company has the following sources of variable consideration:

() Performance penaltiéis Subscription services and product support arrangements generally contain performance respon:
time guarantees. For subscription services arrangements, the Company estimates variable consideration using a portf
approach because performance penalties are tied to stand@nteugquirements. For product support arrangements, the
Company estimates vafile consideration on a contract basis because such arrangements are -@psoifier For both
subscription services and product support arrangements, the Company uses an expected value approach to estimate va
consideration based on historical imess practices and current and future performance expectations to determine the
likelihood of incurring penalties.

(i) Extended paymentternisTh e Company6s standard payment terms are ge¢
payment terms are grted to customers, those terms generally do not exceed one year. For contracts with extended paym:
terms, the Company estimates variable consideration on a contract basis because such estimates aspecisio@ued
uses an expected value approachrtalyze historical business experience on a custbgeustomer basis to determine the
likelihood that extended payment terms lead to an implied price concession.

(iii) Sales and usagmased royalties Certain product license arrangements include salesagebssed royalties, covering both
product license and product support. In these arrangements, the Company uses an expected value approach to estimat
recognize revenue for royalty sales each period, utilizing historical data on a cbgptcacttractoasis. Trueup adjustments
are recorded in subsequent periods when royalty reporting is received from thea®@#ddsing the years ended December
31,2022, 2021, and 2020@erenot material

The Company provides a standard software assurance waoaepair, replace, or refund software that does not perform in accordance
with documentation. The standard software assurance warranty period is generally less than one year. Assurance warreaty clai
not material for thegears ended December 2022, 2021, and 2020

The Company does not adjust the transaction price for significant financing components where the time period betweemecash pay
and performance is one year or less. However, there are circumstances where the timing between atshinglayenformance may
exceed one year. These circumstances generally involve prepaidyeaulticense, product support and subscription services
arrangements where the customer determines when the service is utilized. Icirthesstances, the Company has determined no
significant financing component exists because the customer controls when to utilize the service and because theieaate signif
business purposes behind the timing difference between payment and performgncenguring collectability in the case of
subscription services).

Allocating the Transaction Price Based on Standalone Selling Prices (SSP)

The Company allocates the transaction price to each performance obligation in a contract based on its relative SSHs thke SSP
price, or estimated price, of the software or service when sold on a standalone basis at contract inception. In @scwmstarg@SP
is not directly observable, the Company estimates SSP using the following methodologies:

(i)  Product licenses Product licenses are not sold on a standalone basis and pricing is highly variable. The Company establist
SSP of product licensesing a residual approach after first establishing the SSP of standard product support. Standai
product support is sold on a standalone basis within a narrow rangesthtisenet license fee, and because an economic
relationship exists between produictenses and standard product support, the Company has concluded that the residuc
method to estimate SSP of product licenses sold on both a perpetual and term basis is a fair allocation of the traasgsaction p

(i)  Subscription serviceis Given the highly ariable selling price of subscription services, the Company establishes the SSP of
its subscription services arrangements using a similar residual approach after first establishing the SSP of consulting
education services to the extent they are inaudehe arrangement. The Company has concluded that the residual method
to estimate SSP of its subscription services is a fair allocation of the transaction price.

(i) Standard product suppdriThe Company establishes SSP of standard product supportrasiatpge of the stated net license
fee, given such pricing is consistent with its normal pricing practices and there exists sufficient history of custowiacs rene
standard product support on a standalone basis at similar percenSagasannually the Company tracks renewal rates
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negotiated when standard product support is initially sold with a perpetual license in order to determine the SSP of stand
product support within each geographic region for the upcoming quarter. If the stated standatcppmautfee falls within

the SSP range, the specific rate in the contract will be useetéomineSSP. If the stated fee is above or below SSP, the
highest or lowest end of the range, respectively, will generally be usget¢omineSSP of standard pduct supporfor
perpetual license$or term licenseshe Company determiné&SP of standard product support at the lower end of the SSP
range used for perpetual licenses because the term kcameséme bound, resulting in a lower value placed on product
support as compared to a perpetual license.

(iv) Premium product support, consulting services, and education ser8i8€sof premium product support, consulting services,
and education servicesastablished by using a belhaped curve approach to define a narrow range within each geographic
region in which the services are discounted off of the list price on a standalone basis.

The Company often provides options to purchase future offeringsliat@unt. The Company analyzes the option price against the
previously established SSP of the goods or services to determine if the options represent material rights that shaultedd@cas
separate performance obligations. In general, an optidnas or above SSP is not considered a material right because the customer
could have received that right without entering into the contract. If a material right exists, revenue associatedptith theleferred

and recognized when the future goausservices are transferred, or when the option expires. Duringetdrs ended December 31,
2022, 2021, and 2028eparate performance obligations arising from future purchase options have not been material.

(o) Incremental Costs to ObtaiCustomer Contracts

The Company capitalizes costs incurred to obtain a contract with a customer when they are deemed incremental to obbaimany the
and expected to be recoverable. Capitalizable costs are generally limited to sales incentives pagl toCo mpany 6s s al
Company capitalizes the amounts related to product support, cloud subscriptidermarigcense contracts. Costs capitalized are
amortized over a period of time that is consistent with the pattern of transfer to the custbiolerthe Company has determined is
generallythree year@and includes consideration for contract length, anticipated renewals, product life cycle, and customer behavic
The Company amortizes the cost over this period on a stiaighbasis for producsupport and subscription service components, and

at point(s) in time coinciding with delivery of the license component of term license contracts. The Company has efwetetitghe
expedient to expense capitalizable costs as incurred where the atiwrtizeriod would be one year or less, which includes those
amounts earned on perpetual license, consulting, and education contracts

As of December 312022 and 202 Icapitalized costs to obtain customer contracts, net of accumulated amortizatiofil m&naillion

and8.7mi I I i on, respectivel vy, and are presented within fADepos
years ended December 2022, 2021, and 202@Gmortization expenses related to these capitalized costsév@mifion, $2.7 million,
and®81mi | I i on, respectively, and are reflected within ASal es

(p) Advertising Costs

Advertising costs include production costs, which are expensed the first time the advertiseragriatakend media placement costs,
which are expensed in the month the advertising appears. Total advertising co$8.8vaition, $1.2 million, and $.1 million for

the years ended December 3022, 2021, and 202@espectively. As of December 3022 and 2021the Company had no prepaid
advertising costs.
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(q) Sharebased Compensation

The Company maintainstf2e0 13 St ock I ncent i 2@3ERligPlad)asndmendwbdcht hbei Col
officers, directors, and other eligible participants may be awarded various types eba$edecompensation, including options to
purchase shares of the Caestdced statk unitahdathes stoskbased awamdDurirg 2@ t, khe
Company adoptedndt he Companyds st ocklEalpderys ea B rox\ke P utiEgkEidaa@er ¥hicha n (
eligible employees of the Company and certairits subsidiaries may be provided with opportunities to purchase shares of the
Companyés class A common stock.

The Company recognizes shdrased compensation expense associatediatB013 Equity Plan and the 2021 ESPR straightine

basis ovethe requisite service period (generally, the vesting pdoioawards under the 2013 Equity Plan and the offering period under
the 2021 ESPPR For options and other stodlased awardshé sharebased compensation expense is based on the fair vathe of
awards on the date of grant, as estimated using the Blelelesvaluation model.For restricted stock units, the shdmased
compensation expense is based on the fair v alTheéirwalle ofiabildy- Co m
classified awardée.g., the other stoebased awards and caséttled restricted stock units)remeasuredt each reporting datEor the

2021 ESPP, the shabased compensation expense is based on the grant date fair value, which corsaststidfigic value of any
purchase discount and the fair value of the {bakk provision using the Blae&choles valuation modefharebased compensation
expense is recorded in cost of revenues or operating expense line items in the Statement ofiOperasponding to the respective

participantés role or function.

See Note 1, Sharebased Compensation, to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information regarding the 2013 Equ
Plan,the 2021 ESPRelated shardased compensation exjgen and assumptions usedlgtermining fair value

(r) Income Taxes

The Company is subject to federal, state, and local income taxes in the United Statesrabdr oforeign countries. Deferred income
taxes are provided based on enacted tax laws and rates applicable to the periods in which the taxes become payalstain For unc
income tax positions, the Company uses a Hikety-thannot recognition threshold based the technical merits of the income tax
position taken. Income tax positions that meet the #ikedy/-thannot recognition threshold are measured in order to determine the
tax benefit recognized in the financial statements. The Company recognizesidnterest related to unrecognized tax benefits as part
of income tax expense. Penalties, if incurred, are recognized as a component of income tax expense.

The Company provides a valuation allowance to reduce deferred tax assets to their estinzblk regllie, when appropriate.

(s) Basic and Diluted Earnings Per Share

Basic earnings per share is determined by dividing the net income attributable to common stockholders by the weighteuhalverage

of shares of common stock, including shares afschacommon stock and class B common stoakstanding during the period. Diluted
earnings per share is determined by dividing the net income attributable to common stockholders by the weighted averagfe numb
sharesof common stoclkand potential shaseof common stocloutstanding during the period. Potential sharfesommon stoclare
included in the diluted earnings per share calculation when dilutive. Potential sheoesmon stoclconsisting oftlass Acommon

stock issuable upatme exercise obutstanding employee stock optiotise vesting of restricted stock unitad in connection with the

2021 ESPRare computed using the treasury stock methdgon the adoption of ASU 20206, potentialsharesof common stock
consisting of class A commonoski ssuabl e upon conversion of tarbcempiedmgng thif-06 s ¢
converted method. Prior to the adoption of ASU 2080potential sharesf common stockonsisting of class A common stock issuable
upon conversion of the @p any 6s convertible senior notes were computed
Accounting Standards, to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further information regarding the differencesonubget

and treasury stock mettie. In computing diluted earnings per share, the Company first calculates the earnings per incremental sha
(AEPI S0) f or e ashahes atdmmenstocloand rgnks the alassesdrbm the most dilutive (i.e., lowest EPIS) to the least
dilutive (i.e., highest EPIS). Basic earnings per share is then adjusted for the effect of each class of shares, in sequenegiweig,cumul
until a particular class no longer produces further dilution.

The Company has two classes of common stock: class®non stock and class B common stock. Holders of class A common stock

generally have the same rights, including rights to dividends, as holders of class B common stock, except that haldérsofrotzon

stock have one vote per share while holderdads B common stock have ten votes per share. Each share of class B common stock

convertible at any time, at the option of the holder, into one share of class A common stock. As such, basic and:élbamtiogs

per share for class Bommon stoclkandfor class B common stock are the same. The Company has never declared or paid any cas

86



MICROSTRATEGY INCORPORATED

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

dividends on either class A or class B common stock. As of Decem#9Z2and 202lthere were no shares of preferred sissked
or outstanding.

(t) Foreign Currency Translation

The functional currency of the Companyds inter nat indlakilltes op e
of international subsidiaries are translated using exchange rates in effeerat tfehe period, and revenue and expenses are translated
usmg average monthly exchange rates for the period in which the transactions occur. The related translation adjustpertéziare
in AAccumul ated other comprdacdremnGieuiitnc.omel {1l ogsséoali,n wpor
liquidation of an investment in an international subsidiary, the amount of accumulated translation adjustments attotthetble t
subsidiary is recl as si lieistatemeritof operatiens.olaksactioh ghims anddossesjatising fsom transadtion:
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the entity involved are included in the results of operations

As of December 312022, 2021, and 202the cumulative foreign currency translation balances w¢t&.8) million, $(7.5) million,
and $8.9) million, respectively. No taxes were recognized on the temporary differences resulting from foreign currency translatic
adjustments for the years ended Daber 31,2022, 2021, and 2020

Transaction gains and losses arising from transactions denominated in foreign currencies resulggdnson86.2 million and$2.5
million in 2022 and2021, respectivelyandanet loss ofs7.6 million in2020 and ar e i nncdme(deexdp & ms &i)Ot hne
Consolidated Statements of Operations.

(u) Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to concentrations of credit risk consist primarily of catheandvedents,
restricted cash, and accounts receivable. The Company places its cash equivalents with higgratitgdiihancial institutions and has
established guidelines relative to credit ratings and maturities that seek to maintain safetyidityd liqu

The Company sells its offerings to various companies across several industries throughout the world in the ordinarpesinesssof
The Company routinely assesses the financial strength of its customers and maintains allowances for dng®egsatéd of December

31,2022 and 2021no individual customer accounted for 10% or more of net accounts receivable, and for the years ended Decem!
31,2022, 2021, and 20200 individual customer accounted for 10% or more of revenue.

(3) Recent Acounting Standards
Accounting for Convertible Instruments

The CompangarlyadoptedASU 202006 effective as ofanuary 1, 202ising themodified retrospectivenethod which resulted in a
cumulativeeffect adjustment to the opening balanceetéined earnings on the date of adoption, recorded as follows (in thousands):

Effect of the
. December 31, 2020 Adoption of ASU January 1, 2021
Consolidated Balance Sheet As Reported 202006 As Adjusted
Deferred tax liabilities (assets) $ 8,211 $ (41,697 $ (33,487)
Convertible senior notes, net 486,36¢ 148,54¢ 634,91:
Additional paidin-capital 763,051 (107,810 655,24
Retained earnings 575,96¢ 957 576,92:

The following significant accounting changes occurred as result of the adoption of ASI0&020

0] Elimination of the cash conversion modé&lnder previous GAAP, instruments that may be patrtially settled in cash were
in the scope of tdbalevhicheceguirdd comvensiondeatsres tomeseparately reported in equity. Upon
the adoption of ASU 20206, the cash conversion model was eliminated and the Company no longer records conversio
features in equity and instead accounts for its convedéi@r notes as single units of debt. As a result, there is no longer
a debt discount or subsequent amortization to be recognized as interest expense. Similarly, the Company no lon
allocates a portion of the related issuance costs to equity. Aslaakethese changes, temporary differences between the
Companyébés book and tax bases have been eliminated an
liability with respect to its convertible senior notes.
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(i) Us e o f-c d rhee ritiad tbiocaloulatingdiluted earnings per shargnder previous GAAP, the Company utilized
the Atreasury stocko method for computing the diluted
treasury stock method, onlytheexcesséfe aver age stock price of the Compa
period over the conversion price was used in determining the impact to the diluted earnings per share denominator. U
the adoption of ASU 20206, the Company may no longese the treasury stock method for instruments with flexible
settlement arrangements. Instead, the Company is required to usedheedfted method, which requires all underlying
shares be included in the denominator regardless of the average stod&rghieereporting period, in addition to adding
back to the numerator the related interest expense from the stated coupon and the amortization of issuance costs, if dilu

Accounting for income taxes

The Company adopteficcounting Standards Update No. 2013 Income Taxes (Topic 740): Simplifying the Accounting for Income
Taxeq fi A S U -120ffptive as of January 1, 202ASU 201912 simplifies the accounting for income taxes by eliminating certain
exceptions relad to the approach for intraperiod tax allocation, the methodology for calculating income taxes in an interim period, ar
the recognition of deferred tax liabilities related to outside basis differences. AStL20&§uires certain amendments to be applie
prospectively and others retrospectivelliyn e adopti on of this guidance did not hav
financial position, results of operations, or cash floRsor periods have not been adjusted and no cumuleffeet aljustment to
retained earnings was made.

Credit losses

The Company adopted ASU 2018 effective as of January 1, 2020. Under ASU 2036the Company applies a current expected
credit |l oss (ACECLO) i mpai r me n whichmldetineelexpécted dretlitdosses oa sueh firmncial @assatst
are measured and recognized at each reporting date based on historical, current, and forecasted information. Under ¢elCECL m
trade accounts receivable with similar risk characteristiesanalyzed on a collective (pooled) basis. ASU 203&lso changed the
impairment accounting for availabfer-sale debt securities, requiring credit losses to be recorded through an allowance for credit losse
rather than as a reduction in the amortizest basis of the securities. Impairment due to factors other than credit loss will continue to
be recorded through other comprehensive income (| -fossal¢debt Si
securities have consistef U.S. Treasury securities with stated maturity dates between three months and one year from the purchz
date and none of these investments hawR@E2ahd2@@lnthe Corppany dicendt had p
any shodtermirv e st ment s . The adoption of this guidance did not h
position, results of operations, or cash flows. No cumulafiect adjustment to retained earnings was made

(4) Digital Assets

The following table summarizes the Companyds digital asset
December31,
2022 2021
Approximate number of bitcoins held 132,50( 124,391
Digital assets carryingalue $ 1,840,02¢ $ 2,850,21(
Cumulative digital asset impairment losses $ 2,153,16: $ 901,31¢

The carrying value represents the lowest fair value (based on Level 1 inputs in the fair value hierarchy) of the hihgoiimsesince
their acquisition. Therefore, these fair value measurements were made during the period from their acquisition throbgh Blecem
2022 or 2021, respectively, and not as of December 31, 2022 or 2021, respectively.

The following table summarizesesh Company és di g, digital hsseassledgital apset mpedirraestdossesd gains on
sale of digital asse(@n thousands, except number of bitcoins) for the periods indicated
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Years Ended DecembeB1,

2022 2021 2020
Approximate number of bitcoins purchased 8,81: 53,922 70,46¢
Approximate number of bitcoins sold 704 0 0
Digital asset purchases $ 287,92: $ 2,626,52¢ $  1,125,00(
Digital asset sales $ 11,817 $ 0 $ 0
Digital asset impairment losses $ 1,287,211 $ 830,621 $ 70,69¢
Gains on sale of digital assets $ 927 $ 0 % 0

From time to time, the Company may be extended gkart credits from Coinbase to purchase bitcoin in advance of using cash funds
i n the Company 0 s trateceedits ateglueaindpayable tn cashlwhitren days after they are extended. In 2021, certain |
the asset s, including bitcoin, of-owedsubsidiaty ofthe Eoghnganyl-vie@ subjécMaa r
first priority security inerest and lien in order to secure the repayment of-giant trade credits taken in its name. While trade credits
are outstanding, the Company may incur interest fees and be required to maintain minimum balances in its trading aracollattsr

with Coinbase. As of December 31, 2022 and 2021, the Company had no outstanding trade credits payable

As of December 312022 approximatelyl4,8900f the bitcoins held by the Company serve as part of the collatetalioe Co mp a n
6.125% Senior Secureb\t e s due 2028 (t h asfiirthed d&rib&andNoBe Lerdrtedhdebg t® thg Consolidated
Financial Statementés of December 31, 2022, approximata#;,619of the bitcoins held by the Company serve as part of the collateral
fora$205 0 mi Il ion term loan (the fi2025 Secured Term Loano) i s
described in Note 8, Lontgrm Debt, to the Consolidated Financial Statements.

(5) Contract Balances

The Company invoices itscusteer s i n accordance with billing schedul es es
consideration from customers are presented separately in
rights are conditional or unconigdinal.

The Company presents unconditional rights to consideredti o
Bal ance Sheets. Al l of t h e-cdbeelinlipeaandfod rerefundable, and thdérefore aam wncompditiamad r ¢
right generally exists when the customer is billed or amounts are billable per the contract.

Accounts receivable (in thousands) consisted of the following, as of:

December31,
2022 2021
Billed and billable $ 191,84« $ 192,05t
Less: allowance for credit losses (2,564 (2,775
Accounts receivable, net $ 189,28( $ 189,28(

Changes in the allowance for credit losses were not material for the year ended Decel022 31,

Rightsto consideration that are subject to a condition other than the passage of time are considered contratit tiesetse expected

to become urunditional and transfer to accounts receivalletr r ent contract assets included
assetsod in the Consolidated Balance Sheet s c o roasedsdyatyrevenue $ 0
as of DecembeBl, 2022 and 2021, respectivelly.these arrangements, consideration is not billed or billable until the royalty reporting
is received, generally in the subsequent quarter, at which time the contract asset transfers to accounts retceitrablgeaadjustment

is recorded to revenue. These tupadjustments are generally not matefidnc ur r ent contract assets
other assetso in the Consolidated Bal an c ensS8rsenacessbeirng oenderedsirt e c
advance of future invoicing associated with my#ar contracts as of December 31, 2022. The Company had raurrent contract
assets as of December 31, 20Raring theyears ended December 2022, 2021, and 202thee were no significant impairments to
the Companyds contract assets, nor were there any sciaggifiedf i c
to accounts receivable.
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Contract liabilities are amounts received or due frontazuers in advance of the Company transferring the software or services to the
customer. In the case of mullyear service contract arrangements, the Company generally does not invoice more than one year
advance of services and does not record defeerexhue for amounts that have not been invoié&slzenue is subsequently recognized

in the period(s) in which control of the software dgsareer v
presented as either currentorrmam r ent fADeferred revenue and advance payment
whether the software or services are expected to be transferred to the customer within the next year.

The Companyds fiAccouimted eragecdai v ®&lvlesm,uenatnd amd ance paymentso
include unpaid amounts related to contracts under which the Company has an enforceable right to invoice the customer for r
cancellable and/or nerefundable software argkrvicesChanges in accounts receivable and changes in deferred revenue and advanc
payments are presented net of these unpaid amounts in AOpe

Deferred revenue and advance payments (in tmaisddrom customers consisted of the following, as of:

December31,
2022 2021
Current:
Deferred product licenses revenue $ 2,82t % 993
Deferred subscription services revenue 51,861 35,58¢
Deferred product support revenue 155,36¢ 166,47
Deferred other services revenue 7,37€ 6,801

Total current deferred revenue and advance payments $ 217,42¢ $ 209,86(

Non-current:

Deferred product licenses revenue $ 2,74z $ 68

Deferred subscription services revenue 3,03C 1,064

Deferred product support revenue 6,387 6,20¢

Deferred other services revenue 604 754
Total non-current deferred revenue and advance paym $ 12,76 $ 8,08¢

During theyears ended December 2022, 2021, and 202the Company recognized revenues 20% 1million, $188.7 million, and

$182.6 million, respectively, from amounts included in the total deferred revenue and advance payments balances at the beginnin
the respective yealror the years ended December3122, 2021, and 202€here were no significant changes in the timing eéneie
recognition on the Companydéds deferred balances

The Companyds remaining performance obligation represents
advance payments and billable rcamcelable amounts that will bevoiced and recognized as revenue in future periods. The remaining
performance obligation excludes contracts that are billed in arrears, such as certain time and materials contractsng bémpatti

year contracts that will be invoiced in the futare not presented on the balance sheet withéounts receivable and deferred revenues
and are instead included in the following remaining performance obligation disclaswEDecembeB1, 2022 the Company had an
aggregate transaction price @288 million allocated taheremainingperformance obligation related pooduct support, subscription
services, product licenses, and other services contrabis Company expects to recognizz $.5million within the next 12 months
andthe remaindethereafter.
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(6) Property and Equipment

Property and equipment (in thousands) consisted of the following, as of:

December31,
2022 2021
Corporate aircraft and relateduipment $ 48,64 $ 48,64~
Computer equipment and purchased software 60,37¢ 61,79:
Furniture and equipment 9,93¢€ 9,99(C
Leasehold improvements 28,75¢ 28,87
Internally developed software 9,917 9,917
Property and equipment, gross 157,62¢ 159,217
Less: accumulated depreciation and amortization (125,319 (122,630)
Property and equipment, net $ 32,311 $ 36,587

Depreciation and amortization expenselated toproperty and equipment wer&.$ million, $8.7 million, and #1.4 million for the
years ended December 2022, 2021, and 2020espectively.

(7) Leases

The Company leases office space in the United States and foreign locations under operating lease agreements. Offtbe space
Companyés only materi al underlying asset c¢class under opera
Uhnder the Companydés office space |l ease agreements, f picalyd pze

comprised of base rent and parking fees. Additionally, under these agreements the Company is generally responsible diabdet
payments that typically include certain taxes, utilities and maintenance costs, and other fees. These variable lease@gpmenatty
based on the Companyds occupation or usage percentages and

The Companyds ROU asset and 618milon and &adsndlionl respdrtivdlyiag of Debembbexln c e s
2022, and$66.8 million and $85.8 million, respectively,as of December 31, 202I.he Companyds mosforitsi gn

corporate headquartersn Nor t hern Virginia. The ROU asset and total I
headquarters lease werg2$% million and $%68.2 million, respectively, as dbecembeB1, 2022 and$55.2 million and %3.6 million,
respectively, as of December 3021 The |l ease agreement for the Companyds ¢

December 2030, with an option for the Company to extend the term for an additional five or 10 consecutiidhngezosapany is
currently not reasonably certain it will exercise this renewal option and therefore has not included the renewal optieasia tdrm.
The lease agreement also includes an option to early terminate a portion of the leased spaceyafereht@nmination fee, which the
Company exercised in the fourth quarter of 2020. This modification was not accounted for as a separate contract. Upa texercis
early termination optiom 202Q the Companyeduced the lease liability balancethg amount of the termination fee, which was $1.6
million, andremeasured the remaining RGidset and lease liability, reducing them By23million and .0 million, respectively,
which resulted ira gain on partial lease termination &&million. The $2.8 million gain on partial lease termination was recorded as

a reduction to operating |l ease cost and i s fordhkt yearendeddecemberh i
31, 2020 The $1.6 million termination fee is refledte wi t hi n t he fACash paid for amounts
l ease |iabil it i efordhelearrrdediDacenmbbrdl, 20a0keieasuing theoR®U Asset, the Company elected to
do so based on tlan the remaining right ofusE ever al of the Companyds remaining | ea:c

to terminate all or a portion of the leased space. The Companywalit assesses the likelihood of exercising these options and
recognizes an option as part of its ROU assets and lease liabilities if and when it is reasonably certain that itseilttexegtion.
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The following tabl e pasemstant chertlcase de@utstheppariods thdicatedo thoadands, except years
and discount rates):

Years Ended DecembeB1,

2022 2021 2020

Lease cost:

Operating lease cost $ 13,00 $ 1352: % 11,77

Shortterm lease cost 582 558 1,15¢

Variable lease cost 514 1,224 1,382

Total lease cost $ 14,10/ % 15,30¢ % 14,312
Other information:

Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating

liabilities $ 14,22/ $ 15772 $ 17,491

ROU assets obtained in exchange for new operating lease liabilitic $ 1565 $ 242C % 743

Weighted average remaining lease term in yeangerating leases 7.5 8.3 9.1

Weighted average discount réteperating leases 6.1% 6.1% 6.1%

The following table presents the mat urDecemmbel, 202f(in thdusand§o mpany

For the year ended December 31,

2023 $ 14,44¢
2024 12,79¢
2025 12,42¢
2026 12,56¢
2027 12,11¢
Thereafter 31,75(

Total lease payments 96,10¢
Less: imputed interest (18,712)

Total $ 77,39¢

Reported as:

Current operating lease liabilities $ 10,052
Non-current operating lease liabilities 67,34
Total $ 77,39¢

(8) Long-term Debt

The net carrying v aitemedeh (in thousamdsihsistep af the/fdlewingsmh g

December31,
2022 2021
2025Convertible Notes $ 640,88¢ $ 637,88:
2027 Convertible Notes 1,033,27 1,029,26:
2028 Secured Notes 489,54 488,00¢
2025 Secured Term Loan 204,68¢ 0
Other longterm secured debt 10,16( 0
Total $ 2,378,56( $ 2,155,15:

Convertible Senior Notes

In December 2020, the Company issued $650.0 million aggregate principal am@@25o€onvertibleNotesin a private offering
The 2025 ConvertibléNotes are senior unsecurefligations of the Company and bear interest at a fixed rate dd%.pgr annum,
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payable semiannually in arrears on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on June 15, 2021. HA62k@dbtivertible
Notes may receive additional interest andpecified circumstances as outlined in the indenture relating to the issuanc@25he
ConvertibleN o t e s 2005t Corevertifble Notes n d e n t u P02 QonvertblENetes will mature on December 15, 2025, unless
earlier converted, redeemed or reghased in accordance with their terms. The total net proceeds frad@2BeConvertible Notes
offering, after deducting initial purchaser discounts and issuance costs, were approximately $634.7 million.

In February 2021, the Company issued $1.08n aggregate principal amount 8027 Convertible Notes in a private offering. The
2027 Convertible Notes are senior unsecured obligations of the Company and do not bear regular interest. Howeveithied?@®s of
Convertible Notes may receive gjal interest under specified circumstances as outlined in the indenture relating to the issuance of tt
2027 Convertible Notes (the A2027 Convertible Notesehruardent
15 and August 15feeach year, beginning on August 15, 2021. The 2027 Convertible Notes will mature on February 15, 2027, unle!
earlier converted, redeemed, or repurchased in accordance with their terms. The total net proceeds from the 2027 Notesrtible
offering, afte deducting initial purchaser discounts and issuance costs, were approximately $1.026 billion.

The 2025 Convertible Notes and 2027 Co nare sehior bnseeurel obtigatisns and o |
rank senior in right of paynmet t o any o findébtednesCthanis axpreséiys subordinated in right of payment to the

ConvertibleNot es; equal in right of payment to any of the Compar
junior in right of paymen t o any of the Companyds secured indebtedness
indebtedness; and structurally junior to al/l i nde bbsidiatis.e s s

TheConvertibleNot es are convertible into shares of t hesoEa5hdbahangsd s
and 0.6981 shargmer $1,000 principal amount @onvertible Notes for the 2025 Convertible Notes and 2027 Convertible Notes,
respectively(equivalent to an initial conversion price of approximately $397.99 per ahdr§1,432.46 per shaoé class A common
stockfor the 2025 Convertible Notes and 2027 Convertible Notes, respettiVély conversion rasearesubject to customary anti
dilution adjustments. In addition, following certain events tiaty occur prior to therespectivematurity date or if the Company
delivers a notice of redemption, the Company will increase the conversion rate for a holder who elects to cBowggriisk Notes

in connection with such corporate event or notice of redemption, as the case may be, in certain circumstances as {h®2@5 in
Convertible Notes Indenture and the 2027 Converreéedd)e, Nod s
As of DecembeBl, 2022 the maximum number of shares into which the Convertible Notes could be potentially converted if the
conversion features are triggered are 1,633,190 and 733,005 shares for the 2025 Convertible Notes and/&tipie Glotes,
respectively

Prior to June 15, 2025 and August 15, 2026 for the 2025 Convertible Notes and 2027 Convertible Notes, respectively, the Convert
Notes are convertible only under the following circumstan(@sduring any calendar quarter commencing after the calendar quarter
ending on March 31, 2024nd June 30, 2021 for the 2025 Convertible Notes and 2027 Convertible Notes, resgectivehly during

such calendar quarter), if the last reported satemf theC 0 mp a dagsHAscommon stock for at least 20 trading days (whether or
not consecutive) during the period of 30 consecutive trading days ending on, and including, the last trading day of igelynmed
preceding calendar quarter is greatentbaequal to 130% of the conversion prifehe 2025 Convertible Notes or 2027 Convertible
Notes, respectivelygn each applicable trading day; (2) during the five business day period after any five consecutive trading day perit
(the fAmeasuwr)emenntwhpecrhi aadhe At r a@dnvegiblepfNotésdndediturepér $15000dpancipahaenaunti n
of the 2025 Convertible Notes or 2027 Convertible Notes, respectfeelgach trading day of the measurement period was less than
98% of the prduct of the last reported sale pricetoh e C o molass A gothmon stock and tapplicableconversion rate on each

such trading day; (3) if the Company calls any or all of 2685 Convertible Notes or 2027 Convertible Notes, respectifaly,
redemptim, at any time prior to the close of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the redemption ¢
and (4) upon occurrence of specified corporate events as describecContrertible Notes Indentures

Onor after June 15, 202% August 15, 2026 for the 2025 Convertible Notes and 2027 Convertible Notes, respaatitietige close

of business on the second scheduled trading day immediately preceding the matwsibf ta€025 Convertible Notes or 2027
Convertible Notes, aspectively holders may convert ti2025 Convertible Notes or 2027 Convertible Notes, respectiaegny time.

Upon conversion of th€onvertibleNot es, t he Company will pay or deliver, as
commonstickor a combination of cash and shares of c¢class A c¢commc

Prior to December 20, 2028 February 20, 2024 for the 2025 Convertible Notes and 2027 Convertible Notes, respéav@hmpany
may not redeem th€onvertide Notes. The Company may redeem for cash all or a portion oR@#5 Convertible Notes or 2027
ConvertibleNotes, at its option, on or after December 20, 202Bebruary 20, 2024, respectivelfythe last reported sale price of the
Co mp any 6 sommonateck hag\been at least 130% of the conversiongiribe 2025 Convertible Notes or 2027 Convertible
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Notes, respectivelythen in effect for at least 20 trading days (whether or not consecutive), including the trading day immediatel
preceding thelate on which the Company provides a notice of redemption, during any 30 consecutive trading day period ending ¢
and including, the trading day immediately preceding the date on which the Company provides notice of redemption. Tienredempt
price will be equal to 100% of the principal amount of @envertibleNotes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest to, but
excluding, the redemption date.

I f the Company under goes a i CanvedbderNetestindenturgstioato rgadurity) suldjest toccerthin n e
conditions, holders may require the Company to repurchase for cash all or any portion GbthvartibleNotes at a fudamental
change repurchase price equal to 100% of the principal amount@btivertibleNotes to be repurchased, plus any accrued and unpaid
interest to, but excluding, the fundamental change repurchase date.

The Convertible Notes Indentures contaustomary terms and covenants, including that upon certain events of default occurring and
continuing, either the Trustee or the holders of at least 25% in principal amount of the outse@28ir@onvertible Notes or 2027
Convertible Notes, respectivelypay declare 100% of the principal of, and accrued and unpaid interest, if any, on, 202he
Convertible Notes or 2027 Convertible Notes, respectivelipe due and payable.

During theyearended December 32022 the 2025Convertible Notes were contiale at the option of the holders of the 2025
Convertible Notes during thist quarter of 202 only. During the year ended December 31, 2GB#&,2025Convertible Notes were
convertible at the option of the holders of the 2025 Convertible Notes dbarsgtond quarter and fourth quarter of 2021 dlying
theyear ended December 31, 202tk 2025 Convertible Notes were not convertible at any time. Duringesieended December 31,
2022and 2021the 2027 Convertible Notes were not convertible at any time. No conversions of the Convertible Notes occurred duril
the years endebDecember 312022 2021,and 2020. The Convertible Notes may be convertible in future periods if one or more of the
convasion conditions is satisfied during future measurement periods.

The Company incurred approximately $15.3 milliand $24.2 millionin customary offering expenses associated with 2025
Convertible Notes and 2027 Quarev ecroibet@ehiganyMecounts for these isspamae tcdsts a&slay
reduction to the principal amount of the 2025 Convertible Notes and 2027 Convertible Notes, respectively, and amarsizandbe i
costs to interest expense over the contractual term a2GB6 Convertible Notes and 2027 Convertible Notes, respectively, at an
effective interest rate of 1.23% and 0.39%, respectively.

Although the Convertible Notes each contain embedded conversion fe#tter€&ompanyccounts for each of the Convertibletls

in its entirety as a |liability becaucglassAdommostock and meetithe oritefiae a t
for classification in stockholdersd equity AsdilRecemibee3d2022and e d
2021, the net carryingalueof the ConvertibleNoteswas classified asaloAge r m | i a bonlptermyebtingt tihenefl i t er

Companyds Consolisdated Bal ance Sheet

The following is a summary df h e C o m@neertilyieddsbt instruments as@écember 312022(in thousands):

December31, 2022

Outstanding Unamortized Net Carrying Fair Value
Principal Amount Issuance Costs Value Amount Leveling
2025 Convertible Notes $ 650,00( $ (9,112) $ 640,88¢ $ 364,00( Level 2
2027 Convertible Notes 1,050,00( (16,727) 1,033,27 394,80( Level 2
Total $ 1,700,000 $ (25,835 $  1,674,16! $ 758,80(

The following is a summary of the Compa203insthousandsyzerti bl e de

December3l, 2021

Outstanding Unamortized Net Carrying Fair Value
Principal Amount Issuance Costs Value Amount Leveling
2025 Convertible Notes $ 650,00 $ (12,11¢ $ 637,88: $ 1,056,67! Level 2
2027 Convertible Notes 1,050,00( (20,737 1,029,26: 774,37t Level 2
Total $ 1,700,000 $ (32,85F) $ 1,667,14! $ 1,831,05
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The fair value of th€onvertibleNotes is determined using observable market data other than quoted prices, specifically the last trad
price at the end of the reporting period of identical instruments in thetlorepunter market (Level 2).

For theyeas ended December 32022 and2021, interest expense related to tBenvertibleNotes was as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended Decembe31, 2022 Year Ended Decembedl, 2021
Contractual Amortization of Contractual Amortization of
Interest Expense Issuance Costs Total Interest Expense Issuance Costs Total
2025 Convertible Notes $ 487t $ 3,006 $ 7881 $ 487t $ 297C $ 7,845
2027 Convertible Notes 0 4,014 4,014 0 3,438 3,43¢
Total $ 487t $ 7,02C $ 11,89t $ 4875 $ 6,40 $ 11,27¢

The Company pai®4.9 million and $4.9 million, respectivelyjn interest expense related to @25 Convertible Notesluring the
yeas endedDecember 312022and 2021 The Company has hpaid any special interest expense related to the 2027 Convertible Notes
to date.

Accounting for the 2025 Convertible Notes prior to the adoption of ASU-@620

As discussed in Note 3, Recent Accounting Standards, to the Consolidated Financial &atam@ompany adopted ASU 2626
effective January 1, 202Prior to the adoption of ASU 20206, the Company separated the 2025 Convertible Notes into liability and
equity components. The initial carrying amount of the liability component was deteértnimaeasuring the fair value of a similar debt
instrument without any associated conversion features. The carrying amount of the equity component (representing tbe conver
option) was $153.5 million and was determined by deducting the fair value lidlthigy component from the par value of tB625
ConvertibleNot es. The equity componeninc ayaist aledc oirnd etdh e nC ofinapdadn yt G so n

Prior to the adoption of ASU 20216, the Company allocated the $15.3liom of issuance costs incurred to the liability and equity
components of the025 ConvertibléNotes based on their relative values. Issuance costs attributable to the liability component of $11.
million were taken as a reduction to the principal amafrthe 2025 ConvertibleNotes. Issuance costs attributable to the equity

component of $3.6 millionverenetted against the equity component of 2085 ConvertibleNot e s i n A ardcdai ptiitoanlad
the Companyds Consol i dsaofthapriRipal eanountef ths hiabilitytcompohdneovee its cagying amount (the
Afdebt discounto) and the issuance costs attri but abtiveantetest t h

rate of 6.82%.

As of December B, 2020, the net carrying amount of the liablity goment of the2025 ConvertibldNoteswas classified as a long

term | i ablLongiermylebt,ng& tlhheneid i tem in the Comp asfpllows (inGlousands):i dat ed
December31,
2020
Principal $ 650,00(
Unamortized debt discount (152,075
Unamortized issuance costs (11,559
Net carrying amount of debt $ 486,36¢
As of December 31, 2020, the net carrying amount of the equity componen28Pth€onvertibléNoteswas classified as permanent
equity and included in fiadditional pai d adfalows @gpghousands i n t he
December31,
2020
Debt discount for conversion option $ 153,521
Issuance costllocated to equity (3,602)
Deferred tax liability, net of deferred tax asset, related to debt discount and issuance costs (42,11%)
Net carrying amount of equity $ 107,81(

For the year ended December 31, 2020, interest expense relate@@@%h€onvertibléNotes was as follows (in thousands):
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Year Ended Decembei31,

2020
Contractual interest expense $ 271
Amortization of debt discount 1,452
Amortization of issuance costs allocated to debt 91
Total interest expense $ 1,814

The Company did not pay any interest expense related to the 2025 Convertible Notethdyaagendedecember 3, 2020.

Senior Secured Notes

On June 14, 2021, the Company issued $500.0 million aggregate principal ama0a8&ecured Notes. The 2028 Secured Notes
were sold under a purchase agreement, dated as of June 8, 2021, entered into by and among the ComptaatedyiServices
Corporation, a wholly owned subsidiary of the Companalpuydrst he
pursuant to Rule 144A under the Securiti e ssomoutsidettie UditBd3SBates a ¢
pursuant to Regulation S under the Securities Act. The terms of the 2028 Secured Notes are governed by an indentwfe]sed as
14, 2021 (the fA2028 Secured Notes | nde n tankiNationpl Assaciatiom as tristeee  (
and collateral agent.

The 2028 Secured Notes are unconditionally guaranteed, jointly and severally, on a senior secured basis by the Gueggator and
subsidiaries of the Comparfgxcluding MacroStrategythat may be formed or acquired on or after June 14, p&dlectively, the
ASubsidiary Guarantorso). The 2028 Secured Notes beaaearsi nt
on June 15 and December 15 of each year, beginning on December 15, 2021. The 2028 Secured Notatehlavatariy date of

June 15, 2028, unless earlier redeemed or repurchased in accordance with their terms and subject to a springing nafturity da
September 15, 2025 or November 16, 2026 as discussed further below. The total net proceeds fromSbeu82®otes, after
deducting initial purchaser discounts and issuance costs, were approximately $487.2 million.

The 2028 Secured Notes and the related guarantees aresenisrecu
indebtedness, bp security interesin  substantially all of the Comgdnryebdd Cothd att te
Collateral includesny bitcoins or other digital assets acquibydthe Company or a Subsidiary Guarardgoror after Jund4, 2021,
butexcludesitcoinsheld by MacroStrateggind certain other excluded asséts.of December 312022 approximatelyl4,8900f the
bitcoins held by the Company serve as part ofGbkateral MacroStrategyis$ he Company és s bhodbiicahs and y f
digital assetghat are not included in th€ollateral including bitcoins acquired before June 14, 2QZditcoins that MacroStrategy
acquired using the proceeds from the 2025 Secured Term &odrhitcoins purchased IWacroStrategy from contributions made to

it by the Company with the proceeds f,romuchlas od| asheo fCotm
common stock pursuant thetwo equity offeringglescribed in Noté&3, At-the-Market Equiy Offerings to the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The 2028 Secured Notes and the related guarantees are the general senior secured obligations of the Company andythe Sub:
Guarantors and rank pari passu nidn trhieg hStu besfi dp @y me rGtu awiatnh ot
indebtedness, are senior in right of payment to all future subordinated indebtedness of the Company and the Subsidasy édran
are effectively senior to any existing and future unsecureditadaess of the Company and the Subsidiary Guarantors (including the
Convertible Notes) to the extent of the value of the Collateral (after giving effect to the sharing of such Collatecddi@rghohequal

or prior ranking liens on the Collateral).

The 2028 Secured Notes and the guarantee§)asecured on a first priority basis by liens on the Collateral (subject to certain permitted
liens and certain other exceptions, as provided in the 2028 Secured Notes Indenture) or to the extent thienedisgodBL
Indebtedness (as defined in the 2028 Secured Notes Indenture), secured on a first priority basis by the Notes Prayaty(&ollat
defined in the 2028 Secured Notes Indenture) and on a second priority basis by liens on the ABL Pricetaldaladefined in the
2028 Secured Notes Indenture) (subject to certain permitted liens and certain other exceptions), (ii) effectively sdtiordimate
future ABL Indebtedness to the extent of the value of the ABL Priority Collateral securinfutwehABL Indebtednes§ii) effectively
subordinated to any existing and future indebtedness of the Company or any Subsidiary Guarantor that is secured Isgditns on a
the Company or any Subsidiary Guarark@t do not constitute a part of the @atdral, andiv) structurally subordinated to any existing
and future indebtedness and other liabilities of MacroStrategy and any other Company subsidiaries that are not Subrsidiarg, Gua
other tharintercompanyindebtedness and liabilities owed h®tCompany or a Subsidiary Guarantor.
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At any time and from time to time prior to June 15, 2024, the Company may redeem some or all of the 2028 Secured Notes
redemption price equal to 100% of the principal amount of the 2028 Secured Notes beingedzgdes accrued and unpaid interest,

if any, to, but excludingvhotle® me denmputm ars datte,f opltihs i firha
time and from time to time on or after June 15, 2024, the Company may redeem sdiroktbe 2028 Secured Notes at the redemption
prices described in th#028 Secured Notdadenture, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date.
At any time prior to June 15, 2024, but not more than once duringceaskcutive twelvenonth period, the Company may redeem up

to 10% of the aggregate principal amount of the 2028 Secured Notes at a redemption price equal to 103% of the printipiihemoun
2028 Secured Notes being redeemed, plus accrued and unpaadtjnfeny, to, but excluding, the redemption date. At any time prior

to June 15, 2024, the Company may redeem, on one or more occasions, up to 40% of the aggregate principal amount eftine®2028 S
Notes with the proceeds of certain equity offerireds redemption price equal to 106.125% of the principal amount of the 2028 Secured
Notes to be redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excluding, the redemption date

If the Company experiences a Change of Control or Fundamentag€l@ach as defined in the 2028 Secured Notes Indenture), the
Company may be required to offer to repurchase the 2028 Secured Notes at a purchase price equal to 101% of their guinicipal an
plus accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to, but excludingeth@chase date. In certain circumstances, the Company must use certain
of the proceeds from a sale of assets to make an offer to repurchase 2028 Secured Notes at a purchase price equah&ir100% c
principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid inteigaty, to, but excluding, the repurchase date.

The 2028 Secured Notes include a springing maturity feature that will cause the stated maturity date to spring aHeeptéonioe)y

15, 2025 (the A@AFir s tunleSgon thenFrst BpgngivaMaturityiDatey (i) theaGorapanyLiqsdity (as defined

in the 2028 Secured Notes Indenture) in excess of 130% of the amount required to pay in full in cash the then outstagditeg agg
principal amount gfand accrued intest onthe 2025 Convertible Notes or (ii) less than $100,000,000 of the aggregate principal amount
of the 2025 Convertible Notes remains outstandi n,gnless(o@te No
Second Springing Maturity Da (i) the Company hdsquidity in excess of 130% of the amount required to pay in full in cash the then
outstanding aggregate principal amountasfd accrued interest pthe 2027 Convertible Notes or (ii) less than $100,000,000 of the
aggregate princpl amount of the 2027 Convertible Notes remains out.
Dateo) that is 91 days prior to the maturity dat e dnflentara)y F(
unless on the FCCR Springing Maturity Date (i) the CompanyLisdity in excess of 130% of the amount required to pay in full in
cash the then outstanding aggregate principal amount of and accrued interest on such FCCR Convertible Indebtedrssshan (ii) le
$100,000,000 of the aggregate principal amount of such FCCR Convertible Indebtedness remains outstaofiibgcember 31,

2022 for purposes of calculating Liquidity, the Company and its Restricted Subsidiaries (as defined in the 2028 Seesred No
Indenture) ownea@dpproximately67,460 unencumbered Existing Digital Assets (as defined in the 2028 Secured Notes Indenture).

The 2028 Secured Notes Indenture contains certain covenants with which the Company must comply, including covenargs with res
to limitations on (i) additional indebtedness, (ii) liens, (iii) certain payments and investments, (iv) the ability tonmrgsolidate
with another person, or sel/l or ot her and @eertdin tapctonsewithoaffiliatesu b s t
The Company was in compliance with its debt covenants Beagmber 312022

The Company incurred approximately $12.8 million in customary offering expenses associated ®@R8&eecured Notes. The
Companyaccounts for thedssuance costs as a reduction to the principal amount of the 2028 Secured Notes and amortizes the issua
costs to interest expense over the contractual term of the 2028 Secured Notes at an effective interest rate of 6.68%enkenB1,
2022and D21, the net carrying value of tf2928 Secured Notesgas classifiedasalofrge r m | i abi |-i e ymi chebb the
item in the Companyodss Consolidated Bal ance Sheet

The following is a summary of the 20&&cured Noteas ofDecember 312022(in thousands):

December3l, 2022

Outstanding Unamortized Net Carrying Fair Value
Principal Amount Issuance Costs Value Amount Leveling
2028 Secured Notes $ 500,00( $ (20,453 $ 489,547 $ 369,80( Level 2

The following is a summary of the 2028 Secured Notes as of Decemi23231jn thousands):

December3l, 2021

Outstanding Unamortized Net Carrying Fair Value
Principal Amount Issuance Costs Value Amount Leveling
2028 Secured Notes $ 500,00 $ (11,999 $ 488,00¢ $ 502,53( Level 2
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The fair value of the 2028 Secured Notes is determined using observable market data other than quoted prices, spdeasidaiydia
price at the end of the reporting period of identical imagnts in the ovethe-counter market (Level 2).

For theyeais endedDecember 312022and 2021 interest expense related to the 2028 Secured Notes was as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended Decembe31, 2022 Year Ended Decembedl, 2021
Contractual Amortization of Contractual Amortization of
Interest Expense Issuance Costs Total Interest Expense Issuance Costs Total
2028 Secured Notes $ 30,62 $ 1,541 $ 32,166 $ 16,674 $ 798 $ 17,472

The Companyaid$30.6 million and$15.4 million, respectivelyjn interest expense related to the 2028 Secured Notes duripgaie
endedDecember 312022and2021.

Secured Term Loan

On March 23, 2022, MacroStrategy LLC, a whetiwned subsidiary of the Company, entered into a Credit and Securiggmgnt
(the ACredit and Security Agreemento) with Sil vSecurgdeetmeloagmnur s
to MacroStrategy. The 20Z5ecuredTerm Loan is a senior secured obligation of MacroStrategy and bears interdisiating rate

equal to the Secured Overnight Financing Rate 30 Day Avealage publ i shed by the Feder alpluRese
3.70%, with a floor of 3.75%yith interestpayable monthly in arrears beginning May 2022. The Z&&uredlerm Loan will mature

on March 23, 2025, unless earlier prepaid or repaid in accordance with the terms of the Credit and Security Agreentahhelhe to
proceeds from the 2028ecuredlerm Loan, after deducting lender fees and tpadty costs, were apprimnately $204.6 million.

Under the terms of the Credit and Security Agreement, the 3@26redTerm Loan proceeds may be used (i) by MacroStrategy to
purchase bitcoins, (ii) by MacroStrategy to pay fees, interest, and expenses related to Secff@f erm Loan transaction, or (iii)
for MacroStrategyds or t he Clel@sSacyrédsermgLeam maydé prepaidratpapyrtirag, fubjeotu r
to a prepayment premium of 0.50% or 0.25% of the principal balance being prepaid, if such prepayment is made duripgaherfirst
second year, respectively, of the 2025 Secured Term LTzare is no premium or penalty for prepayments made after March 23, 2024.

In accordance with the terms of the Credit and Security Agreement, th&20@gedrerm Loan was collateralized at closing by bitcoin

with a value of approximately $820.0 milignl aced i n a col |l ateral account (the ABiIt
authorized by Silvergate and MacroStrategy. While the Bifiredlrerm Loan is outstanding, MacroStrategy is required to maintain
aloan to collateral valueraton L TV Rati oo) of |l ess than 50% (the AMaxi mum L

maintain more than $410.0 million of bitcoin in the Bitcoin Collateral Account, assuming the full $205.0 million G&aa&drerm

Loan principal remainsutstanding. If the price of bitcoin drops such that the LTV Ratio equals or exceeds the Maximum LTV Ratio,
MacroStrategys required to either deposit additional bitcoin in the Bitcoin Collateral Account or prepay a portion of tHee202&d

Term Loansuch that the LTV Ratio is reduced to 25% or less (or 35% or less, provided that in such case the interest rate on the 2
Securedlerm Loan will be increased by 25 basis points until such time as the LTV Ratio is reduced to 25% Dutags2022 as

the price of bitcoin declined causing the LTV Ratio to increase, MacroStrategy depositggtegatef 15,153additional bitcoins into

the Bitcoin Collateral Account to help ensure that the LTV Ratio remained below the Maximum LTVARatidecember 3, 2022
approximately 34,619 bitcoins were held in the Bitcoin Collateral Account and approximately 82,991 bitcoins remained eneshcumb
at MacroStrategylf at any time the LTV Ratio is less than 25% as a result of excess collateral in the Bitcoter@loAacount,
MacroStrategy is entitled to a return of such excess collateral so long as the LTV Ratio would not exceed 25% aftéecfiingueh

return.

Separate and apart from the requirements associated with the LTV Ratio, MacroStrateghes@i$its0 million cash reserve account
(the AReserve Accountod) with Sil ve rSgcaredeermlLoan. MacroBteategy s requiled iot i
maintain at least $5.0 million in the Reserve Account until the last six mofnts 2025Securedrerm Loan term, at which time funds

in the Reserve Account may be used to make interest payments on thee20?6df er m Loan at MacroStr at
amount required to be held in the Reserve Account correspondingly reduttedextent such payments are made. The collateral for
the 2025Secured’erm Loan does not extend beyond assets in the Bitcoin Collateral Account and the Reserve Accolbecealndr
31,2022 t he Reserve Account isopiremsemée@ompahnhyds iRGessoliicdade
Coll ater al Account i s presented within ADigital assedesAd ir
Digital Assets, to the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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